**Dissertationes Forestales 340** 

## On the reconfiguring value creation logic and networks of the forest sector in a changing business environment

Anu Laakkonen

School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science, Forestry and Technology University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science, Forestry and Technology of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in the auditorium C2 of the University of Eastern Finland, Yliopistokatu 4, Joensuu, on 29<sup>th</sup> of September 2023, at 12 o' clock noon. *Title of dissertation:* On the reconfiguring value creation logic and networks of the forest sector in a changing business environment *Author:* Anu Laakkonen

Dissertationes Forestales 340 https://doi.org/10.14214/df.340

© Author Licenced <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis supervisors: Professor Jouni Pykäläinen School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Professor Teppo Hujala School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Professor Raija Komppula Business School, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

*Pre-examiners:* Dean, Professor Arto Rajala School of Marketing and Communication, University of Vaasa, Vaasa, Finland

Associate professor Anni Tuppura LUT Business School, Lappeenranta–Lahti University of Technology LUT, Lappeenranta, Finland

*Opponent:* Professor and Dean Robert Kozak Faculty of Forestry, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-770-7 (pdf)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

*Editorial Office:* Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland https://www.dissertationesforestales.fi Laakkonen A. (2023). On the reconfiguring value creation logic and networks of the forest sector in a changing business environment. Dissertationes Forestales 340. 91 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.340

## ABSTRACT

Numerous phenomena, such as sustainability challenges and the increasing importance of knowledge and digitalisation, have tremendous impacts on the global socio-economic system. These phenomena affect the dynamic and complex business environment where different actors from various sectors interact with each other. Responding to the phenomena and changes in the business environment calls for a systemic change in the ways that value-creating activities are performed. One suggested systemic change is a transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy. Changes in the business environment pressure established business sectors, such as the forest sector, to reconfigure their networks and value creation logic, i.e., the ways in which actors co-create value.

In this dissertation I investigated how the value creation logic of the forest sector changes when entering the sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy. The research design followed a qualitative theory-guided interdisciplinary case study strategy. I analysed scientific and non-scientific documents to determine the past and currently occurring adaptations within the forest industry's value creation logic. I conducted interviews to identify the possible future value creation logic of forestry service providers and the readiness of forest owners to respond to the occurring changes.

According to the findings, the forest sector's value creation logic is incrementally changing towards holistically sustainable, collaborative and cross-sectoral value co-creation logic. The sector has been able to reconfigure its networks and value creation logic in the past and it seems that the sector's actors have understood the importance of cross-sectoral collaboration and intangible resources in the sustainable value-creating activities. They have acknowledged that their attitudes and actions will affect the future value creation within the sector. To reach holistic sustainability, actors need to consider the whole forest ecosystem as a capital and a resource base from where value and benefits for the common good are co-created in a forest-based sector.

**Keywords:** business sustainability; circular forest-based bioeconomy; value-creating network; business network; forest industry; forest owner

Laakkonen A. (2023). Metsäsektorin muuttuvasta arvonluontilogiikasta ja verkostoista osana muuttuvaa liiketoimintaympäristöä. Dissertationes Forestales 340. 91 s. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.340

## TIIVISTELMÄ

Useilla ilmiöillä, kuten kestävyyshaasteet sekä tiedon ja digitalisaation lisääntyvä merkitys, on valtavat vaikutukset globaaliin sosio-ekonomiseen järjestelmään. Nämä ilmiöt vaikuttavat myös dynaamiseen ja monimutkaiseen liiketoimintaympäristöön, jossa erilaiset toimijat useilta sektoreilta ovat vuorovaikutuksessa keskenään. Jotta voidaan vastata näihin ilmiöihin sekä muutoksiin liiketoimintaympäristössä, tarvitaan systeemistä muutosta tavoissa, joilla arvoa luodaan. Yksi ehdotettu systeeminen muutos on siirtyminen kestävään biokiertotalouteen. Nämä muutokset liiketoimintaympäristössä luovat paineita vakiintuneille sektoreille, kuten metsäsektorille, muuttaa verkostojaan ja arvonluontilogiikkaansa eli toimijoiden tapaa luoda arvoa yhdessä.

Tässä väitöskirjassa tutkin, miten metsäsektorin arvonluontilogiikka on muuttumassa siirryttäessä kestävään metsäpohjaiseen biokiertotalouteen. Tutkimusstrategiana oli tieteidenvälinen teoriaohjattu laadullinen tapaustutkimus. Analysoin tieteellisiä ja eitieteellisiä dokumentteja, jotta pystyin tunnistamaan metsäteollisuuden arvonluontilogiikassa aiemmin tapahtuneet ja tällä hetkellä tapahtuvat muutokset. Haastatteluiden avulla kartoitin metsäpalveluiden tarjoajien mahdollista tulevaa arvonluontilogiikkaa ja metsänomistajien valmiutta reagoida tapahtuviin muutoksiin.

Tutkimustulosten perusteella metsäsektorin arvonluontilogiikka on vähitellen muuttumassa kokonaisvaltaisesti kestäväksi, yhteistoiminnalliseksi ja monialaiseksi arvon pystynyt yhteisluontilogiikaksi. Sektori on muuttamaan verkostojaan ja arvonluontilogiikkaansa aiemmin ja vaikuttaa siltä, että alan toimijat ovat ymmärtäneet monialaisen yhteistoiminnan ja aineettomien resurssien merkityksen osana kestäviä arvoa luovia toimintoja. Toimijat ovat tunnistaneet, että heidän asenteensa ja toimintansa vaikuttavat sektorin tulevaan arvonluontiin. Kokonaisvaltaisen kestävyyden saavuttamiseksi toimijoiden on otettava huomioon koko metsäekosysteemi pääomana ja resurssipohjana, josta metsäpohjaisella sektorilla luodaan arvoa ja hyötyjä yhteiseksi hyväksi.

Asiasanat: kestävä liiketoiminta; metsäpohjainen biokiertotalous; arvoa luova verkko; liiketoimintaverkosto; metsäteollisuus; metsänomistaja

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

'Planned happenstance' (määrätietoinen ajelehtiminen) is a career theory by Professor John Krumboltz, where a person should focus less on having specific plans and more on finding and seizing the opportunities in unplanned events. This theory describes my personal beliefs on life, career and doctoral studies. My doctoral studies have been anything but a purposeful linear research process. It has been a continuous, iterative and abductive cycle of learning, discovering and understanding new things. Even the subject of the dissertation has changed several times; from value networks of multiple-use forests through bioeconomy discussions to sustainability awakening. However, in the background, my view has always been that forests are much more than just trees and that different actors, their perspectives, and connections to others in the past, present and future, are incredibly important.

My sincere gratitude goes to my main supervisor Professor Jouni Pykäläinen for giving me, an outsider, the opportunity to become a researcher in forest sciences. After your gentle nudging, I started to pursue doctoral studies. I appreciate your way of supervising and advising me. You provided me with ideas and the freedom to figure things out by myself. I am truly grateful to Professor Teppo Hujala, my second supervisor and international networking mentor, who I (un)intentionally followed to conferences and meetings. I valued your supervising and advising, and you gave me direct answers when I desperately needed them. I want to thank my third supervisor Professor Raija Komppula for providing me guidance with business perspectives early on by also being the supervisor of my master's thesis. I am thankful to Research Director Jukka Tikkanen for cultivating the first sparks in my becoming a researcher. Many thanks also to all my co-authors: Rebekah Zimmerer, Tanja Kähkönen, Tuomo Takala, Mika Gabrielsson and Katri Rusanen. I want to especially give my thanks to Katri, as you completely opened my eyes to the importance of holistic sustainability. I wish to thank the pre-examiners, Dean and Professor Arto Rajala and Associate Professor Anni Tuppura, for their positive comments on the manuscript. Thanks to all my colleagues and friends at the university for peer support and many lunch and coffee break discussions. I warmly thank all the interviewed forest owners and business actors for their valuable time and insights.

I warmly acknowledge the funding I received from the Towards European Societal Sustainability (TESS) -project of the EU-Seventh Framework Programme, the Metsävuoproject of Tekes – the Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation, and the Business Models of Born Globals in a Forest-based Bioeconomy (BIOBM) -project of the Academy of Finland. I want to thank the Doctoral School of the University of Eastern Finland School of Forest Sciences for granting me an Early-Stage Researcher position.

I am deeply grateful to my family for all the support I have had during my life. Thank you to my parents, Juha and Hannele, you have always been there for me and have always let me do my stuff. Thank you, Mum, especially, for the loving care of your grandchildren. Without this invaluable support, getting the dissertation ready would have taken much longer. Thank you to our dear children, Elli and Antti, you have been extremely successful in bringing my thoughts back to daily life. To our dog, Patu, thank you so much for all the walks which helped clear my tangled thoughts. Finally, thank you my dear husband Pekka, without you I would never have even considered studying at university, let alone forest sciences. I am finally able to fulfil my promise to you: it's time to celebrate karonkka!

Vaivio, 1.8.2023 Anu Laakkonen

## LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is based on data presented in the following articles, referred to by the Roman Numerals I-IV. Article I is licensed CC BY-SA 4.0, article II is a submitted version of the manuscript and articles III and IV are reprinted with the kind permission of the publisher.

- I Laakkonen A, Hujala T, Pykäläinen J (2022) Defining the systemic development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network. Silva Fennica, 56(2) article id 10599: 30. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10599
- **II** Laakkonen A, Rusanen K, Hujala T, Gabrielsson M, Pykäläinen J (2023) Implications of the sustainability transition on the industry value creation logic case of Finnish pulp and paper industry. Submitted manuscript.
- III Laakkonen A, Hujala T, Pykäläinen J (2019) Integrating intangible resources enables creating new types of forest services - developing forest leasing value network in Finland. Forest Policy and Economics 99: 157–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.07.003
- IV Laakkonen A, Zimmerer R, Kähkönen T, Hujala T, Takala T, Tikkanen J (2018) Forest owners' attitudes toward pro-climate and climate-responsive forest management. Forest Policy and Economics 87: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.11.001

Anu Laakkonen is fully responsible for the summary of this doctoral dissertation and had the overall responsibility in articles I, II and III and shared the responsibility with Jukka Tikkanen in article IV. She was the corresponding author in articles I, II, III and IV. See a more detailed description of her contribution below.

- I Anu Laakkonen was responsible for the data collection, analysis and interpretation as well as writing the original draft. The conceptualisation of the research work and research questions, and reviewing and editing of the published work, was shared with co-authors.
- **II** Anu Laakkonen shared responsibility for the data collection, analysis and interpretation as well as writing the original draft with Katri Rusanen. The conceptualisation of the research work and research questions, and reviewing and editing the published work, was shared with co-authors.
- **III** Anu Laakkonen was responsible for the data collection and analysis. The conceptualisation of the research work and research questions, writing the original draft and reviewing and editing the published work was shared with co-authors.
- **IV** Anu Laakkonen was responsible for the data collection. The conceptualisation of the research work and research questions, data analysis, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the published work was shared with co-authors.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
TIIVISTELMÄ	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
INTRODUCTION	9
Sustainability transitions, circular bioeconomy and changing business environment	9
Impacts of sustainability transitions on the global forest sector and its networks and	1
value creation logic	11
The research gap and the objectives of the dissertation	13
The research framework, positioning of the study and the key concepts	15
THEORETICAL UNDERPINNINGS	18
Understanding a dynamic, nested and complex business environment	18
The sustainability transition to circular bioeconomy and its impacts on the business	s
environment and value creation logic	23
Sustainability transition to circular bioeconomy	23
Reconfiguring definitions of value and value creation	24
Sustainable, collaborative and cross-sectoral value-creating networks	27
A shift towards sustainable value-creating networks	27
Role of resources and capabilities in sustainable value co-creation	29
The actors-resources-activities framework as a conceptual language to analyse	е
value co-creation	30
Psychological theories on behavioural change	31
RESEARCH DESIGN	33
The philosophical position of critical realism	33
A case study research strategy	34
Intrinsic case study approach	34
Finnish forest sector as a research context	36
Abductive and retroductive reasoning logic	38
Methods of data collection and analysis	39
Article I: Defining the systemic development of the Finnish pulp and pape industry's business network	r 40
Article II: Implications of the sustainability transition on the industry value	e 40
creation logic - case of Finnish pulp and paper industry	40
Article III: Integrating intangible resources enables creating new types of forest	t 1
Services - developing forest leasing value network in Finland	41
Article IV: Forest owners attitudes toward pro-climate and climate-responsive	e 11
Iorest management	41
RESEARCH FINDINGS	43
Forest sector's value creation logic in the past	43
Examples on critical external and internal events in the business environmen	t 42
affecting the forest sector	43
viewed through actors resources activities from work	лл
Vieweu unough actors-resources-activities framework	44 0
creation logic	- 17
creation logic	+/

## INTRODUCTION

#### Sustainability transitions, circular bioeconomy and changing business environment

The current millennium has been characterised by global sustainability challenges, such as climate change, biodiversity loss, lack of clean water, overconsumption, waste production, poverty and inequality. Similarly, the increasing importance of knowledge in economic activities, together with servitisation, digitalisation and rising eco-awareness of societies, are all phenomena having tremendous effects on the global socio-economic system crossing environmental, social and economic levels. These phenomena are also known as change drivers, which are direct or indirect factors causing a change in a natural or a human ecosystem (Nelson et al. 2006). Responding to these change drivers requires a radical systemic change where extensive adjustments in the way people live and how companies organise their business activities are needed (Loorbach and Wijsman 2013; Köhler et al. 2019), which is an issue investigated within a research tradition of transition studies and the focus is often on macro-level developments. This systemic change can be defined as sustainability transitions, which are "fundamental changes in socio-technical systems such as energy, food or transportation that aim to address grand challenges in a way that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Markard et al. 2020).

One part of sustainability transitions can be a transition from a fossil resource-based economy towards a circular bioeconomy, which is an economic model focusing on the sustainafble well-being of societies and nature (Palahí et al. 2020), where renewable non-fossil raw materials and products are used in a sustainable, resource-efficient and circular way (Hetemäki et al. 2017). The substitution of fossil-based resources with sustainably sourced biobased resources (D'Amato et al. 2020), the utilisation of side and waste streams in manufacturing (Winkel 2017a) and the development of innovative, sustainable and responsible products and services with cross-sectoral knowledge (Hetemäki et al. 2017; Winkel 2017b; Hadley Kershaw et al. 2021) are important aspects within the knowledge-based circular bioeconomy (Pietzsch and Schurr 2020).

Now more than ever, continuous interactions between different actors in the dynamic, nested and complex business environment, with blurring sectoral boundaries (Vargo and Lusch 2011; Håkansson and Snehota 2017; Möller et al. 2020) influence companies into altering their networks and business and value creation logics, which are issues investigated within research traditions of network and strategic management. The shift in companies' business and value creation logics has occurred for decades when the traditional logic of minimising transaction costs, i.e., make-or-buy decisions (Coase 1937; Williamson 1981) and operating as a separate part of a value-adding chain (Porter 1985) have started to evolve towards intentionally created strategic value networks, where the value creation logic is based on collaboration (Jarillo 1988; Normann and Ramírez 1993; Kothandaraman and Wilson 2001; Möller and Rajala 2007) at the meso and network levels. Thus, the focus is on the relationships and networked activities between actors. In strategic management studies, a dominant business logic describes the established ways of managing business activities and strategic decision-making (Prahalad and Bettis 1986) to create value at the micro- and company-levels. In this dissertation, value co-creation logic describes the established and common ways in which actors co-create social, environmental and economic good, that is value, by performing activities that integrate tangible and intangible resources in a valuecreating network (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Dyllick and Muff 2016).

To respond to the above-mentioned phenomena, a systemic understanding is needed to recognise the impacts they have on the business environment, networks and actors' valuecreating activities. To gain a systemic understanding, it is important to recognise the historical developments, the current adaptations and the optional ways to react to the changes in the future. In addition, investigations should be widened to consider all actors at different levels that call for an interdisciplinary perspective. For example, at the micro and meso levels, the companies within established sectors and industries are pressured to alter their valuecreating networks, which are collaborative networks of directly and indirectly connected actors performing value co-creating activities with the resource constellations they control (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Allee 2009; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Aarikka-Stenroos et al. 2017). If the pressures and alterations in the business environment are radical enough, the established industries transform or even new industries might emerge (Lamberg et al. 2012; Möller et al. 2020). There is evidence that the digitalisation of services (Pajarinen et al. 2013) and service platforms (Gawer and Cusumano 2014) have already had effects on many industries, such as transportation and hospitality, as, e.g., Uber and Airbnb have largely changed companies' value creation logic (Boswijk 2017; Niemimaa et al. 2019). Similarly, it seems that business sustainability (Dyllick and Muff 2016) will alter established industries and companies as sustainable business activities, and business models ought to create a competitive advantage for companies (Bocken et al. 2014). Sustainable value-creating activities do not only reduce and minimise negative impacts for society and the environment, but they also create substantial positive impacts and contributions to overcome sustainability issues, thus creating benefits for the common good: the planet, society and the economy (Bocken et al. 2014; Dyllick and Muff 2016).

Nevertheless, circular bioeconomy and the related value creation logics are not selfevidently sustainable. For example, at the macro-level transition studies, the current policies, strategies and science acknowledge sustainability's three dimensions: economic, environmental and social; they are still considered equally sized with symmetrical interconnections, and finding a balance between them means being sustainable (Giddings et al. 2002). Similarly, it is assumed that social and environmental problems can be solved with economic growth and technological development (Morandín-Ahuerma et al. 2019). However, the notions of planetary boundaries (Rockström et al. 2009) and strong sustainability (Ayres et al. 2001) are shifting the view of sustainability towards being nested, meaning that the economy is dependent on society, and these are both dependent on the environment (Giddings et al. 2002; Folke et al. 2016; Dasgupta 2021). Thus, the perspective of being sustainable is shifting from balancing the three dimensions with technological and quantitative developments, defined as weak sustainability, to operating within the boundaries of the planet by increasing the qualitative well-being of its ecosystems and actors within, defined as strong sustainability. So far, research on bioeconomy has highlighted its economic benefits (Korhonen et al. 2018; Ramcilovic-Suominen and Pülzl 2018), but the resulting intensified use of natural resources and land space, together with effects on social aspects, have been increasingly questioned (Pfau et al. 2014; Karvonen et al. 2017; Gawel et al. 2019). Similarly, it seems that the sustainability strategies of many industries and companies currently follow either a business-centred weak or a systemic intermediate corporate sustainability strategy; thus business-as-usual strategies and incremental improvements will not generate business activities following a regenerative or strong sustainability strategy (Landrum 2018). In this dissertation, a concept of holistic sustainability is adopted when talking about nested sustainability, where the economy and society are embedded within the biosphere as intertwined parts of the planet (Folke et al. 2016), and where companies and business sectors follow regenerative corporate sustainability strategies (Landrum 2018).

## Impacts of sustainability transitions on the global forest sector and its networks and value creation logic

The aforementioned phenomena and changes in the global business environment, especially digitalisation and servitisation, have already had impacts on the global, established forest sector. For example, the demand for the forest industry's traditional products, such as communication paper, has decreased and resulted in ongoing structural changes within the industry (Hetemäki and Hurmekoski 2016). In addition, traditional natural resource-based industrial sectors, holding features from primary, manufacturing and service sectors, with the main production factors provided by nature (Andersen et al. 2018), have long been seen as hindering economic growth and innovation developments in resource-abundant countries as they, e.g., do not support the export orientation of high-technology products (Sachs and Warner 2001; van der Ploeg 2011). However, when the socio-economic systems are facing many environmental challenges, natural ecosystems, such as forests, and the resources they offer, are seen to play a key role in providing solutions for these challenges. For example, the transition towards sustainable circular knowledge-based bioeconomy (Fritsche and Rösch 2020) is recognised as one of these solutions. In the European Union (EU), there is a strong political will for a sustainability transition towards a circular bioeconomy, where forest ecosystems act as one key resource base (EC 2018, 2021). Forests are expected to continue generating economic wealth while offering ecological benefits by functioning, for example, as carbon sinks and sustaining biodiversity (Hetemäki et al. 2017; Hansen and Juslin 2018; Valtioneuvosto 2022). Therefore, the forest sector is expected to retain its important role as a part of a sustainable circular bioeconomy; thus, in this dissertation, the focus is on the circular forest-based bioeconomy, which covers all economic activities related to forest ecosystems (Winkel 2017a).

Similarly, in Finland, the forest sector has long had an essential role in Finnish society and the national economy (Sajasalo 2002): it has integrated Finland, a small and open economy (Ojala et al. 2006), into international business systems (Kuisma 2006) for nearly the last two hundred years. Today, the companies in the Finnish forest industry are important actors on a global scale, as the three largest companies were included in the top 100 in the global pulp and paper market in 2019, where Stora Enso and UPM were in the top ten (Newton Consulting Partners 2022). Equally important is to acknowledge the role of nonindustrial private forest owners (here after forest owners, unless otherwise specified) within the forest sector, as they own, control and manage the crucial resource base. In Finland, over 50% of forests are in their possession, and over 80% of all roundwood purchased by the forest industry comes from their forests (Karppinen et al. 2020). However, forest ownership is changing, where new types of forest owners, e.g., new urbanised forest owners, may have non-traditional objectives and motives for owning forest, or they may represent traditional forest owner types, whose motives, and approaches to owning and managing forests, have changed (Bengston et al. 2011; Živojinović et al. 2015; Weiss et al. 2019). In addition, climate change has and will continue to have, distinct effects on forests (Harris et al. 2009; IPCC 2022) and forest management practices (Eriksson 2014; van Gameren and Zaccai 2015; Sohngen and Tian 2016; Lawrence 2017). Thus, it is important to study the perceptions, observations and attitudes of forest owners regarding climate change (Hopkins et al. 2017) and how they see themselves in the larger framework of this global sustainability challenge. These attitudes, perceptions and changes in behaviour can be investigated with psychological theories on behavioural change. Traditionally, in Finland, the forest owners living next to their forests have done silvicultural work by themselves, but government-led organisations have had an important role in providing forestry services for forest owners (Kotilainen and Rytteri 2011). However, due to changes in forest ownership, their needs for forestry services are changing, resulting also in changes in the forestry service companies. It has been claimed that the new forest owners are insufficiently served by current operators in the forestry service market (Mattila and Roos 2014). The reasons behind this are the dominant roles of traditional service providers following the raw material needs of the forest industry (Mattila et al. 2013), as well as that forest owners' service needs are not necessarily recognised by the service providers nor even by themselves (Karppinen et al. 2015). Therefore, understanding forest owners' perceptions towards climate change, and acknowledging their altering objectives and motives, could bring up new insights when considering service provisioning (Valatin et al. 2016).

Finland's great forest reserves, long forestry traditions and strong industrial actors have offered, and will most likely continue to offer, prosperity to Finnish society. However, the use of forests and their resources, and especially the holistic sustainability of this use, is getting to the centre of conflicting attention. On one hand, forest-based bioeconomy has many opportunities, since most of the promising innovations, especially related to substituting fossil-based products, are related to wood-based solutions (Hurmekoski et al. 2018), and it offers possibilities for rural socio-economic development by offering, e.g., employment possibilities (Lehtonen and Okkonen 2013). On the other hand, forest-based biomass is a limited and scarce resource, and thus its use should be prioritised for the most high-value and long-lasting products (Leturcq 2020; Material Economics 2021). Likewise, the inclusion of different social dimensions and local stakeholder points of view in bioeconomy related to, e.g., political decision-making (Mustalahti 2018) and global investments (Lehtimäki et al. 2011) is crucial, as merely creating employment possibilities and economic growth does not lead to holistically sustainable business practices (Landrum 2018; Hadley Kershaw et al. 2021).

That being said, the traditional forest sector is facing many challenges due to changing business environments. The sector has been characterised as mature (Hansen et al. 2007; Guerrero and Hansen 2018), strongly path-dependent (Näsi et al. 2001; Lamberg et al. 2017; Luhas et al. 2019) and following dominant business and value creation logics, which make it difficult to alter current ways of operating. In the forest industry, the business logics of economies of scale and scope (Diesen 2007) have especially been followed, as the manufacturing has focused on producing large amounts of traditional products, materials and energy in integrated mill sites by operating in traditional supply chains and with traditional business models. In Finland, there are long traditions in forest policy with well-established approaches and practices for managing forests where the forest industry, governmental institutions and forest professionals have a strong role (Kotilainen and Rytteri 2011; Karppinen et al. 2015). This can be noticed especially in the culture where traditional forestry services are offered by following a product-oriented value creation logic, where organisations compete towards each other by price and quality factors of services. Thus, the traditional value creation logic of a value chain is still prevailing, even though the role of services as a part of companies' strategies and collaborative value co-creation logic with sharing information and knowledge are starting to gain increasing attention (Pelli et al. 2017).

#### The research gap and the objectives of the dissertation

The forest sector and its companies are increasingly pressured to reconfigure their networks and value creation logic due to changes in the business environment, which creates an interesting study context. Current foresight studies investigating the forest sector's transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy (Pätäri et al. 2016; Toppinen et al. 2017; Korhonen et al. 2021; Luhas et al. 2021) do not explicitly investigate the sustainable value creation within the sector. In addition, there are studies investigating how (circular) bioeconomy will affect the business activities and sustainable value creation of forest(-based) companies of different sizes (Mattila and Roos 2014; Korhonen et al. 2018; Näyhä 2019, 2020, 2021; D'Amato et al. 2020; Guerrero and Hansen 2021); yet in these studies, a sector-level investigation is somewhat missing. Despite the study of Pelli & Lähtinen (2020), there are no studies investigating the forest sector's transition to bioeconomy by integrating both sector and company levels (Pelli and Lähtinen 2020). Additionally, the study by Luhas et al. (2019) seems to be the only study focusing on the development of the sector's business and value creation logic (Luhas et al. 2019). In addition, a systemic approach to the development of sustainable value co-creation in collaborative networks has not been taken.

The diverse group of forest owners with differing objectives also have an important role in the sustainability transition, as they own, control and manage forest ecosystems and the resources, products and services they provide. Thus, their perceptions, attitudes and readiness to be part of the transition are of crucial importance. The influence of forest owners' attitudes towards forest values and forest management has been a frequently studied topic (Belin et al. 2005; Nordlund and Westin 2011; Degnet et al. 2022). Similarly, the impacts of sustainability, climate change and biodiversity loss on forest management and forest owners' decision-making have been studied (Blennow 2012; van Gameren and Zaccai 2015; Bissonnette et al. 2017; Husa and Kosenius 2021; Takala et al. 2022). Theories of behavioural change, e.g., the theory of planned behaviour, have been utilised in these studies (Thompson and Hansen 2013; Karppinen and Berghäll 2015; Takala et al. 2020). However, most of the studies take a policy and administrative perspective, and thus forest owners' roles as active decision-makers, entrepreneurs and contributors to the development of innovations and value co-creation is limited (Lunnan et al. 2006; Nybakk et al. 2009; Okkonen and Suhonen 2010). Therefore, it is important to study forest owners' active roles and readiness of being a part of the sustainability transition and reconfiguration of the forest sector's value creation logic.

This dissertation aims at closing the above-mentioned research gaps. The main objective is to investigate **how the value creation logic of the forest sector is changing when entering the sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy**. The main objective will be met by investigating the past, the present and the possible future value creation within the Finnish forest sector. Furthermore, the following research questions will be answered:

- RQ1) How has the forest sector's value creation logic previously adapted to meet the changes in the business environment?
- RQ2) How is the forest sector's value creation logic currently adapting to the changes occurring in the business environment?
- RQ3) What kind of optional reconfigurations does the forest sector's value creation logic have in responding to the identified change drivers within the business environment?

**Table 1.** The individual studies and their research objectives and contributions to the research questions of the dissertation.

The article, level of investigation and	Research objective and research questions of individual studies	Contribution to the dissertation's	
forest sector context		research	
		questions	
Article I Macro and meso level Pulp and paper industry	To construct a systemic picture of the historical development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network. 1) How has the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network developed? 2) What internal and external events have triggered	RQ1	
Article II Macro and meso level Pulp and paper industry	To investigate the transformation of the pulp and paper industry towards a sustainable circular bioeconomy through the business environment formation process framework. 1) How has Finnish pulp and paper industry reconfigured its value creation logic towards holistic sustainability?	RQ2	
Article III Micro level Forestry service	To scrutinise the value network of the potential forest leasing service for family forests with a focus on wood production. 1) What kind of structure might a feasible value network, i.e., business collaboration network, have to enable the forest leasing service in Finland? 2) What are the key attributes and exchanges within the value network that foster introducing new types of forest services?	RQ3	
Article IV Micro level Forest owners	To add to the existing knowledge of forest owners' attitudes towards climate change through a qualitative and mixed-methods approach. 1) cognitive element of attitudes: What is the role/position of climate change in the Finnish forest owners' perceptions of change in their forest and forest management? 2) affective element of attitudes: What affective statements do forest owners associate with impacts of climate change in their forests? 3) behavioural element of attitudes: How prepared are forest owners to adapt their management practices in response to climate change? What behavioural control statements do forest owners associate with their intentions towards climate-responsive forest management?	RQ3	

The individual studies of this dissertation (Table 1) contribute to the identified research gaps. The individual studies acted as cases through which parts of the forest sector were investigated to gain an in-depth understanding into the phenomena. The findings are then reflected to consider the whole sector. First, I investigated the forest sector's history to learn how the value creation logic has previously adapted and what it is currently (Article I and RQ1). Second, I investigated the present situation to understand how the value creation logic is adapting to the ongoing changes (Article II and RQ2). Third, I investigated an optional reconfiguration for the forest sector's value creation logic (Article III and RQ3). Fourth, I investigated forest owners' perceptions and attitudes to determine which forest owners would be more ready and willing to adapt their forest management practices by following a reconfigured value creation logic (Article IV and RQ3). As the transition to sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy is likely to continue having tremendous impacts on the whole forest sector and its value creation logic, it is important to investigate and understand how the transition affects the forest sector, the companies' value-creating networks and the actors operating within these networks, and thus the individual studies will contribute to the main objective of this dissertation.

#### The research framework, positioning of the study and the key concepts

The research framework of the dissertation is presented in Figure 1. The dissertation investigates the forest sector's dynamic, complex and nested business environment and how it has shaped the development of the sector's value creation logic, from the past to what it is currently. The business environment is constantly changing, and it has been noticed that certain phenomena, or change drivers, and events occurring in the environment have impacts on the environment, causing it to change even faster and more radically. One such change



Figure 1. The research framework.



**Figure 2.** Positioning of the dissertation. Strategic management studies provide a micro- and managerial-level understanding, and network management studies provide a meso- and network-level understanding, of sustainable value co-creation. Transition studies provide macro- and society-level understanding and psychological theories on behavioural change provide a micro- and actor-level understanding of the occurring changes in the business environment. The ellipses are a schematic representation of the applied theories and concepts.

driver is the shift to a circular bioeconomy as one sustainability transition. Similarly, the forest sector's value creation logic and value-creating networks are under pressure to change due to changes in the business environment. Furthermore, the actors' readiness and willingness to change and respond to the occurred changes will have an important role in achieving the needed reconfigurations in the value creation logic to meet future needs. Therefore, it is important to understand how to include the perspectives of all actors, for example, owners of the forest-based resources (forest owners), service producers (forestry services) and actors utilising the forest-based resources (pulp and paper industry), to the co-creation of holistically sustainable value from forest ecosystems. Thus, all the above-mentioned issues will contribute to the reconfiguration of the forest sector's networks and value creation logic.

The theoretical position of this dissertation is interdisciplinary, because to reach sustainable value co-creation logic, perspectives from strategic management, network management, transition studies and psychological theories on behavioural change need to be applied (Figure 2). Strategic management studies are used to gain an understanding of the micro-level managerial perspectives on sustainable value co-creation. Network management studies are used to gain an understanding of the collaborative and networked part of sustainable value co-creation at the meso level. Usually, theories of strategic management take a micro-level perspective and consider a single company; but in this dissertation, they are viewed as theoretical foundations that can also guide and contribute to meso-level theory

and concept development when considering industries and collaborative networks. Transition studies are followed to gain an understanding of the macro-level societal aspects related to changes in the socio-economic systems. Psychological theories on behavioural change are used to gain an understanding of the role of attitudes and behaviour on the micro- and actor-level to respond to the changes. Finally, all these aspects are viewed in the context of the forest sector, and thus the dissertation is positioned within the research conducted in forest economics. In addition, the key concepts derived from the theoretical position of the dissertation are defined in Table 2.

Concept	Definition		
Business	A dynamic, complex and emergent structure of embedded		
environment	relationships, bonding actors, tying resources and linking activities		
	together, also known as a business network. The relationships and		
	interactions within the network evolve and influence the future state		
	of the network; due to this, the network cannot be managed nor		
	purposefully created. (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Håkansson		
	and Ford 2002; Möller et al. 2020)		
Sustainable circular	An economic model focusing on the sustainable well-being of		
bioeconomy	societies and nature. Renewable non-fossil raw materials, side-		
	streams and cross-sectoral knowledge are utilised in developing and		
	producing products, services and solutions in a sustainable,		
	resource-efficient and circular way. (Hetemäki et al. 2017; Winkel		
	2017a; Palahí et al. 2020; Pietzsch and Schurr 2020)		
Value co-creation	The actor's established and common ways of co-creating social,		
logic	environmental and economic good, that is value, by performing		
	activities that integrate tangible and intangible resources in a value-		
	creating network. (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn		
	2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Dyllick and		
	Muff 2016)		
Business	The main purpose of business actors is to create value for the		
sustainability	common good: to minimise negative and create substantial positive		
	impacts and contributions to overcome sustainability issues that		
	create benefits for society, the planet and the economy. (Bocken et		
	al. 2014; Dyllick and Muff 2016)		
Value-creating	A collaborative network of directly and indirectly connected actors		
network	performing value co-creating activities with the resource		
	constellations they control. (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller		
	and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Allee 2009; Vargo and		
	Lusch 2011; Aarikka-Stenroos et al. 2017)		

Table 2. The key concepts of the dissertation.

## THEORETICAL UNDERPINNINGS

In this chapter, I will introduce the theoretical underpinnings of the dissertation, how they and the theoretical positioning of the dissertation (Figure 2) are connected, and how they contribute to studying value co-creation logic in the forest sector. First, I will introduce the network management studies' perspective on the dynamic, complex and nested business environment. In addition, two analytical lenses for investigating change in the business environment are introduced. Second, I will intertwine transition studies with network and strategic management studies by introducing how a transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy impacts the business environment and the value co-creation logic of companies and industries. Third, I will connect network and strategic management studies with transition studies by discussing the effects of business sustainability, cross-sectoral collaboration and intangible assets on the value co-creation logic and value-creating networks in the forest sector. Fourth, I will discuss psychological theories on behavioural change and their role in guiding actor behaviour in the changing environment.

#### Understanding a dynamic, nested and complex business environment

This sub-chapter contributes to the theoretical discussions on network management studies by providing perceptions and concepts for answering the main objective and the three research questions of the dissertation by introducing theoretical underpinnings to understand the dynamic, complex and nested business environment.

According to the theoretical foundations of the network management studies and Industrial Marketing and Purchasing Group's (IMP) research tradition, the business environment is a dynamic, complex and emergent structure of embedded relationships, bonding actors, tying resources and linking activities together (Håkansson and Snehota 1995, 2017). The relationships and interactions within the environment evolve over time and influence the future state of the relationships (Håkansson and Ford 2002). Similarly, the current state of the relationships is the outcome of previous interactions between the actors and the social, political and economic institutions affecting them (North 1990; Vargo and Lusch 2011, 2016; Möller et al. 2020). To understand the complexity of the business environment, Möller, Nenonen and Storbacka (2020) suggest viewing it as layered and nested, where actors and performed activities at different layers have causal power and thus influence each other. This causes social, economic, political and technological aspects to be intertwined. The nested interrelated layers are the actor layer at the micro level, the focal business ecosystem and business field layers at the meso level and the socio-economictechnological (SET) system layer at the macro level (Möller et al. 2020) (Figure 3). Within network management studies, the business environment can also be conceptualised as a business network (Håkansson and Snehota 1995, 2017; Möller et al. 2020). Despite these two concepts sharing similar characteristics and meanings, they have slightly differing connotations, and thus, in this dissertation, I use the concept of business environment when dealing with the dynamic and nested operating environment constituting from the four nested layers (Article II). The concept of the business network is used when dealing with the emergent structure of relationships between directly and indirectly connected interdependent



Figure 3. Layers of nested business environment framework. Modified from Möller et al. 2020.

actors, which is characterised through interaction and resource-integrating activities performed by actors. Thus, the business network is never ready, it cannot be purposefully created, actors are in it despite their own will, and thus actors cannot manage it (Article I).

The actor layer describes the actors (e.g., companies, individuals and organisations) who perform activities, possess resources and maintain relationships. In the forest sector context, an actor can be a forest owner (Article IV). Powerful actors can have performative power on the other layers through, e.g., their influencing capabilities and business models (Möller et al. 2020). The focal ecosystem layer consists of constellations of actors that have direct relationships with each other, for example, a purposeful strategic value network of a forest leasing service (Article III). At this layer, the value-creating networks, which include both purposeful strategic value networks as well as more loosely defined extensive value-creating networks, their structure and underlying shared objectives, norms and organisational arrangements, are described (Möller et al. 2020). The business field layer constitutes from interrelated business networks and their value-creating networks and describes business field-specific structures, institutions and technologies. Business fields, which can also be called industries, have a dominant value creation logic, and the field-specific activities are performed by actors with business field-specific resources (Möller et al. 2020), which change according to the maturity and complexity of the business field, like within the pulp and paper industry (Article I and II). The SET-system layer represents interrelated business fields sharing political and legal institutional arrangements, technological regimes, economic structures and cultures. At this layer, the business environment is described through understanding the social power structures and evolution of the SET-system at national, regional and global levels (Möller et al. 2020). In the smallest representation, the forest cluster can represent a SET-system, but mainly, e.g., the whole Finnish socio-economic system is considered to represent a SET-system. Each layer of the nested business environment influences and conditions the actors, activities, choices and contents of the other ones (Möller et al. 2020). Therefore, there is a need to understand the role of companies and other actors at the micro level, as well as how these actors and their activities within the focal ecosystems and business fields at the meso level then affect and are affected by the

institutional, political and economic factors at the macro level within the changing business environment.

Due to the dynamic nature of the business environment, it has a spatial and temporal structure, which is under constant pressure to change. In this dissertation, two approaches and analytical lenses originating from the network management studies to investigate this change are introduced and applied (Figures 4 & 5). Although transition studies also provide approaches and frameworks to investigate a change in the business environment, such as the multi-level perspective (Geels 2002, 2011) and the transition management cycle (Loorbach and Rotmans 2010; Loorbach and Wijsman 2013), in this dissertation, the network management approaches are utilised, as they emphasise the perspective of value co-creation and networks, and how these should be reconfigured due to changes in the business environment. The first approach, applied in Article I and responding to RQ1, focuses on the business network's deep structure and how it evolves and adapts due to critical external and internal events occurring in the operating environment (Halinen et al. 1999). The second approach, applied in Article II and responding to RQ2, focuses on the transformation of the business environment due to constricting and enabling forces, as well as change drivers originating from the different nested layers of the business environment (Möller et al. 2020). The main difference between these two lenses is the level of analysis: the first one focuses on a dyad in the network and how the change affects a relationship between actors, and the second one considers how change drivers affect different layers of the business environment to transform.

According to the first analytical lens (Figure 4), changes in a network emerge at a dyadic, single relationship level, but depending on the magnitude of the change, it can affect only



**Figure 4.** The business network's development through critical events and changes in the network's deep structure as an analytical lens to investigate developments within the pulp and paper industry. Source: Article I Laakkonen et al. 2022.

that dyad or spread along the whole network (Halinen et al. 1999). Thus, to understand the reasons behind changes in a business network, internal and external impulses and incidents, i.e., critical events, in the environment need to be detected and determined if they trigger the network to change (ibid). The internal change factors arise from the actor, such as learning and new relationships, and the external change factors arise from the network and its environment, such as general economic conditions and social, technological and cultural developments.

It is important to acknowledge that a network's historical change should be understood through evolutions in society caused by an institutional change (North 1990), and institutions can either slow down or speed up the change process (Matthyssens et al. 2013). Regardless of the cause of the change, actors across the whole network must adapt to them, and thus the deep structure of the network is reconfigured (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Halinen et al. 1999). In Article I, the development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network was observed. The development of the business network happens through adaptations in the network's structure, i.e., actors, resources and/or activities, which are caused by critical external and internal events happening on the different nested layers of the business environment.

According to the second analytical lens (Figure 5), the business environment is constantly pressured by constricting and enabling change drivers originating from the different nested layers (Möller et al. 2020). The business environment formation process framework introduces three (trans)formation phases of exploration, mobilisation and stabilisation, where innovation, coalition formation and institutionalising and influencing micro-processes influence each phase. The phases can describe either a formation of, e.g., a new industry, or a transformation of an old industry. This depends on the magnitude of the occurring changes. Thus, the framework helps creating an understanding of the dynamic and nested business environment and the conditioning forces and transformation processes constricting and enabling a business transformation. It can be argued that the business environment's (trans)formation is not actually a process per se, but it could be considered as a cycle. The business environment with four interrelated layers is in a perpetual transformation cycle, where the three phases follow each other and are likely to be partially overlapping. Due to this, when considering, e.g., an industry's transformation, it is very likely that individual companies within the industry are at different transformation phases.

During the exploration phase, actors seek path-breaking systemic business innovations with what they can respond to the changes in the business environment (Möller et al. 2020). After finding the innovation, actors aim at creating a common development agenda which can also manifest a value co-creation logic, to promote the business innovations to potential partners; and the purpose of developing such an agenda is to construct solutions that can be commercialised and stabilised in the transformed business environment (ibid). Hence, the actors create together a shared purpose for the innovation. Creating a common development agenda can be done by using narratives as a mode of communication. A narrative is a story of human actions and behaviour, which is a way to understand and position actors and their actions within a context (Czarniawska 2004). A proactive actor can have strong influencing power in selecting which business innovations and development agendas are promoted (Möller 2010).

During the mobilisation phase, a collaborative, cross-sectoral and sustainable value cocreation logic for the industry is created which requires choosing and motivating partners, agreeing on roles and responsibilities, and creating shared goals, governance and



**Figure 5.** The business environment's transformation cycle conditioned by change drivers as an analytical lens to investigate developments within the pulp and paper industry. Source: Article II Laakkonen et al.

management principles (Möller et al. 2020), thus also adaptations in value-creating networks are needed (Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Möller et al. 2020). This may take years, depending on whether the adaptations and changes are incremental or radical (Möller and Svahn 2006). During the stabilisation phase, the occurred sustainability developments are stabilised, requiring activities from several actors to secure and institutionalise the reconfigured sustainable value co-creation logic and value-creating networks (Möller et al. 2020). It is especially important to overcome institutional misfits, i.e., the different perceptions and expectations of stakeholders regarding certain behaviour or performed activities, between different actors (Matthyssens et al. 2013). Thus, influencing and communicating the field-specific norms, regulations and standards to relevant decision-making actors is essential to gain, expand and maintain credibility and societal approval for the operations (Möller et al. 2020). This is an especially important step when aiming at holistic sustainability in all business activities in the extended networks (Dyllick and Muff 2016).

# The sustainability transition to circular bioeconomy and its impacts on the business environment and value creation logic

This sub-chapter contributes to the theoretical discussions on transition, network management and strategic management studies by providing perceptions and concepts for answering the RQ2 and RQ3 by acknowledging that the sustainability transition to circular bioeconomy has impacts on the business environment as well as companies' and industries' value creation logics.

#### Sustainability transition to circular bioeconomy

Sustainability transitions require systemic changes in the current SET-systems to address the change drivers in a way that does not compromise the needs of future generations (Markard et al. 2020). Transitions are shifts from one dominant and dynamic system to another one, requiring massive reconfigurations of the ways that societies, industries and actors operate (Loorbach and Wijsman 2013). Business actors can comprehend transitions as a threat to existing operations requiring adaptations in current operations or as an opportunity to proactively guide the transition to a desired direction (ibid.); thus, business actors could benefit from adopting an interdisciplinary systemic sustainability management perspective. This perspective acknowledges the interdependence between actors and the natural environment through, for example, resource inputs and feedback loops, connecting economic, political, social and environmental issues (Williams et al. 2017). In business sustainability management literature, the concepts of corporate and/or business sustainability (Loorbach and Wijsman 2013; Dyllick and Muff 2016; Landrum 2018) have been introduced to acknowledge the role of companies in achieving sustainability. Often, business sustainability is considered as a company and micro-level strategic activity connected with, e.g., corporate social responsibility (Landrum 2018). Many studies on business sustainability take either a socio-economic (Porter and Kramer 2011; D'Adamo et al. 2020; Jarosch et al. 2020) or an environmental-economic (Hart 1997; Lähtinen et al. 2016; Keränen et al. 2021) perspective, meaning that all three dimensions of sustainability are not investigated, or they are only vaguely connected. The sustainability framework of the triple bottom line, first introduced in 1997 by Elkington, aims at noticing all dimensions by examining the social, economic and environmental impacts of a company and its operations (Elkington 2018, 2020), but it has been largely adopted as an accounting tool, and thus the trade-offs between the three dimensions are not clearly addressed (Dyllick and Muff 2016). Many studies on the sustainability transition of businesses have investigated how companies create economic value with a minimal impact on the environment while operating socially responsibly (Loorbach and Wijsman 2013), thus making the business case the focus of sustainable business activities (Dyllick and Muff 2016; Landrum 2018) and leading to weak sustainability. However, in this dissertation achieving business sustainability means that the main purpose of business actors is to create value for the common good, that is, to minimise and reduce negative impacts and to create substantial positive impacts and contributions to overcome sustainability issues, while creating benefits for society, the planet and the economy (Bocken et al. 2014; Dyllick and Muff 2016). This leads to strong and holistic sustainability. Even though systemic perspective and sustainability were both considered only in Article II, they have been at least indirectly addressed also in the other articles. In Article I, a systemic perspective was taken by noticing that external and internal events change the structure of the pulp and paper industry's business network. In Article III, the

importance of intangible resources in a company's value co-creation was acknowledged, and in Article IV the actors' readiness to act or not to act through behavioural change was studied, and how these are both seen as possible responses to the change drivers. Thus, all the individual articles contribute to all research questions and integration of transition studies with strategic and network management studies.

A transition to (circular) bioeconomy has been suggested as one sustainability transition. As an emerging concept and economic model, (circular) bioeconomy does not have a universally adopted definition, but it includes the idea, adopted also in this dissertation, to transition from a fossil resource-based economy towards a circular bioeconomy, where fossil-based resources are substituted with renewable non-fossil raw materials, and products are used in a sustainable, resource-efficient and circular way (Hetemäki et al. 2017; D'Amato et al. 2020), while also utilising side and waste streams of production processes (Winkel 2017a). An important part of (circular) bioeconomy is the development of innovative, sustainable and responsible products and services with multidisciplinary and cross-sectoral knowledge (Hetemäki et al. 2017; Winkel 2017b; Pietzsch and Schurr 2020; Hadley Kershaw et al. 2021). Therefore, the transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy requires sustainable innovations, which are "(radically) new or (incrementally) improved products and services or entire systems, which, based on traceable comparative analysis, lead to environmental and (or) social benefits that surpass those of the prior products, services, or systems" (Bocken et al. 2019). Even though the (circular) bioeconomy has been claimed to be sustainable, there remain unsolved sustainability issues. So far, research on bioeconomy has especially highlighted the economic benefits in policy (Ramcilovic-Suominen and Pülzl 2018) and company levels (Korhonen et al. 2018), but the related intensified use of natural resources and land space has been questioned, together with bioeconomy's effect on social sustainability (Pfau et al. 2014). There is a growing number of scholars challenging the idea of bioeconomy's sustainability and incorporating the environmental and social views on the bioeconomy discourse (Karvonen et al. 2017; Mustalahti 2018; Gawel et al. 2019; Holmgren et al. 2020). These developments bring all three dimensions of sustainability under consideration, which helps in making the (bio)economy environmentally restorative, socially just and economically inclusive (Elkington 2020). Similarly, within holistically sustainable circular bioeconomy a nested perspective on sustainability is taken. This means that the economy and society are embedded within the biosphere as intertwined parts of the planet (Folke et al. 2016; Dasgupta 2021), and the planetary boundaries (Rockström et al. 2009) and strong sustainability (Ayres et al. 2001; Giddings et al. 2002) are acknowledged. This transition to holistic sustainability was investigated in Article II to determine whether the forest sector is indeed a part of the sustainability transition and adapting its operations accordingly, and thus contributions to RQ2 are made.

#### Reconfiguring definitions of value and value creation

The sustainability transitions and systemic change will also reconfigure the perceptions and definition of value. Traditionally in business studies, value has been considered in economic and monetary terms in the form of exchange value (Vargo and Lusch 2012) and shareholder value (Friedman 1970). According to this traditional view, value is something that is created when a product or service is produced, added in different processes, and realised in the monetary exchange and consumption of that product or service. Following this, the purpose of a company is "to use its resources and engage in activities designed to increase its profits" (Friedman 1970); and thus, its purpose is to increase shareholder value. However, the

developments and discussions in business and management studies during the current millennium have shifted the view of value from being understood as simply added value and value-in-exchange to include also the views of value as value-in-use and value-in-context, where value is co-created in an exchange between actors; and thus, it is a benefit resulting in an increase in the well-being of an actor (Lusch and Vargo 2014) in the context of his or her life. Tying value in use and context emphasises the point that actors need to feel that their wishes are considered in the interactions and communication between other actors in the network, which is an especially important point when dealing with forest owners, as they are the actors controlling the forest-based resources (Articles III and IV). Furthermore, value is subjective and contextual (Allee and Schwabe 2015), which makes it unique and experiential rather than just tied to a certain product, service or resource (Lusch and Vargo 2014); thus, an actor experiences the value subjectively based on the social context.

In addition, the sustainability management literature contributes to the perception and definition of value, and it has developed an idea of shared value where operating practices "enhance the competitiveness of a company while simultaneously advancing the economic and social conditions in the communities in which it operates" (Porter and Kramer 2011). Thus, planning for companies' operations should aim at creating economic and societal value (Porter and Kramer 2011; Dyllick and Muff 2016). However, it has been suggested that creating shared value is not enough, as the business case is seen as primary, and society is secondary (Dyllick and Muff 2016), while widely forgetting the environment. Therefore, shifts towards a sustainable value (Hart and Milstein 2003; Evans et al. 2017) and a system value (Dyllick and Muff 2016; Elkington 2020) have been suggested. Sustainable value combines economic, social and environmental benefits to the concept of value (Evans et al. 2017), while still mainly focusing on the business case where addressing environmental and social sustainability is seen as an opportunity for business actors to create financial value to the company (Hart and Milstein 2003). The concept of system value takes a step further by noting that the business serves society, where both are dependent on the natural environment, and sustainable business practices should protect and regenerate the natural environment, thus contributing to the progress towards a prosperous future (Elkington 2020). Business activities should be considered as tools to achieve societal well-being and fulfil basic human needs, while preserving, protecting and regenerating natural ecosystems. Thus, the extrafinancial values or resources, which are not captured in current financial accounting, related to natural ecosystems and the resources offered by them, as well as the intangible assets and human capital, are increasingly being acknowledged (Teece et al. 1997; Allee 2003; Teece 2007; Elkington 2020). Article III and RQ3 aimed at bringing these new insights to the forest sector by acknowledging the increasing importance of intangible resources as an extrafinancial value in companies' value co-creation.

Similarly, the view on value creation has shifted to co-creation, meaning that value cocreation is enabled by economic and social actors who are involved in the integration of tangible (e.g., goods and raw materials) and intangible (e.g., knowledge and skills) resources in a service ecosystem (Lusch and Vargo 2014), which is a networked construct of directly and indirectly connected actors. Being able to access and control valuable tangible and intangible resources, and to create different kinds of resource constellations from them, provides opportunities for value co-creation (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Allee 2008; Vargo and Lusch 2011). In the service-based knowledge (bio)economy, the actor's ability to integrate intangible knowledge with other resources is crucial (Allee 2003; Vargo and Lusch 2004; Teece 2007; Akaka et al. 2012). Similarly, when co-creating sustainable system value, the economic, social, and environmental forms of value are integrated (Evans et al. 2017), and value co-creation makes relevant contributions to overcome societal and planetary challenges, thus creating benefits for the business, society and the planet as a whole (Dyllick and Muff 2016). To understand this systemic, dynamic and collaborative view on sustainable value co-creation, a more generic actor-perspective is adopted instead of dividing actors between different roles and performed activities. Thus, all actors are basically doing the same: co-creating sustainable value by integrating resources (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Vargo and Lusch 2011). Thus, the view to whom value-creating activities are targeted widens as value is co-created together with and for actors. Especially, when dealing with forest owners, this is an important notion, as they are both the producers of forest-based resources (Article IV) as well as buyers of services (Article III).

Responding to the occurring changes in the business environment and altering perceptions on value and sustainable value co-creation will result in reconfigurations in companies' and industries' business and value creation logics. Business logic describes the established ways of managing business activities and strategic decision-making (Prahalad and Bettis 1986). In this dissertation, the definition of value co-creation logic is derived from the concepts of business logic and value co-creation, thus, it describes the established and common ways in which actors co-create social, environmental and economic good, that is value, by performing activities that integrate tangible and intangible resources in a value-creating network (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Dyllick and Muff 2016). A company and an industry both can have a value co-creation logic. In the context of forestry services, Table 3 represents the identified potential differences between the traditional value creation logic based on a value chain, and the reconfigured value co-creation logic based on a value network (Article III).

	Traditional forest holding	New forest leasing service
	management services	
Forest owner's role	Operates by her-/himself, active	Gives power to tenant to make
	decision-making	operational decisions related to
		forests
Income generation	Roundwood sale	Lease
Focus of activities	Single activity, e.g., tending of	All-inclusive forest holding
	seedling stand	management service
Company's business	Make-or-buy decision, aim to	Networked activities in
logic	minimise transaction costs.	collaborative network. Information
	Information sharing: single wood	sharing: wood sale as a process
	sale and technical details.	linked to forest owner's and buyer's
		objectives.
value creation logic	value created and added by the	Value co-created in value network.
	company in value chain.	Shared value propositions: actors
		define value.
Value	Value-in-exchange	Value-in-use, value-in-context
Key resources	Tangible (e.g., machines, products)	Intangible (e.g., competence, skills)

**Table 3.** Identified differences between the traditional value creation logic of forest holding management services versus the reconfigured value co-creation logic of the new forest leasing service. Source: Article III Laakkonen et al. 2019.

#### Sustainable, collaborative and cross-sectoral value-creating networks

In this sub-chapter, the discussion will move on to value-creating networks in the forest sector and how sustainability and cross-sectoral collaboration will affect the value-creating networks and value creation logic. The role of resources and capabilities, especially highlighting the increasing role of intangible resources and natural capital, in value cocreation will be discussed. In addition, the actors-resources-activities (ARA) framework for analysing value co-creation will be introduced. Thus, contributions to RQ2 and RQ3 are made.

#### A shift towards sustainable value-creating networks

A shift in companies' traditional value creation logics from minimising transaction costs (Coase 1937; Williamson 1981) and operating in a linear intra-industry, value-adding chain (Porter 1985) to intentionally created collaborative strategic value networks (Jarillo 1988; Normann and Ramírez 1993; Kothandaraman and Wilson 2001; Möller and Rajala 2007) has been prevalent within the strategic management and network management studies. The notions of complexity and continuous cross-sectoral interactions, as well as business sustainability due to global change drivers, are speeding up the shift within the business environment (Nelson et al. 2006; Teece 2007; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Loorbach and Wijsman 2013; Dyllick and Muff 2016; Håkansson and Snehota 2017; Landrum 2018; Köhler et al. 2019; Möller et al. 2020).

In network management studies, there are two research streams investigating networked and collaborative value creation, and they are defined as strategic networks and markets-asnetworks (Möller et al. 2020). Jarillo (1988), Håkansson and Johansson (1992), and Normann and Ramírez (1993) have been some of the first to mention that a company's long-term relationships and interactions between other actors are the key to gaining a competitive advantage. Jarillo (1988), representing the strategic network research stream, states that a network is a mode of organisation stating a company's competitive position. This strategic value network is intentionally constructed, has a specific business purpose and goal, and has one actor operating as a hub or an integrator managing and orchestrating the network (Jarillo 1988; Möller et al. 2005; Dhanaraj and Parkhe 2006; Allee 2008). In addition, Normann and Ramírez (1993), from the same research stream, see that a company should be organised as a value-creating system, where different actors collaborate, and value is created in interorganisational relationships and knowledge exchange between companies. On the other hand, Håkansson and Johanson (1992), representing the markets-as-networks research stream, see a network as a dynamic structure of reciprocal relationships between actors, resources and activities (Håkansson and Johanson 1992). Collaborative interactions and knowledge creation between actors shape the value creation and the networks which can be boundaryless or more specifically defined (Håkansson and Snehota 1995). In this dissertation, both research streams are applied because, despite the research stream, both acknowledge that the core purpose of economic actors is to co-create social, environmental and economic value by performing resource-integrating activities (Jarillo 1988; Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Dyllick and Muff 2016).

In addition, in network management studies, the value co-creating networked construct is often seen as an actor-centric activity structure, where the actor with the right resources and capabilities can influence and manage the value-creating activities and relationships it is engaged in (Möller et al. 2020). In the strategic network stream the construct is called a strategic net (Möller et al. 2005), a value-creating system (Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007) or a value network (Jarillo 1988; Allee 2008). Similarly, in strategic management studies, a business model (Zott and Amit 2010; Bocken et al. 2014; Evans et al. 2017) is a similar concept related to creating value in an actor-centric activity system: what kind of value, how and to whom a company creates. In a sustainable business model, value is proposed, created, delivered and captured in a way that significantly creates positive and/or reduces negative impacts on the natural environment and/or society (Bocken et al. 2014) and the economic, environmental and social value flows are embedded within the business model (Evans et al. 2017).

In this dissertation, these different concepts and perceptions of value-creating constructs, introduced in the network and strategic management studies, are tied together, and the concept of a value-creating network is applied. A value-creating network is defined as a collaborative network of directly and indirectly connected actors performing value cocreating activities with the resource constellations they control (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007; Allee 2009; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Aarikka-Stenroos et al. 2017). The purpose of a company is to help other actors create their own value from the products and services offered by the company, rather than create value ready for them (Normann and Ramírez 1993), which highlights the essence of knowing the forest owner's motivations and objectives to be able to serve those with service offerings (Articles III and IV) in a purposeful strategic value network. However, the value-creating network recognises that it is not enough to consider only the focal strategic value network focusing on a specific business purpose because the network is affected by an extensive network (Aarikka-Stenroos et al. 2017), consisting of directly and indirectly connected actors, such as companies, universities, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and government agencies, from all the nested layers of the business environment. Similarly, it recognises that the relationships and collaborative interactions between different actors, for example, companies and their stakeholders, are equally responsible parts of the valuecreating activities. Thus, when considering reconfiguring the value creation logic of an industry, the interest is on a wider, non-manageable business network and the different relationships between all kinds of actors (Möller 2013), which highlights understanding the roles of non-business and indirectly connected actors and how events happening in the wider business environment affect value creation logic and the value-creating networks (Articles I and II).

However, when the purpose is to investigate the actual structure, attributes and exchanges within a strategic value network, as in Article III with the new forestry service, the concept of value network as an intentionally created value configuration model (Stabell and Fjeldstad 1998; Allee 2009) was applied. When the purpose is to investigate a specific business case, the concept of a strategic value network having a specific business purpose and one actor operating as an integrator managing and orchestrating the network (Jarillo 1988; Dhanaraj and Parkhe 2006; Allee 2008, 2009; Möller and Halinen 2017) is suitable. In a strategic value network, an integrator connects actors and integrates their competences and resources for creating value propositions, thus creating a competitive advantage (Stabell and Fjeldstad 1998). In a value network, actors convert and exchange value via deliverables, the actual things moving from one actor to another (Allee 2008). These deliverables can be contractbased and tangible (e.g., goods, revenues) or informal and intangible (e.g., skills, ideas) (ibid.). However, value is realised and co-created only when other actors see that it is beneficial and accept it (Allee 2008; Vargo and Lusch 2011; Allee and Schwabe 2015); thus,

actors cannot just "create and add" value, but rather reinvent it in value networks where value propositions are co-created together (Normann and Ramírez 1993). Sharing intangible resources, such as information and knowledge, are essential for co-creating value where trust, transparency and integrity are key attributes of a value network (Allee 2003). Especially in the context of forestry services, each actor in the network must be able to trust others and feel that collaboration brings value, i.e., benefits, to oneself and other actors. Acknowledging this, and taking a systemic view on value co-creation can enhance sustainable business practices (Wagner and Svensson 2014; Evans et al. 2017), and thus strengthening companies' and industries' competitiveness (Nidumolu et al. 2009; Porter and Kramer 2011).

#### Role of resources and capabilities in sustainable value co-creation

The actor's resources and capabilities are core elements in value co-creation, thus, a resourcebased view of the firm (Barney 1991) and its extensions natural resource-based view (Hart 1995, 1997; Hart and Dowell 2011; McDougall et al. 2019) and social resource-based view (Tate and Bals 2018), from strategic management studies are considered in this dissertation. In addition, perspectives from the dynamic capabilities framework (Teece et al. 1997; Teece 2007) are considered. The actor's success and the sustainability of performed activities are based on the availability and control over valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable and nonsubstitutable resources (Barney 1991), accompanied by the organisational abilities, i.e., dynamic capabilities, to reconfigure these tangible and intangible resources based on the detected needs of the changing business environment (Teece et al. 1997; Teece 2007). Thus, resources are an actor's assets that are utilised in value-creating activities (Wernerfelt 1984), and they can be divided into tangible (e.g., goods, raw materials and technical facilities) and intangible (e.g., competence, skills, knowledge and trust) (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Teece et al. 1997; Allee 2003). In addition, operating systems, processes and business relationships are intangible resources (Allee 2003), thus any assets that are difficult to imitate by other actors and transfer due to, e.g., tacit knowledge or high transaction costs are resources (Teece et al. 1997; Eisenhardt and Martin 2000). However, a resource has value only when there is a known use for it, and thus the value of a resource is dependent on its combination and integration with other resources (Barney 1991; Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Akaka et al. 2012). Hence, to co-create value, resource constellations are needed, where intangible, operant resources are purposefully integrated with other resources, for example, tangible operand resources (Håkansson and Snehota 1995; Vargo et al. 2008; Akaka et al. 2012). Similarly, actors are to perform activities according to a strategy facilitating environmentally sustainable business practices (Hart 1995; Hart and Dowell 2011), where the perspectives and social capabilities of economic, environmental and social stakeholders are considered (Tate and Bals 2018). However, value co-creation is not possible without actors that can integrate intangible resources with other resources and with other actors, which makes intangible resources vital for value co-creation (Allee 2003; Vargo and Lusch 2004; Akaka et al. 2012; Mouzas and Ford 2012). Especially the business actor's ability to coordinate and reconfigure these valuable resource combinations according to changes in the business environment is expected to be crucial in creating a competitive advantage (Teece 2007). Therefore, everything and everyone can be seen as a resource when integrated into the value co-creation process (Löbler 2013).

Collaboration, long-term relationships and interactions between actors are essential for co-creating sustainable value and competitive advantage, and thus, a systemic view on resources and capabilities needs to be taken. Therefore, achieving holistic sustainability requires broad and cross-sectoral knowledge and understanding of technologies, different resources, practices and societal values (Teece 2007; Möller and Svahn 2009; Evans et al. 2017; Bondeli et al. 2018; McDougall et al. 2019; Möller et al. 2020). Social exchange processes in relationship governance and development are important in value co-creation (Bondeli et al. 2018), together with including the perspectives of economic, environmental and social stakeholders (Tate and Bals 2018). Therefore, investigations on sustainable value co-creation should be carried out both at the actor or micro level (Articles III and IV) as well as at the industry or the meso and macro levels (Articles I and II). This is especially important when dealing with a natural resource-based industry (Andersen et al. 2018) acting globally and playing an important role in answering the socio-economic and environmental challenges and developments within the global business environment (Hansen and Juslin 2018).

World forests have a remarkable role in tackling global challenges by functioning as carbon sinks and sustaining biodiversity, among other ecosystem services, not to mention their role in facilitating human well-being. Therefore, the natural capital tied to the world's forest ecosystems should be acknowledged (Costanza et al. 1997; Daily 1997), both in the circular bioeconomy as well as in companies' and industries' value co-creation logics and networks. This makes the availability and control over forest-based resources, and the knowledge related to integrating them, crucial for actors (Articles III and IV and RQ3). Achieving competitive social sustainability locally and globally (McDougall et al. 2019) requires the integration of an actor's social capabilities (Tate and Bals 2018), sustainable technologies (Hart 1995; Hart and Dowell 2011) and management and sourcing of forestbased resources in a manner that covers all sustainability dimensions to mitigate the consequences for the environment (Eyvindson et al. 2018; Pukkala 2021). However, these company-level sustainability reconfigurations are not enough unless they are simultaneously communicated to the actors in the extensive business network (Lacoste 2016). Similarly, the reconfigured network structures and value co-creation rules need to be integrated with the old rules and maintained (Koskela-Huotari et al. 2016) to stabilise the reconfigurations and developments (Article II and RQ2).

#### The actors-resources-activities framework as a conceptual language to analyse value cocreation

Despite the slightly differing theoretical underpinnings in network and strategic management studies, value co-creation happens in a networked activity-construct, and the ARA-framework (Håkansson and Johanson 1992; Håkansson and Snehota 1995) offers a conceptual language for describing and analysing value co-creation. The ARA-framework is well-known in network management studies, and it has been widely utilised over the years, for example, when describing the business network of the Polish furniture industry (Ratajczak-Mrozek and Herbeć 2013) or the Japanese seafood distribution system (Abrahamsen and Håkansson 2012). It has been applied when describing how actors act as key drivers in developing networks after industrial restructuring in Sweden (Lundberg et al. 2016), how company-specific resources and activities influence the relationships of industrial manufacturers in Japan (Choi and Hara 2018) and how servitisation and provisioning of solutions are embedded in business networks in timber transportation (Hedvall et al. 2019).

According to the ARA-framework, actors are economic, social or political entities that utilise resources in value co-creation (Håkansson and Johanson 1992), and bonds between actors affect how they perceive and evaluate each other (Håkansson and Snehota 1995). Each actor has differing knowledge, perceptions, capabilities and power within the network (ibid.),

which is why capable and proactive actors can try to influence other actors in the network (Medlin and Törnroos 2014). In addition, actors are constrained by social, economic and political institutions (North 1990), and thus, institutional structures guide their behaviour (Ojansivu et al. 2020). Actors perform purposeful resource integrating activities, which can be technical, administrative, commercial or any other activities that can be connected and linked to other actors' activities through interaction and relationships (Håkansson and Snehota 1995). To perform activities, actors need to utilise resources they control to create new resources by combining or exchanging them (Håkansson and Johanson 1992). However, no actor alone has all the needed resources, and thus, through relationships, actors can access and gain control over resources and tie them together (Håkansson and Snehota 1995). In this dissertation, the ARA-framework was directly applied as a theory-based analytical lens in Article I. In addition, it acted implicitly as a conceptual language to analyse value co-creation in Article II and III.

In Article II, the purpose was to understand the reconfiguring value creation logic of an industry (RQ2); thus the ARA-framework offered a conceptual language to investigate an industry-specific value creation logic and how it is communicated as a representation of the institutionalised consensus between the industry's actors guiding how value is created in the industry (Van Bockhaven and Matthyssens 2017; Möller et al. 2020). Similarly, it offered a language to understand the systemic and holistic perspective of the business environment, where one actor alone cannot create value and provide solutions, but rather a common understanding and a vision, i.e., an agenda, for sustainable value co-creation needs to be created (Möller 2010; Möller et al. 2020). In Article III, the purpose was to investigate potential reconfigurations in the value creation logic (RQ3), and thus the ARA-framework offered a conceptual language to investigate the actual structure, attributes and exchanges within a strategic value network of a new forestry service. Similarly, it offered a language to understand the important role of an integrator in connecting and integrating different actors' competences and resources for creating value propositions, and thus co-creating a competitive advantage (Stabell and Fjeldstad 1998; Dhanaraj and Parkhe 2006; Allee 2008).

#### Psychological theories on behavioural change

This sub-chapter contributes to the theoretical discussions on psychological theories on behavioural change by providing perceptions and concepts for answering the RQ3. The tripartite model of attitudes and the theory of planned behaviour are useful theories to create understandings of how an actor's attitudes affect and guide one's actions related to decision-making and willingness to adopt new practices in the changing environment. In Article IV, forest owners' behaviour related to the mitigation of climate change and increasing adaptive capacity in their own forests was investigated. Forest owners' decision-making related to forest management, and whether to adapt it, for example, to mitigate climate change through carbon sequestration or to improve the resilience of forests, is getting increasing attention.

The tripartite model of attitudes (Rosenberg and Hovland 1960; Breckler 1984; Eagly and Chaiken 1993) has three components: cognitive, affective and behavioural, which together form a subject's attitude. The cognitive component means that an actor is aware and has beliefs on a specific issue, e.g., person, place, thing or event. This guides the affective component, i.e., the actor's feelings towards the issue. This in turn guides the actor's intention to behave on the issue, i.e., the behavioural component. However, the link between an actor's cognitive awareness and beliefs, and behavioural intention is not direct, because behaviour



**Figure 6.** The analysis framework of Article IV combined the tripartite model of attitudes (Rosenberg and Hovland 1960) and the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen 1991, 2011) with components of attitudes and control beliefs. Source: Article IV Laakkonen et al. 2018.

is largely socially determined (Rosenberg and Hovland 1960). Here the theory of planned behaviour works as a framework to understand the control mechanisms or beliefs of what is perceived as socially acceptable or preferrable, thus influencing the actor's actions. According to the theory of planned behaviour, subjective norms and perceived behavioural control affect the actor's behavioural intention, and thus action. Therefore, the social environment is an added layer that can help or hinder an actor's practical capability to actualise behavioural intentions (Ajzen 1991, 2011; Ajzen et al. 2011). This means that actors' attitudes not only determine actions, but also, the pressures of their social environment have an effect.

In Article IV, an analysis framework that combines these two theories (Figure 6), with components of attitudes and control beliefs, was introduced. Regarding the attitudes component, it was argued that forest owners are likely to hold certain cognitive beliefs regarding climate change, and these beliefs are combined with affective evaluations of climate change, which will result in a behavioural intention in their forests. Regarding the control beliefs component, it was argued that the forest owner's behavioural intention is influenced by subjective norms and perceived behavioural control, together with pressure and support from the social environment. Furthermore, it was argued that attitude and control work together and influence each other to determine what, if any, action(s) forest owners may make regarding climate change. The(se) action(s) can be either receptive or opposing compared to dominant beliefs in society.

### **RESEARCH DESIGN**

#### The philosophical position of critical realism

In this interdisciplinary dissertation, a qualitative research approach was followed. Qualitative research crosscuts disciplines, fields and subject matters, and it is considered "a situated activity that locates the observer in the world" (Denzin and Lincoln 2000). It aims at interpreting and understanding the socially constructed world (Eriksson and Kovalainen 2016) and the phenomena in it through the meanings people give to them (Denzin and Lincoln 2000). Similarly, phenomena are constantly changing due to being socially constructed through interactions between people having different perspectives, and thus the interpretations and meanings given to phenomena are also changing (Kekäle and Puusa 2020). The purpose of this dissertation was to create understandings of the phenomena changing the forest sector's value creation logic. In addition, the dissertation aimed at interpreting what kind of meanings the forest owners, the forestry service providers and the pulp and paper industry give to the phenomena and how it will affect their activities. However, it was acknowledged that there is no "one" truth or interpretation about a phenomenon. Therefore, the findings and conclusions of this dissertation are time- and context-bound interpretations of the observer, i.e., the researcher, and thus are likely to change when time goes by, or they are taken into another context.

In this dissertation, the philosophical position of critical realism (or transcendental realism) (Sayer 2000; Bhaskar 2011) was followed. The ontology and epistemology are built on the positivist (often followed in natural sciences) and constructivist (often followed in social sciences) approaches (Gorski 2013); thus, critical realism offers an alternative for understanding and interpreting meanings given to phenomena occurring in an open system (Sayer 2000; Bhaskar 2011), where actors are capable of communication, creativity and resistance (Gorski 2013).

The ontology of critical realism follows realism by stating that the world is independent regardless of our knowledge of it, but it is divided into the real, the actual and the empirical domains (Sayer 2000). The world is socially structured, differentiated and changing, and thus objects have certain structures and causal powers (the real). However, the social structures, events and discourses can be understood and changed only by identifying the structures creating those events and discourses (the actual), and this identification can happen only through human agency and the practical and theoretical work of the social sciences (the empirical). (Bhaskar 2011) This makes ontology stratified, meaning that everything that exists can be observed (Sayer 2000). Similarly, the world is emergent; the conjunction of two or more factors can create or cause a new phenomenon (Sayer 2000), and thus some causal powers and tendencies can influence the world we experience, and the social actors can change and influence the future social structures. For example, social structures (economy, family, company, etc.) are needed to have human activity, and the relations between these people and their activities change the structures (Bhaskar 2011). Deriving from this, critical realism provided perspectives on understanding both the social and natural dimensions of existence and the continuous dynamic causal interactions between them and their influence on well-being (Bhaskar 2011).

Following the ontological views, the epistemology of critical realism notes that knowledge also is stratified, and it has an emergent nature; therefore, knowledge can be produced in an empirical process (Sayer 2000; Bhaskar 2011; Gorski 2013). The empirical

process can discover knowledge and create theories and concepts on a phenomenon; however, new knowledge and theories can also be discovered from the same phenomenon (Bhaskar 2011). A more subjectivist view on knowledge, instead of objectivist, is adopted as knowledge can be fallible, due to the transitive and intransitive dimensions of knowledge (Sayer 2000; Bhaskar 2011). The intransitive dimension (what the world is despite our knowledge of it) takes an objectivist view of knowledge (Sayer 2000), and thus objects of scientific inquiry exist and act quite independently of the knower and their activity (Bhaskar 2011). However, a transitive dimension (the changing knowledge and concepts) complements the intransitive dimension (Bhaskar 2011); thus, a more subjectivist view is adopted, as all beliefs are socially produced, and they can be value-laden or value-free and true or false (Sayer 2000). Thus, there are no truth-values, and criteria of rationality does not exist outside historical time (Bhaskar 2011). Observations and the derived knowledge are theory-laden, or -dependent, as they are interpreted through the earlier understandings of them.

In critical realism, many research methods can be utilised, depending on the nature of the studied object and what the researcher wants to learn about it, however typically an intensive research approach is followed (Sayer 2000). Therefore, critical realism is methodologically pluralist and inclusive, and it provides philosophically informed methodologies for generating new insights (Vincent and O'Mahoney 2018). When concerning analysis and reasoning logic, induction and deduction can be used, but to identify the causal mechanisms, abstraction and retroduction are often used (ibid). In this dissertation, an intensive research approach and abductive and retroductive reasoning logics were followed, as the purpose was to interpret a certain phenomenon (the reconfiguring value creation logic) and meanings and explanations given to it (existing theories and concepts) in a specified context (the forest sector). In addition, the dissertation aimed at identifying developments, connections and relations between social events and linking them to a wider context to create a holistic understanding of the effects that a sustainability transition has on the business environment.

To summarise, critical realism is about understanding and explaining what caused the events (causal tendencies), how they are connected holistically in a wider context (social structures) and how actors and their relationships and interaction between them affected the events (human agency). Thus, in this dissertation, reality is considered as emergent, relationships between different actors have causal power to change reality and the way it is socially constructed, and our knowledge of reality can be false (Easton 2010; Peters et al. 2013).

#### A case study research strategy

#### Intrinsic case study approach

The research strategy of this dissertation followed a theory-guided case study strategy. First, the aim was to create context-specific holistic understandings of a theoretically and practically interesting phenomenon, i.e., a case (Stake 1995; Easton 2010; Thomas and Myers 2015). A case study examines and analyses a case (persons, events, periods, policies, institutions, etc.) holistically intending to build knowledge or theory from the case evidence by making connections between the experiences of the researcher and other actors, seeing links and having insights from the noticed connections (Thomas and Myers 2015). Case selection was not guided by theory but rather it was seen as an opportunity to gain and extend

the researcher's knowledge and in-depth understanding of the case (Stake 1995; Easton 2010; Piekkari and Welch 2018). However, to adequately outline a case study, there should be a subject of interest, the case and an analytical frame, an object within which the case is investigated (Thomas and Myers 2015). Thus, the case is the lens through which the theoretical and conceptual frameworks are studied (ibid.). In this dissertation, the case was the reconfiguring value creation logic in the Finnish forest sector, and the analytical frame was the role of the dynamic business environment and the change drivers, especially the transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy, affecting the networks and value creation logic. In addition, in a case study, a phenomenon is examined in its naturalistic context, where theory meets the empirical world (Piekkari et al. 2009), and thus it can provide a real-life inspiring illustration of a conceptual framework (Siggelkow 2007). The forest sector offered an interesting study context, as it has an important role within the circular bioeconomy, while contributing to a sustainability transition. It is important to acknowledge that the findings of this dissertation are a result of analytical reflections of the case data (Stake 2005) and chronological developments within the case, and in its context over time (Stake 1995), and thus, do not represent a universal truth about the phenomenon. This implies, with the basic assumption of critical realism, that knowledge is fallible.

The case study approach, as well as critical realism, is open towards applied research methodology, and this methodological eclecticism allows for choosing the methods that are most suitable for the research design and questions of a particular study. Each article of this dissertation had a slightly different case study approach (Articles I and II), and two of them (Articles III and IV) were not case studies per se, but they were investigating an interesting phenomenon through theoretical concepts. Despite that, each article investigated the same context, the forest sector operating in Finland, and thus they assisted in gaining a holistic understanding of the reconfiguring value creation logic in the forest sector and the factors affecting it. In Article I, an intrinsic case study strategy was followed, as it aimed at creating an understanding of a practically relevant and intrinsically interesting case, the development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network. In this study, the case itself represented a phenomenon where uniqueness is embedded in the context, and the particularities of the case are more interesting than merely creating generalisations (Stake 1995). In Article II, the case study strategy focused more on creating theoretical and practical understandings of the case, reconfiguration of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's value creation logic. The case was investigated through a constructed conceptual framework and three companies operating in the industry. Thus, the case offered a real-life inspiring illustration of the conceptual framework (Siggelkow 2007) and an opportunity to gain an indepth understanding of it (Easton 2010). In both articles, the research aimed at building new knowledge on the phenomenon by explaining it through a conceptual framework by applying a phenomenon-based research approach (Schwarz and Stensaker 2016).

Based on the research objectives of Articles I and II, other research approaches were also followed. In Article I, a constructive approach (Kasanen et al. 1993) was applied by constructing a "solution", i.e., development phases of the business network, for the study and connecting it with marketing and networking theories, with the purpose of gaining practical and theoretical understandings of the case. Similarly, approaches from historicism (Fullerton 1987) were applied, as a network is a complex and nested social system evolving over time and context; thus, the network was seen as a historical individual with its own time-bound identity, values, attitudes and conditions guiding its development. In Article II, approaches from strategic foresight (Heger and Rohrbeck 2012; Vecchiato 2012) were applied as the changing business environment holds major uncertainties, and thus strategic foresight can

aid companies in noticing change drivers originating from the changing business environment (Vecchiato 2012). Similarly, it can help companies to develop capabilities to explore, plan and develop new value-creating activities within industries (Heger and Rohrbeck 2012) while managing the evolving opportunities and threats (Vecchiato 2012).

In Article III, the characteristics of a case study can be noticed, as it investigated collaborative value creation logic through a potential forest leasing service that can be considered as a case. The case was investigated and analysed through theoretical concepts of service-dominant logic, value network as a value creation logic, and value network analysis, with the purpose of mapping the value network's actors and their roles, resources and competence, exchanges between these actors and how they convert value in the network. In Article IV, the forest owners' behaviour in their own forest related to mitigating climate change and increasing adaptive capacity was investigated through the theoretical concepts of the theory of planned behaviour and the tripartite model of attitudes. To capture the mental structures of the forest owners and interactions among the concepts related to attitudes and behaviour, cognitive mapping was applied. It can be used in developing a framework for introducing new ideas and developing appropriate responses to new issues (Kaplan and Kaplan 1989; Kearney and Kaplan 1997). Thus, these articles contributed to theoretically framing the reconfiguring value creation logic (Article III) and the forest owners' understandings and attitudes towards climate change (Article IV) in the context of the forest sector.

#### Finnish forest sector as a research context

The Finnish forest sector and its reconfiguring value creation logic was an interesting research context because it is expected to retain its important role in creating economic prosperity and well-being for Finnish society and the economy when transitioning towards a sustainable circular bioeconomy (MMM 2022; Valtioneuvosto 2022). For example, in 2020 the value added of the forest sector was 7.7 billion €, which comprised 3.8% of the total value added of the Finnish national economy and the exports of the sector were 18% of Finland's total goods exports (Vaahtera et al. 2021). In this dissertation, the concept of the forest sector covers the forest industry (pulp and paper and wood processing industries) and forestry (forest management, wood production, and harvesting). The forest sector is an important part of the circular bioeconomy. For example, it accounts for 35% of the total output of the Finnish bioeconomy, and the bioeconomy comprised 16% of the total output of the Finnish national economy in 2020 (Vaahtera et al. 2021). As the concept of circular bioeconomy covers all sectors utilising renewable non-fossil raw materials, the circular forest-based bioeconomy consists of the forest sector, as well as e.g., energy, chemical, natural product, food, cosmetics and medical industries, which utilise non-fossil raw materials derived from forest ecosystems. Similarly, sectors that provide services and solutions related to forest ecosystems, such as nature tourism, are considered as parts of the circular forest-based bioeconomy. Thus, a circular forest-based bioeconomy covers all economic activities related to forest ecosystems (Winkel 2017a).

In Articles I and II, the focus of the investigation was on the forest industry, and moreover, on the pulp and paper industry. The three Finnish multinational enterprises (MNEs), UPM, Metsä Group and Stora Enso, are important forest industry actors on a global scale. Their global operations cover the whole forest-related supply chain from forest management to manufacturing semi-finished products. They have also acted as pioneers in their global value networks by being among the first Nordic forest industry companies to expand operations,
e.g., to Latin America, especially in Uruguay. Similarly, the companies are self-proclaimed forerunners in the sustainable bioeconomy (Metsä Group 2022; Stora Enso 2022; UPM 2022), and they hold many promising features, e.g., in substituting fossil-based products. However, the mature (Guerrero and Hansen 2018) and strongly path-dependent (Näsi et al. 2001; Lamberg et al. 2017; Luhas et al. 2019) forest industry has been lacking the expected and needed longer-lasting and higher-value products – possibly due to its established value creation logic focusing on producing large amounts of traditional business-to-business (B2B) products, materials and energy in traditional and well-known networks with traditional business models. The industry appears to be making only incremental innovations and aims at maintaining its current market position.

In Article III, the focus was on forestry and moreover on forest management services. Traditionally in Finland, government-led organisations, such as local forest management associations (FMA), have had an important role in providing forestry services, especially forest management services (Kotilainen and Rytteri 2011). In addition, micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) have an important role in the traditional forest industry supply chain, especially in harvesting and logistics, as the forest industry MNEs have outsourced these operations to the SMEs. However, during the 2000s, there have been reforms in forest-related legislation and organisational changes in private forestry. For example, the Finnish Forest Act was revised to reduce regulation on forest management practices and increase forest owners' self-determination in forest management-related decision-making (Harrinkari et al. 2016), and the Forest Management Association Act was revised to abolish the forest owner's obligatory membership in a local FMA (Pelkonen 2017; Valonen et al. 2019). These changes in the business environment have resulted in, e.g., diversified possibilities for forest management and opening the forestry service market for private companies. Thus, the role of SMEs in providing services in the traditional forest industry, as well as in circular forest-based bioeconomy-related supply chains, has been increasingly acknowledged (Lehtoviita et al. 2016). Similarly, the role of SMEs as producers and manufacturers of circular forest-based bioeconomy products and services has gained attention (Näyhä 2019; D'Amato et al. 2020).

In Article IV, the focus of the investigation was on forest owners, because they are an important part of forest-related networks. After all, they own, control and manage the crucial forest-based natural capital and resources. In Finland, these private forest owners own over 50% of the forestry land, and over 80% of all roundwood purchased by the forest industry comes from these private forests (Karppinen et al. 2020). Other important forest owners are the state (35%) and companies (7%), and the rest are owned by municipalities, parishes and various associations (Vaahtera et al. 2021). In this dissertation, the focus was only on private forest owners. The individual decisions forest owners make related to their forests will collectively have a large influence on the overall forest landscape, climate and economy of Finland. Similarly, the ownership of these forests is changing, and new ownership types have different motivations and attitudes for owning and managing forests (Bengston et al. 2011; Weiss et al. 2019), which will result in altering needs for different forestry services. A noteworthy change in forest ownership, occurring especially in Finland, is the increasing amount of institutional forest owners, such as investment funds (Viitala and Leppänen 2014; National Land Survey of Finland 2022). In addition, climate change will affect forest management and related decision-making; thus, understanding forest owners' perceptions towards climate change, while acknowledging the altering objectives and motives, could create possibilities to renew forest-based services.

Therefore, the Finnish forest sector offered an excellent case to investigate the reconfiguring value creation logic, as it has great potential to contribute to the sustainability transition. As a natural-resource-based industry, the forest sector has an important role in providing solutions to environmental and sustainability challenges by having access to and utilising the crucial natural resource base, while also possessing strong bargaining power in the global supply chains. However, forest ecosystems have an ambiguous role in sustainability transitions. On the one hand, forest ecosystems are expected to continue to generate economic wealth, while on the other hand, they should mitigate climate change and prevent biodiversity loss. In Finland, the forest sector, having long traditions with wellestablished industrial and forest management practices, together with powerful industrial and governmental actors, is likely to face challenges, as established business and value creation logics and value-creating networks are challenging to reconfigure. Therefore, the emerging sustainable value co-creation logic simultaneously challenges the forest sector to reconfigure its value creation logic and to adapt to changes in the utilisation of forest-based resources, but it also introduces many business opportunities arising from the new sustainable products, services and solutions.

#### Abductive and retroductive reasoning logic

In this dissertation, abductive and retroductive reasoning logics were followed as previously stated. Abductive reasoning logic sees the research process as non-linear, and thus the research process goes back and forth between the empirical observations and theory, as well as between different research activities (Dubois and Gadde 2002). The conceptual framework evolves along the empirical observations, allowing a dialogue between empirical and conceptual investigations (Dubois and Gibbert 2010); thus, conceptual observations can be modified or rejected if needed due to conflicting empirical observations (Dubois and Gadde 2002). Abductive logic is especially suitable if the investigation aims to match theory and reality and discover new things (ibid.). Thus, it allows for a flexible research design and can be applied where redirections gained from the studied case act as a source of theoretical insights and learnings (Piekkari and Welch 2018). Retroduction seeks to identify the contextual conditions for causal mechanisms, resulting in the observed empirical trends by constantly moving between the empirical and the different levels of reality to holistically understand the studied phenomenon (Fletcher 2017). Thus, retroduction seeks the social relations and structures that cause the events to happen (ibid.) and re-conceptualises the new, and even unanticipated, knowledge of the phenomenon, and it seeks to verify it in a broader context (Vincent and O'Mahoney 2018). Therefore, abductive and retroductive reasoning logics are suitable when following critical realism, because knowledge production is theoryladen or -dependent, while acknowledging that theories are fallible (Fletcher 2017; Piekkari and Welch 2018).

By applying a case study approach with abductive and retroductive reasoning, it was possible to create new knowledge and test different perspectives when investigating the forest sector from different levels. Therefore, it was possible to create a holistic and systemic understanding of the forest sector and what issues should be considered so that the sector could meet the needs of the changing business environment. In addition, research conducted in forest economics, often following the idea of applied research, can benefit from the interdisciplinary conceptual framework and empirical findings of this dissertation, when the created knowledge is put into practice to be utilised by decision-makers in business and policy when planning sustainable business activities and policies within the forest sector. This is what critical realists pursue: to explain and critique social conditions and give policy recommendations that are based on the identified tendencies and causal mechanisms, while acknowledging that they can be fallible or have unexpected results under different contexts (Fletcher 2017).

#### Methods of data collection and analysis

The collected data and the applied data analysis methods for each article, together with the chosen research strategy, helped in gaining a comprehensive understanding of the forest sector's reconfiguring value creation logic (Table 4). By analysing documents, it was possible to recognise the past and currently occurring developments within the sector's value creation logic (Articles I and II). By conducting interviews, it was possible to gain more in-depth knowledge and understanding of the possible future value creation logic of forestry service providers (Article III) and the attitudes and readiness of forest owners to respond to the occurring changes (Article IV). In the following sub-chapters, the applied data collection and analysis methods in each article are discussed in more detail.

Article	Research strategy	Data collection	Data analysis method
Article I	Intrinsic case study with a constructive approach, historicism and phenomenon-based research	Documents	A qualitative document analysis, qualitative meta- analysis, qualitative deductive directed content analysis
Article II	Case study with strategic foresight and phenomenon- based research	Documents	A modified three-phase qualitative document analysis
Article III	Theory-guided framing of the changing value creation logic	Semi-structured interviews	Theory-driven value network analysis
Article IV	Theory-guided framing of the forest owners' attitudes towards climate change	"Forest walks": open-ended theme interviews, cognitive maps, questionnaire	Cognitive mapping, theory- and data-driven qualitative content analysis, qualitative and theory-driven graphical representation

 Table 4. The research strategy, data collection and data analysis methods of individual articles.

### Article I: Defining the systemic development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network

The data analysis followed a qualitative document analysis method (Bowen 2009) with approaches from a qualitative meta-analysis (Timulak 2009) and a qualitative deductive directed content analysis (Hsieh and Shannon 2005). A qualitative document analysis reviews and analyses documents in a systematic manner (Bowen 2009), and the meta-analysis provided insights to get a comprehensive picture of the researched topic (Timulak 2009). A qualitative deductive directed content analysis provided views to utilise a conceptual framework in guiding the research process: drafting the research questions, creating initial coding for the data analysis and reporting and discussing the research findings (Hsieh and Shannon 2005).

The selected secondary dataset included documents discussing and analysing the history of the Finnish forest sector as a single entity, and data selection had two rounds: in summer 2017 and in autumn 2021. During the first round, the main sources of data were books presenting a reliable and systemic picture of the historical development of the Finnish forest industry. The second round of data selection was done to reach data saturation (i.e., new documents either contained the same information or findings as previously selected documents or cited the same studies as already selected). All in all, the dataset consisted of 31 documents, including books, reports and journal articles written in Finnish and English.

The conducted qualitative meta-analysis of documents followed the four-phased descriptive-interpretative approach (Timulak 2009). In summary, the data analysis resulted in naming dominant systemic development periods, identifying external and internal events changing the business network, and constructing and visualising networks according to the ARA-framework for each of the identified development periods.

### Article II: Implications of the sustainability transition on the industry value creation logic - case of Finnish pulp and paper industry

The study was a result of a long-term continuous and iterative document search, reading and reflection cycle (Easton 2010), with the purpose of investigating the transformation of the Finnish pulp and paper industry towards a sustainable circular bioeconomy and the resulted reconfigurations in the industry's value creation logic. However, to adequately outline the abductive, iterative and non-linear research process, a research case and research objective were identified and theoretically framed in winter 2022, when the data selection was finalised. Relevant documents were searched from internet-based search engines with different combinations of words forest industry, pulp and paper industry, (forest-based) bioeconomy, value creation (logic), sustainability transition, sustainable business and business transformation. In addition, snowball sampling was used. The chosen documents (n=106) included, e.g., scientific research papers, non-academic reports, strategies, books, annual reports, webpages, press releases and other communications. The documents covered the time period from the globalisation of the Finnish forest industry and the introduction of the concept of sustainable development until today. Documents were considered suitable data, as they provided a carefully considered strategic, consistent and more objective perspective on the studied topic (Bowen 2009).

A modified three-phase qualitative document analysis, including approaches from content and thematic analyses (Bowen 2009), was applied. During the analysis, the conceptual investigations and empirical observations derived from the chosen documents were abductively interpreted and reflected through the research objective, the research question and the conceptual framework. The focus of interpretation and reflection had two aims: first, relevant theoretical themes were identified, presenting the conceptual investigations; and second, empirical observations were made based on the identified theoretical themes.

## Article III: Integrating intangible resources enables creating new types of forest services - developing forest leasing value network in Finland

The data collection and analysis were guided by theoretical concepts from service-dominant logic and service ecosystems, value network as a value creation logic, and value network analysis. Twelve semi-structured interviews with innovative forerunners and experts, who were seen to potentially play a key role in the forest leasing service, were conducted. The interview guide had five themes: background questions and a general view of the forest leasing service, mapping of the value network and value exchanges, impacts on actions in the network, value creation in the network, and a general view towards acting in the network.

The theory-driven qualitative data analysis was based on Allee's value network analysis (Allee 2008) and complemented with Biem and Caswell's model of economic entity for value network analysis (Biem and Caswell 2008). With Allee's value network analysis, value exchanges and conversion in a role-based value network are mapped and analysed. In addition, Biem and Caswell's model of economic entity introduced the actor's key competence, capabilities and resources to the analysis. Therefore, the combination of these two analysis approaches offered a systematic method to analyse value networks as a means to co-create value. The data analysis had four phases during which a potential value network for the novel forest leasing service was mapped and the service's key attributes and value creation logic were identified. The impact and value creation analyses related to the exchanges were done from an ego-centred perspective, i.e., from the perspective of an integrator.

## Article IV: Forest owners' attitudes toward pro-climate and climate-responsive forest management

The data was collected by interviewing 20 forest owners living in Eastern Finland, near the city of Joensuu. The interviews were conducted as commented walks (Jones et al. 2008), i.e., forest walks, in the interviewees' own forests in summer 2015. The forest walk interviews had six phases, during which data was collected with cognitive mapping (Eden 1988; Kaplan and Kaplan 1989), an open-ended theme interview, and two short quantitative questionnaires. Cognitive mapping was used to identify and group all changes the forest owner had noticed in the forest, in forest management and decision-making, and generally related to forests and forestry. The open-ended theme interviews were conducted in the forest, and the discussed themes included observed or perceived changes in the forest, changes in forest management and usage, forest-related services and guidance and motivation toward forest management and usage, and perceived future management. In addition, forest owners were asked to share their opinions about climate change and its possible effects on forests.

The data were analysed using three methods. First, cognitive mapping was used to investigate the cognitive dimension of forest owners' attitudes towards climate change. Qualitative content analysis and categorisation of the messages in the cognitive maps were conducted separately by two authors; after that, the categorisations were compared by the same two authors. Later the categorisations were confirmed by all authors. In a quantitative

analysis, the message classes were cross-tabulated with individual respondents to create a distribution of climate change-related message classes among the interviewees. The crosstabulation was a starting point for constructing a symmetric class-by-class proximity matrix, serving data for proximity calculations according to the 3CM cognitive mapping methodology by Kearney and Kaplan (1997). The results of the cognitive mapping tasks were illustrated as a mental network in a two-dimensional scaling space of a non-metric multidimensional scaling procedure (Borgatti et al. 2013). Second, a theory- and data-driven qualitative content analysis procedure (Green 2004) was used for finding narratives on affective evaluations, behavioural intentions and normative and personal control perceptions on forest owners' attitudes towards climate change. Third, after analysing the cognitive maps and narratives, the identified attitudes and perceptions were brought together coherently. Thus, illustrative quotations from the transcripts were located in a graphical representation in a qualitative and theory-driven manner. Locating the quotations was done according to joint discussions by all authors. The quotations were divided into five attitudinal positions, which helped in understanding forest owners' attitudes towards climate change within their own forests. The attitudinal positions represent an ideal type of forest owner based on the identified narratives.

### **RESEARCH FINDINGS**

In this chapter, the findings of the individual articles are summarised through the research questions of the dissertation. In addition, this chapter aims at discussing the findings as a thematic entity covering the phenomenon of reconfiguring value creation logic due to sustainability-related change drivers. On the one hand, the perspective is on the macro- and meso-levels, as the forest sector's, especially the pulp and paper industry's, role in co-creating sustainable value for society, the environment and the economy are discussed. On the other hand, the perspective is on the micro-level as the role and impacts of holistic sustainability for the value co-creation logic of the forestry service companies and forest owners are discussed.

#### Forest sector's value creation logic in the past

The first research question of this dissertation is how the forest sector's value creation logic has previously adapted to meet the changes in the business environment. The findings of Article I revealed that, throughout its history, the Finnish pulp and paper industry, as a part of forest sector, has been able to alter its business network and reconfigure its value creation logic due to and according to critical external and internal events that have changed the business environment. The sector has been concerned about securing its key resources of cheap raw materials, energy and labour. Co-operational formal and informal activities and actors have been important, as the actors have collaborated through the whole production chain. Similarly, technological innovations and research have played an important role, but the actors have favoured a business-as-usual strategy, which has been overruled only by a radical change in the business environment, forcing the sector to reconfigure its value creation logic. Sometimes, the sector has been proactive in this change, but most often the reconfigurations have happened out of necessity. The maturity level of the sector has been an important factor in this. When the sector was in its embryonic phase and non-established, the changes were more proactive. After the sector reached maturity and was established, the responses to changes have started to be more reactive.

## Examples on critical external and internal events in the business environment affecting the forest sector

In the latter part of the 1800s, increasing demand and consumption of paper in Europe and North America and new technological inventions for manufacturing paper and paperboard from mechanical and chemical wood-based pulp, were external events in the international business environment, enabling the emergence of a new industrial sector: the pulp and paper industry. In Finland, the emergence of the new industrial sector happened between the 1850-80s, when the innovation of manufacturing paper from mechanical wood pulp entered Finland. This was followed by the manufacturing of chemical wood pulp (cellulose) and the integration of paper and cardboard machines in the same mill site with mechanical or chemical pulp manufacturing in the 1870-80s. Even though, at the time, the forest industry in Finland, mainly regarded as a sawmill industry, was already a well-established industrial sector, the entrepreneurs who started to manufacture wood-based paper came from outside the traditional forest industry. At the beginning of the 1900s, companies operating in the

sawmill industry started to manufacture wood-based paper products in the same mill sites, due to recognising the profitability of pulp and paper manufacturing, which resulted in the emergence of saw and paper mill integrates. Hence, the mature forest industry was rather reactive in entering a new business sector but on the other hand, they reconfigured their value creation logic successfully and effectively by integrating traditional and new manufacturing processes in the same mill sites.

Other reconfigurations in the business network, and value creation logic due to critical events in the business environment, were also identified as manifesting the forest sector's ability to adapt its operations. In the late 1910s, external events, such as the First World War, the Russian revolution and Finland's independence, as well as internal events, such as the vanished division between the sawmill and pulp and paper industry, resulted in the second development phase. At the beginning of the 1950s, the network reconfigured again due to external events, such as the Second World War, two competing business systems of east and west and the establishment of global collaborative organisations, resulted in the third development phase. Similarly, during the third phase, critical events resulted in minor adaptations within the network and its activities, when, e.g., manufacturing was rationalised due to oil crises, and political lobbying was developed due to environmental concerns.

# Historical development phases of the pulp and paper industry's business network viewed through actors-resources-activities framework

Figure 7 represents the first three historical development phases of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network, identified in Article I. The figure is a figure in principle, i.e., it represents the structure of the network and gives an overview on the number of roles and their power and what kind of relationships there are between the roles. The actors are presented as roles performing similar kinds of activities and possessing similar kinds of resources. To see the full figure with the central roles and the relationships, and value-creating interactions between them, see Article I (Laakkonen et al. 2022). During these three phases, almost the same key actors, resources and activities have been at the core of the Finnish pulp and paper industry for the entire time. However, some adjustments have happened according to each time period's requirements. For example, the names and power of an actor have altered.

The key actors during the three phases were companies, financial institutions, cooperation organisations, customers, the state, forest owners (state, non-industrial private and companies) and the labour force. The companies evolved from being family-owned, entrepreneur-led to being limited or state-owned integrated saw, pulp and paper companies. The financial institutions, mainly commercial banks, were important, because many banks were both financers and co-owners in the companies; similarly, many company owners and decision-makers had important roles in these financial institutions. There were many cooperation organisations related to wood procurement, transportation and export activities. Coopetition, simultaneous co-operation in some activities and competition in others, between companies protected the industry from harmful competition and fluctuating business cycles, and thus was an important part of the industry's value creation logic. The importance of these organisations grew during the second phase, when export associations did most of the selling and exporting activities, and a new powerful political and lobbying organisation, the Central association, was established. The Central laboratory was established, as a research, development and innovation (RDI) organisation, to ensure the pulp and paper industry's RDI activities. The golden age for the coopetitive value creation logic, the export associations and



**Figure 7.** Historical development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network: from the beginning of wood-based paper production (first phase) to increasing coopetition (second phase) to the golden age of the pulp and paper industry (third phase). The size of the ellipse represents the power of the role: the bigger the ellipse is, the more power the role has. Arrows represent relationships and interactions between roles. Double-arrowed lines are reciprocal, and one-directional arrows indicate parallel interaction. This is a figure in principle. For the full figure see Article I Laakkonen et al. 2022.

the Central association was during the third phase. The Finnish export associations, Finncell, Finnpap and Finnboard, were internationally established actors, which diminished the role of individual companies. The Central association was a powerful actor in politics and advocacy. Its role in public discussions and sharing financial and other information about the forest sector, and its impacts on forests and the environment, was significant in Finnish society. International customers were extremely important during all the phases. Russia, later the Soviet Union, and western Europe were the main regions for exports.

The state's role increased during the second and third phases, because after the independence, it became fourfold. It was a business actor through owning companies; a large forest owner; a political actor regulating the operating environment, preparing forest policy and providing guidance through many forestry organisations; and a financial actor through the Central Bank by preparing financial policies and utilising devaluations and revaluations of the domestic currency. Companies, private forest owners and the state were the main forest owner groups during these phases. During the second phase, local FMAs, partially funded by the state, were established to assist private forest owners in the timber trade. During the first and second phases, the professional labour force in the pulp and paper mills was foreign, but during the third phase, domestic professionals, especially skilled engineers, replaced them. In wood harvesting and logistics, the employees were domestic workers. During the second phase, a new profession of domestic forestry workers emerged to advise forest owners on forest management due to state-led forest administration. In addition, labour unions started to gain a foothold, even though the traditionally strong personal relationship between employee remained.

Even though the key actors have remained rather the same during these three phases, there were some curiosities. For example, during the second phase, individual entrepreneurs, company directors, factory owners, political decision-makers, forest experts and researchers had strong social, political and economic power in the network with their personal

relationships and financial capital. During the third phase, the roles of the public and the forest cluster emerged. The public evolved as its own actor when the forest sector increased communication and influencing activities towards it. The industry thought that the public must be informed about the sector's importance to the Finnish economy and be educated on research-based forest management and utilisation. However, this omniscient attitude was increasingly challenged by the public's increasing environmental awareness, followed by criticism towards the sector in the 1960s. A cross-sectoral forest cluster emerged as an actor. The cluster consists of actors throughout the whole forest-based production chain, from harvesting to manufacturing to RDI. The co-operation in the cluster was beneficial to all actors in the cluster.

The most central resources in the pulp and paper industry's business network have been tangible and related to actual business activities and value creation. Since the emergence of the industry, cheap raw materials, especially wood, clean water, energy and labour have been the source of the industry's competitive advantage. Securing the availability of these key resources has been important, but only the focus has varied. Especially, ensuring a sufficient supply of wood has been of particular concern, and thus sustainable forest management with a focus on maximising wood yield was introduced already during the first phase. Similarly, during the second phase, the integration of the sawmill and the pulp and paper industry introduced sawing residue as a new raw material for pulp manufacturing and a new energy source for paper manufacturing. In addition, monetary capital was important, because pulp and paper manufacturing is capital-intensive due to machinery-based manufacturing processes.

Important intangible resources were related to competence in foreign trade and social capital, together with long-lasting relationships with national and international business and political actors. During the second phase, the competence related to operating and designing machines and developing technology gained attention, and new technologies and manufacturing processes were developed to utilise different tree species, timber grades and recycled fibres in the processes, as well as to recover precious fibres from the process. In addition, during the third phase, the forest cluster's emerging competence system strengthened the forest sector's competitive advantage. Therefore, the role of intangible resources in the business network, as well as in the value creation logic, gained more attention.

Similarly, the value-creating activities in the business network were mainly related to actual business, such as manufacturing, logistics, wood procurement, marketing and exporting. The manufacturing strategy was to have cost-efficient, large-scale intensive production of quality bulk products in integrated mills, where continuous production was the core of the value creation logic. Similarly, the manufactured products were chosen based on the assumption that markets and demand will be certain and increasing. From the beginning, market pulp and different papers were manufactured, but especially during the third phase, the manufacturing of newspaper and communication paper was extensive. RDI activities have been important, with aims to gain resource efficiency and environmentally friendly manufacturing. New machinery, manufacturing processes and products were developed. For example, during the second phase, a new product of dissolving pulp and by-products from side streams, e.g., ethanol, turpentine and tall oil, were invented. In addition, during the third phase, harvesting and forestry work were largely mechanised.

Collaboration along the whole production chain, from forests to customers, has been extensive, and thus an essential factor of the forest sector's value creation logic. Therefore, formal and informal influencing through personal and institutional networks was a key activity. Personal networks were especially important during the second phase, when the individual actors had strong social, political and economic power within companies, cooperation organisations, the Finnish government, and financial institutions. The climax of this co-operation was during the third phase, when the central actors in the business network had formal negotiations and agreements on prices, production quotas, investments and wood procurement territories, both nationally and internationally. The Export associations of Finncell, Finnpap, and Finnboard replaced individual companies, especially in foreign trade, and the Central association was a strong actor in national political influencing towards the state and public.

Activities related to forest management and environmental issues have always been important for the whole forest sector. Already during the first phase, national concern about deforestation, which would cause a decreasing availability of wood, resulted in state-run forest governance and legislation. The objective of these activities was to intensify sustainable forest management, ensure wood supply and boost rational large-scale forestry. However, the notion of forest conservation was included in the forest legislation and concepts such as 'protected forest' and 'retention trees' were added to the forest management and increased emissions from the mills were heavily criticised by the public and environmental organisations, thus, resulting in increased attention towards the pulp and paper industry's environmental issues.

# Historical reconfigurations in the pulp and paper industry's sustainable value creation logic

When considering the long-term historical development of the Finnish forest sector's sustainable value creation logic, the findings of Article I suggest that the value creation logic has been reconfigured according to changes in and needs of the business environment. The sector has secured its economic sustainability by ensuring continuous efficient manufacturing in integrated mill sites with cheap key resources, thus the value creation logic has followed economies of scale and integration. The sector has adopted new value-creating practices and developed new products and processes as well as collaborated with other actors when it has been beneficial. Similarly, the sector has been an active participant in political decisionmaking and public discussions. Regarding social sustainability, during the first and second phases, the entrepreneurial factory owners had an important role in providing well-being for the employees, their families and the whole mill region through offering, e.g., work, healthcare, accommodation and leisure-time activities. Similarly, environmental sustainability has been important, but it has mainly been related to ensuring a sustainable vield of wood raw materials by applying sustainable forest management practices. Thus, forest ecosystems have been considered as a resource bank offering provisioning services of wood-based raw materials. Important aspects of RDI have also been in increasing environmentally friendly manufacturing by reducing emissions from the processes. However, the environmental friendliness of the sector's activities has been increasingly challenged, along with the increasing environmental awareness of the public. Despite that the forest sector has done adaptations in its sustainable value creation logic, it has favoured a businessas-usual strategy, which has been overruled only by a radical change in the business environment forcing the sector to change.

During its 150 or so years of history as an important industrial sector, the forest sector has established and stabilised its role in Finland. It has been an important societal actor with

large influencing power in political decision-making as well as in public discussions. It is still considered one of the cornerstones of the Finnish economic system, and its role is expected to remain the same or even grow within the evolving circular bioeconomy, which in the Finnish context is mainly comprehended as a forest-based bioeconomy. Therefore, the sector's ability to reconfigure its value creation logic due to the global economic, environmental and social challenges, and take part in the sustainability transitions as a truly sustainable industrial sector, is crucial for creating benefits and well-being for the planet, society and the economy.

#### Forest sector's currently adapting value creation logic

The second research question of this dissertation is how the forest sector's value creation logic is currently adapting to the changes occurring in the business environment. According to the findings of Articles I and II, the Finnish pulp and paper industry's value creation logic has been stabilised as capital-intensive and natural-resource-based, where three MNEs are dominant actors in the value-creating network following business logics of economies of scale and integration. Sustainability is considered as an essential part of value creation, which is largely the result of stakeholders affecting the industry's operations. The findings of Article II indicate that the industry is currently adapting its value creation logic due to many economic, environmental and social change drivers originating from the business environment. Yet, the adaptations have been only incremental. The three MNEs are having an increasing amount of cross-sectoral collaboration in circular bioeconomy-related RDI activities, but not with each other. They are manufacturing some new pulp-based products with new processes, and the paper-based business is transforming into a packaging business. However, the sustainability-related adaptations in the value creation logic have been contested, as the social and environmental dimensions are not sufficiently implemented.

## The forest sector's current stabilised value creation logic following economies of scale and integration

The fourth phase, as indicated in Article I, represents the current stabilised business network and value creation logic of the Finnish pulp and paper industry (Figure 8). Structural changes in the Finnish business system due to critical events, such as the collapse of the Soviet Union, the Finnish recession, a shift to a free-market economy and EU membership, also caused structural changes in the forest industry companies at the turn of the 1980-90s. Massive reconfigurations in the business network and value creation logic occurred, because renewed competition legislation made the formal agreements of wood and chemical prices, and manufacturing and exporting quotas illegal. Thus, the previously powerful actors of cooperation organisations and financial institutions disappeared, or their roles changed. Even though formal agreements were illegal, state- and other organisation-led collaboration was still present, and the actors performing these activities are called stakeholders. The role of stakeholders includes different public and private interest groups: the public, consumers, banks, shareholders, NGOs and lobbying organisations. Central association, renamed as the Finnish Forest Industries Federation, transformed into a lobbyist and employers' association, but it maintained its strong role in advocating and reporting forest industry-related issues towards the state and the EU. Structural changes in the companies resulted in consolidations



**Figure 8.** The Finnish pulp and paper industry's currently stabilised business network. The size and boldness of the font represent the power of that role: the bigger and bolder the font is, the more power the role has. Arrows represent relationships and interactions between roles. Double-arrowed lines are reciprocal, and one-directional arrows indicate parallel interaction. Source: Article I Laakkonen et al. 2022.

and three big global corporations (MNEs), UPM, Stora Enso and Metsä Group, became dominant actors, overtaking many of the activities performed by the disappeared actors.

There were also changes in resources and activities. Due to the globalisation of the industry, the MNEs had global manufacturing with lower raw material and manufacturing costs. The industry's manufacturing strategy followed the idea of more-of-the-same, where the manufactured products remained rather similar, but manufactured amounts increased. With the help of the forest cluster and its competence system, the Finnish forest sector had become an international leader in technology and one of the most modern and productive industrial sectors in the world. The introduction of economic, environmental and social sustainability through the concept of sustainable development, together with increasing environmental awareness of global consumers and customers, had a strong impact on the activities and value creation logic of the pulp and paper industry. The MNEs started to take sustainability issues seriously and see them as an essential part of value-creating activities and a means to create a competitive advantage. Thus, it can be said that the forest sector's value creation logic had stabilised as capital-intensive and natural-resource-based, where business logics of economies of scale and integration are followed (Article II).



Figure 9. The pulp and paper industry's adapting value creation logic presented through the business environment transformation cycle framework. Arrows represent the direction of the transformation phases and the occurring adaptations in the industry's value creation logic due to identified conditioning change drivers originating from macro-, meso- and micro-levels. Source: Article II Laakkonen et al

## Currently occurring cross-sectoral sustainability adaptations in the forest sector's value creation logic

However, there are implications that the forest sector's business network and value creation logic are under pressure to change due to critical events occurring in the global business environment. Global macro-, meso- and micro-level economic, environmental and social change drivers are having an immense impact on the Finnish forest sector (Article II). Climate change and biodiversity loss are among the most influential global change drivers affecting the forest sector's value creation logic. Globalisation and digitalisation have affected the forest sector by changing the markets and demands for the sector's traditional products. In addition, the acknowledged potential of social innovations, non-wood forest products and services, and general tertiarisation create pressures to reconfigure the sector's traditional value creation logic. Similarly, changing forest ownership (Article II) and forest owners' different attitudes and perceptions towards changes (Article IV) are affecting the sector. The introduction of global, EU and national-level policies and strategies that aim at a transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy are possibly transforming the forest sector and its value creation logic.

According to the findings of Article II, the Finnish pulp and paper industry has started to explore path-breaking sustainable business innovations to respond to the change drivers changing the business environment (Figure 9). In the industry's strategic narrative, these innovations are related to utilising renewable, recyclable and biodegradable bio-based resources in the manufacturing of products. Similarly, the industry has started to create a common development agenda to promote those innovations by having a strategic narrative of being a forerunner in sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy. Thus, it can be said that an exploration phase has been initiated. The pulp and paper industry has started to adapt its value creation logic, and thus a mobilisation phase is in progress. According to the strategic narrative, the most significant adaptations in the value creation logic seem to be occurring in the key activities, because collaborative RDI activities have gained increased importance, along with manufacturing semi-finished B2B bulk products, which is one key activity in the traditional value creation logic. Each MNE has a slightly different strategy for operationalising the RDI activities. The MNEs are not collaborating with each other but the creation of collaborative coalitions between different actors from outside the traditional pulp and paper industry is central in all strategies. In addition, all MNEs have widened their product catalogue and started to manufacture new, sustainable, bio-based products with new processes. Many of the new products and processes are related to utilising pre- and postmanufacturing side-streams, such as sawdust or lignin, from the current processes, and thus approaches from the circular economy are introduced in the value creation logic. However, this has been enabled by manufacturing large amounts of traditional products, such as (market) pulp and different paper grades. In addition, the traditional paper-based business is transforming into a packaging business, because communication and writing papers are partly being substituted with different paperboard grades and packaging solutions.

All sustainability dimensions, economic, social and environmental, are considered in the pulp and paper industry's strategic narrative and adapting value creation logic, and the sustainable development goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN) are used to conceptualise sustainability. The economic dimension is emphasised as the industry creates economic value by utilising renewable wood from sustainably managed forests. Thus, as in the bioeconomy in general, natural resources are considered as the key resource for value creation. The creation of environmental value relates to mitigating climate change, maintaining

biodiversity and managing forests sustainably. The creation of social value covers issues such as leadership, work safety and community development.

Based on the findings of Article II, the pulp and paper industry has not gone through a concrete business transformation, but rather a business renewal. The adaptations in the value creation logic have not been radical and system-wide but rather aimed at stability and incremental changes in the existing value-creating network. The actors, resources and activities are to a large extent the same as in the traditional value creation logic introduced in Article I. The industry has sought to stabilise the incremental reconfigurations in the value creation logic, but it seems that the strategic sustainability narrative is not consistent with the actions. This has lead to a conflict hampering both the sector's transformation and the stabilisation of the adapted value creation logic. The sustainability of the value-creating activities has especially been contested, as the environmental and social aspects are currently covered mainly only in the MNEs' communication activities and in many corporate responsibility initiatives; thus, it seems that holistic sustainability is not sufficiently implemented in the value creation logic. It remains debatable as to whether the value creation logic can be considered as following the ideas of strong and holistic sustainability, as the business case and creation of economic value are emphasised. Resolving these misfits related to the differing perceptions of the forest sector's and bioeconomy's sustainability between the actors within the forest sector, political decision-makers, different stakeholders and the general public will be of crucial importance if the sector wants to remain as a central actor in the new sustainable economic model aiming at creating common good.

#### Optional reconfigurations for the forest sector's future value creation logic

The third research question of this dissertation focuses on what kind of optional reconfigurations does the forest sector's value creation logic have in responding to the identified change drivers within the business environment. The findings of Articles III and IV indicate that the forestry service companies and forest owners seem to be ready to reconfigure their perspectives and value creation logic to respond to the change drivers originating from the business environment. The findings of Article III indicate that new types of forestry services with reconfigured value co-creation logic could be introduced to the forest sector. The change drivers within the business environment related to changing forest ownership and digitalisation, along with the theoretical implications of the increasing importance of collaboration and intangible resources for companies' value-creating activities, provide seeds for reconfiguring the mindsets of forestry service companies. The findings of Article IV indicate that forest owners and their climate change attitudes and readiness to change could act as drivers for optional reconfigurations in the forest sector's value co-creation logic, thus enabling, for example, the provisioning of novel forestry services and introducing new forest management practices.

#### Collaborative value co-creation in forestry services

In Article III, a potential new type of forest holding management service, forest leasing, with a focus on wood production, was used as a case to investigate whether new value creation logic of operating in a collaborative value network, where an integrator acts as an orchestrator, could be introduced to the forest sector. Due to changes in the business environment, the traditional forestry service mindset to maximise the amount of bought timber, being a separate part of a value-adding chain and seeing forest owners merely as timber producers, might not be enough. For example, the changing forest ownership will result in changing objectives for owning and managing forests. Similarly, the forest owners' attitudes and behavioural intentions to change the forest management activities (Article IV) will have an impact on the future provisioning of forestry services.

The findings of Article III proposed two potential value networks for the forest leasing service, illustrating the key roles that are needed for organising the service (Figure 10). When analysing the networks through the ARA-framework, the actors in the value network are the integrator, forest owner, roundwood purchaser, forest management actors, forest management support actors, forest leasing service support actors, public expert organisations and portal. The integrator is either a tenant or a consultant, and its role in the network is to coordinate and manage the leasing service towards other actors. Key resources are mainly intangible, such as the competence of the actors. Expertise, know-how and professional skills related to the actor's own field of business and activities were seen as essential resources for value creation. Key activities are related to organising, planning and conducting the actual leasing activities, such as forest management and roundwood sales. In addition, interaction and information sharing between actors are important activities that enable linking the forest owner's and roundwood purchaser's objectives to the forest management and roundwood sales activities.

According to the findings, the forest leasing service's value creation logic would be based on a reliable long-term collaborative network (Table 3), which would guarantee professional and efficient wood production and openness of all forest management activities. The key attributes of the service would be an explicit long-term leasing contract, considering the objectives of both signing parties: the forest owner and the tenant. A digital system, or a portal, would work as an important channel for interaction and planning the leasing service and forest management activities together with up-to-date (digital) forest resource information. These findings highlight that digitalisation, and its possibilities, would be utilised when organising the leasing service. An interesting finding is that the leasing service could be operable with the existing forestry service actors, resources and activities with only minor adaptations. Thus, no major changes, for example, in the existing forestry service operations would be needed. The biggest reconfiguration would be needed in the mindset of how to operate as a part of a collaborative value network, where one's own intangible resources and assets are openly shared with others. Nevertheless, there seems to be a readiness for such new thinking, as the interviewees used words such as trust, openness and transparency while talking about business collaboration.

The findings in Article III also contribute to the sustainability of forestry services. Economic sustainability is especially highlighted, as operationalising the forest leasing service could enhance value creation from forests, compared to the current situation, because it could activate absentee forest owners to bring more forest holdings under efficient management and usage. In addition, the supply of forest-based services and other business opportunities could increase, and thus also contribute to social sustainability, as rural areas would gain more work possibilities. Nevertheless, the most interesting finding related to holistic sustainability and new value co-creation possibilities is that besides wood-production-related forest ecosystem services and ways of managing and using forests, other things could also be leased. The interviewees especially mentioned issues such as tourism, hunting, non-wood forest products, carbon sequestration and landscape leasing, as well as other nature-based services that do not necessarily exist or have a monetary value yet.





## Forest owners' climate attitudes and narratives imply a readiness to change and adopt new forest management practices

Even though, in Article IV the focus was on forest owners' climate change attitudes, the findings can provide seeds and perceptions for understanding what kind of attitudes forest owners could have on other environmental change drivers, such as biodiversity loss and sustainability, as these will have tremendous effects on forests and on the ways forests will be managed in the future. According to the findings of Article IV, forest owners have different opinions and perceptions related to climate change. Although most of the interviewed forest owners were aware of climate change, and the potential effects it could have on forests, they did not report a strong readiness to change their forest management behaviour due to climate change. There were also forest owners who reported having taken action in their forest management. This readiness for change was motivated more by objectives than concern over climate change. Monetary incentives, e.g., related to carbon capture was especially mentioned as a motivation to change behaviour. Many forest owners reported a deep trust in forest professionals for providing advice on how to manage forests, and thus the professionals' knowledge and attitudes can either support or hamper the forest owners' behavioural change. In general, forest owners' forest-management-related attitudes and behaviour were affected by actual observations of change in their forests combined with personal beliefs, social pressures, financial barriers and knowledge base.

To gain a more comprehensive understanding of forest owners' attitudes towards climate change within their own forests, the forest owners were divided into five positions based on their climate change narratives (Figure 11). The theory-based attitudinal positioning of forest owners was done according to forest owners' strength of belief regarding behavioural control (perceived control and subjective norms) and strength of belief towards climate change (cognitive and affective components) in their own forests. The five positions were pragmatists, purists, deniers, fatalists and ponderers. The pragmatists (A, D and H) can be sceptical or uncertain about climate change being a problem, but they might perform climatechange-responsive actions if they gain something from it, as a precaution, or to meet other forest management goals. The purists (E) change their behaviour and act because they are concerned about their forests due to climate change. The deniers (C) deny climate change as a phenomenon and the role of forests in it. The fatalists (I and J) are aware of and understand climate change as a problem and the role of forest management therein, however, they think that their actions do not matter in mitigating climate change. Between these rather extreme positions, there was an intermediate position of ponderers who were either unconcerned (B, F, G and L), as they are aware of climate change, but not sure whether it is a problem and thus they are passive; or concerned (K), as they are concerned about the effects of climate change to their forests but cannot choose how to respond.

These five attitudinal positions of forest owners' narratives on climate change could act as a base for understanding and finding those forest owners who would be more willing and ready to change their forest management behaviour according to the forest sector's reconfiguring value creation logic. For example, the provider of the forest leasing service (Article III) could utilise the attitudinal positioning when targeting the forest leasing service to the forest owner with the right kind of attitude. Similarly, the forest owners' deep trust in forest professionals' expertise in advising forest management should be considered when planning and operationalising sustainable forest management activities with the reconfigured value creation logic.



**Figure 11.** Forest owners' narratives on climate change according to theoretical orientations towards climate change in their own forests. Letter symbols in the picture depict an example forest owner. The positions are based on the qualitative interpretation of quotations translated from the interview data of the study. Source Article IV Laakkonen et al. 2018. See the article for more details and example quotations.

### DISCUSSION

In this chapter, I will discuss the gained knowledge on the phenomenon introduced in the dissertation's research framework (Figure 1). The knowledge on the sustainability-related phenomenon was obtained from four individual studies, where the reconfiguring value cocreation logic of the forest sector was investigated from the meso level (pulp and paper industry) and the micro level (forestry service companies and forest owners). The findings are discussed and reflected to consider the whole forest-based sector at the macro level. First, I will discuss the main findings of the dissertation by providing answers to the research questions and the main objective. Second, I will give theoretical implications, and thus provide contributions to closing the identified research gaps related to the theoretical positioning of the dissertation: research on value co-creation logic. Third, I will provide managerial and political implications to give practical suggestions for business and political decision-makers when planning holistically sustainable business activities and policies within the forest sector. Last, I will evaluate the scientific quality of the dissertation and provide suggestions for future research.

#### **Discussion on the main findings**

The main findings of the dissertation are discussed by answering the three research questions; how the forest sector's value creation logic has previously adapted, how it is currently adapting and what kind of optional reconfigurations there might be. In addition, an answer to the main objective will be provided by discussing it through the empirical and theoretical findings on how the forest sector's value creation logic is changing due to a sustainable circular bioeconomy.

## How has the forest sector's value creation logic previously adapted to meet the changes in the business environment?

The first research question of this dissertation was how the forest sector's value creation logic has previously adapted to meet the changes in the business environment. According to the findings, the forest sector has been able to reconfigure its value creation logic due to changes in the business environment. First, critical external and internal events occurring in the business environment have affected the forest sector's network and resulted in reconfigurations. Sometimes the sector has been proactive with the reconfigurations, for example, when it has been concerned about securing key resources, it has actively influenced the decision-makers and the establishment of forest management organisations. But most often the reconfigurations have happened out of necessity, for example, when the sector's sustainability had been contested, especially by the public and NGOs, it reluctantly adopted sustainability practices. Therefore, it can be said that the developments in the forest sector have been rather reactive, and adaptations have occurred after critical events, which demonstrates that the business network can be seen as an emergent structure (Håkansson and Snehota 1995). Similarly, the framework of change in business networks introduced by Halinen et al. (1999) is supported, because on the one hand, network inertia restrains change in the network, and on the other hand, critical events trigger a change in the network (Halinen et al. 1999).

Second, the maturity level of the sector has played an important role in reconfiguring the value creation logic. When the sector was still establishing itself, the changes were more proactive. After reaching maturity and being an established sector, the responses to changes became more reactive. This finding is in line with the notion that, in mature sectors, developments tend to be incremental and aim at maintaining the industry's established ways of operating and creating value (Prahalad and Bettis 1986; Möller et al. 2020). Reaching maturity has made the sector path-dependent and locked-in to chosen technologies, as stated also by, e.g., Näsi et al. (2001) and Luhas et al. (2019). In addition, after the forest sector had reached maturity, the role of institutions as both enablers and conditioners for the occurring developments increased, which is consistent with previous studies (North 1990; Matthyssens et al. 2013). Similarly, the sector has gained a strong institutional position within Finnish society, a finding that is in line with a previous study (Lamberg et al. 2017).

Third, the sector has always been concerned about securing its key resources of cheap raw materials, energy and labour with a varying focus; thus, ensuring the economic sustainability of business activities. As a capital-intensive, natural-resource-based industry (Andersen et al. 2018), it has made sense to secure the supply of raw materials. However, an interesting finding is that the importance of intangible resources of competence and relationships in the value creation logic has increased over time. The interactions and resource integration within the business network have especially enabled the construction of the forest cluster's competence system. This competence system has become a crucial factor in the competitive advantage of the forest sector, which highlights the role of actors' social capabilities (Tate and Bals 2018) and knowledge and expertise (Mouzas and Ford 2012) in the value creation logic.

Fourth, co-operational formal and informal activities and related actors have been important for the forest sector even though the companies were also competitors. During the first three development periods, the sector's actors co-operated through the whole production chain, from the forests to the mill sites and foreign markets. Similarly, co-operation was present in RDI activities, especially related to technological developments. This finding supports earlier studies stating that coopetition will have positive outcomes related to innovation, knowledge sharing, firm performance and relationships (Bengtsson and Raza-Ullah 2016). However, it contradicts with Guerrero and Hansen's (2018) review, where they state that cross-sector collaboration is difficult for the forest sector.

### How is the forest sector's value creation logic currently adapting to the changes occurring in the business environment?

The second research question of this dissertation was how the forest sector's value creation logic is currently adapting to the changes occurring in the business environment. The findings indicate that the forest sector's value creation logic is incrementally adapting due to the economic, environmental and social change drivers originating from the business environment. First, it can be stated that the forest sector has indicated a readiness to reconfigure its value creation logic even though previous studies have noted that the sector's path-dependency and strong institutional position can hinder the reconfiguration (Lamberg et al. 2017; Luhas et al. 2019). However, the occurred adaptations in the value creation logic have been only incremental; thus, the sector is trying to sustain the traditional and stabilised capital-intensive value creation logic based on logics of economies of scale and integration, where renewable wood-based biomass is utilised for manufacturing B2B bulk-products in integrated mills.

Second, cross-sectoral collaboration in RDI activities is increasing within the sector, as the three MNEs are collaborating with other bioeconomy-related actors. This is an important development within the sector's strategic narrative and value creation logic, because crosssectoral co-operation between business and non-business actors related to sustainability innovations is important. This has been acknowledged in previous studies considering the circular forest-based bioeconomy (Weiss et al. 2020; Guerrero and Hansen 2021) as well as other industrial sectors (Todeschini et al. 2020; Fontoura and Coelho 2022). Due to these RDI activities, the MNEs within the forest sector have started to manufacture new pulp-based products with new processes, where the pre- and post-manufacturing side-streams are especially utilised. This has been made possible by manufacturing large amounts of traditional products of pulp and paper. This finding is in line with two previous studies that have a different perspective on the new produce of the sector. The first study states that the future product portfolios of the sector's companies are expected to become more diversified with new and possibly more value-added products (Näyhä 2021), while the second study estimates that large parts of the sector's manufacturing might be lower value-added products (Hietala and Huovari 2017). The findings of this dissertation confirm the findings of both previous studies: the sector is increasingly manufacturing new and more value-added products with the help of traditional lower value-added products.

Third, even though sustainability is considered as an essential part of the forest sector's strategic narrative and value creation logic, it is especially contested by many stakeholders stating that the social and environmental dimensions are not sufficiently implemented and not consistent with activities. Despite that, the findings of this dissertation show that the sector is actively communicating its strategic sustainability narrative and vision of being a forerunner in a sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy. In addition, the sector's MNEs have implemented corporate responsibility initiatives intending to increase environmental and social sustainability. This finding confronts the findings of previous studies contesting the sector's environmental and social sustainability (Lehtimäki et al. 2011; Myllylä and Takala 2011; Eyvindson et al. 2018; Temmes and Peck 2020; Gonzalez-Porras et al. 2021). In addition, the dissertation's findings indicate that, to some extent, the sector is starting to understand what holistically sustainable value co-creation means: sustainable value is cocreated among different stakeholders also including natural ecosystems and society (Matthies et al. 2016; Evans et al. 2017; Tate and Bals 2018). However, the currently occurring incremental adaptations in the forest sector's value creation logic might not be enough for the needed transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy. The scarce and limited biomass from forest ecosystems should be utilised in a cascading manner to the longest-lasting and highest-value products, while also recognising forest ecosystems' role in mitigating climate change and halting biodiversity loss.

### What kind of optional reconfigurations does the forest sector's value creation logic have in responding to the identified change drivers within the business environment?

The third research question of this dissertation focused on what kind of optional reconfigurations does the forest sector's value creation logic have in responding to the identified change drivers within the business environment. The findings suggest that forestry companies are ready to offer forest management services with reconfigured value co-creation logic due to change drivers originating from the business environment. In addition, a portion of forest owners who would possibly be ready to use forest management services with the new value co-creation logic can be identified. First, new types of forestry services could be

introduced to the forest sector without major changes in the existing actors and forestry activities within the value-creating networks, thus merely alterations within the value creation logic and business model are needed. Reconfiguring the value creation logic to one that is sustainable, collaborative and cross-sectoral could lead to offering differentiated forestry services that would respond to the different customer needs and decision-making behaviour of different forest owners, which has been suggested in previous studies (Hujala et al. 2013; Häyrinen et al. 2017; Andersson and Keskitalo 2019; Snyder et al. 2019).

Second, changing forest ownership and digitalisation are among those identified change drivers that will cause optional reconfigurations in the forest sector's value creation logic. This finding supports previous studies on changing forest ownership (Viitala and Leppänen 2014; Weiss et al. 2019) and the impacts of digitalisation and digital platforms on the forest sector (Hetemäki and Hurmekoski 2016; Watanabe et al. 2017). However, probably the most influential change drivers causing reconfigurations in the value creation logic are related to sustainability and circular bioeconomy. The findings suggest that the provisioning of forestry services can be diversified to also include more than wood-production-related forest ecosystem services, such as maintenance and regulating services. In addition, it can meet the needs of those forest owners who are not happy with the current forestry services, as previous studies have pointed out that there is an increasing amount of these kinds of forest owners (Pynnönen et al. 2018; Takala et al. 2022). This notion widens the traditional perspective of forestry services and the forest sector to forest-based services and forest-based sector, where forest ecosystems as a whole are considered.

Third, the role of intangibles in the value creation logic will increase. The investigated potential forest leasing service indicated that considering intangible exchanges, that is serving each other with skills and knowledge, within the value-creating network might be the required potential reconfiguration that will make the forest sector's value creation logic holistically sustainable. This finding is in line with previous findings investigating the forest sector's strategies, stating that services and collaborative value co-creation by sharing information and knowledge are increasingly acknowledged (Pelli et al. 2017). According to strategic and network management theories, the intangible exchanges within value-creating networks both enable and enhance the collaborative and long-term activities, creating trust and transparency between actors (Allee 2003), while also operating as that little extra something that creates the novel added value in products or services (Kothandaraman and Wilson 2001; Allee 2008). This theory-based notion is consistent with the empirical findings of the investigated forest leasing service, stating that to be operable, the leasing service's value-creating network requires time, trust and collaborative activities between the actors. This finding has also been confirmed in another study investigating collaboration in forestry service and non-wood forest product companies (Hamunen et al. 2022).

Fourth, the forest owner's climate change attitude and readiness to change could act as an indicator for adopting forest management practices with the reconfigured value co-creation logic. Even though the findings indicate that forest owners are aware of climate change and its potential effect on forests, they are still not ready to change their forest management behaviour. This might be because they do not know how to adapt, as it has been pointed out in a previous study (Blennow and Persson 2009). However, the findings strongly suggest that one main reason for not adapting forest management practices is related to the forest owners' strong trust in forest professionals, which emphasises their important role in either supporting or hampering forest owners' behavioural changes. This supports previous studies acknowledging the forest professionals' role in affecting forest owners' decision-making

(Hujala et al. 2007, 2009; Hujala and Tikkanen 2008; André et al. 2017), for example when adopting more sustainable forest management practices.

Fifth, forest owners' have different perceptions and attitudes related to climate change, and based on those, forest owners can be divided into five attitudinal positions. These positions differ to some extent from different forest ownership types identified in previous studies (Karppinen et al. 2020; Koskela and Karppinen 2021); nevertheless, the positions identified in this study could guide the targeting of forest-based services and advice to forest owners with the right kind of attitude. For example, a new holistically sustainable forest-based service with some monetary compensation could be offered to pragmatists, as they seem to act if there is the possibility of gaining. This suggestion is in line with studies conducted in Norway and the USA, reporting that monetary compensation increases carbon program participation among forest owners (Håbesland et al. 2016; Latta et al. 2016; Khanal et al. 2017). In addition, purists, acting due to concern about their forests, or ponderers, not acting due to uncertainty or not knowing how to act, could be possible attitudinal positions to whom new kinds of forest-based services are targeted.

#### Sustainability perceptions in the forest sector's value creation logic over time

The main objective of this dissertation was how the value creation logic of the forest sector is changing when entering the sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy. According to the findings, the forest sector's value creation logic is slowly and incrementally changing towards holistically sustainable, collaborative and cross-sectoral value co-creation logic. First, the forest-based sector has always tried to ensure the economic sustainability of its value-creating activities. Economic viability has been ensured by following the logics of economies of scale and scope, where efficient and large-scale manufacturing is practised. For the forest-based sector, being sustainable has always meant that the supply of wood-based raw materials is secured now and in the future. The constant flow of raw materials for the forest industry, which is considered as the forest-based sector's key actor, has been ensured by influencing the political decision-makers, forest-based service companies and forest owners by highlighting the importance of the whole forest-based sector to the Finnish economy and society. In addition, value-creating networks and collaboration have been important aspects in ensuring the forest-based sector's economic sustainability. Especially in the past, they were extremely important because all value-creating activities, from forests to manufacturing and selling abroad, as well as RDI activities, were done in collaboration with actors inside the forest sector and later in the forest cluster. Currently, cross-sectoral collaboration, especially in the forest industry's RDI activities, is gaining importance. In forest-based services, collaborative value-creating networks and value co-creation seems to be gaining a foothold as a new mindset for actors.

Second, since the 1990s **environmental sustainability** has become an important factor in the forest-based sector's value creation logic, especially due to the rising environmental awareness of stakeholders and the public. To a large extent, environmental sustainability has been implemented through sustainable forest management practices, with the main aim to secure the supply of wood-based raw material where, e.g., biodiversity-related issues have been 'the necessary evil' to consider. There have been many improvements in the sector's manufacturing processes, making them more environmentally friendly. Global change drivers, such as climate change and biodiversity loss, and current developments in the business environment, such as a transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy, are putting intense pressure on the forest-based sector to alter its thinking about environmentally sustainable value co-creation. To respond to these pressures, the sector has adopted a narrative of being a forerunner in sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy. Similarly, the MNEs in the sector are increasingly implementing initiatives to increase the environmental sustainability of their operations. Furthermore, forest-based service companies and forest owners have an undeniably important role in ensuring the forest-based sector's environmentally sustainable value co-creation from forest ecosystems. Because forest-based service companies operate in forest ecosystems, their views on more diversified and holistically sustainable value co-creation are important. Thus, the finding that the forest leasing service could work as a way to manage forests for all forest ecosystem services is a promising development in the mindset of forest-based service companies. Forest owners own and control forest ecosystems and the tangible and intangible resources provided by them. Therefore, the finding that a portion of forest owners seem to be ready to adapt their forest management practices due to concern about their forests under a changing climate is encouraging.

Third, social sustainability has played an important part in the forest-based sector's value-creating activities in the past. Up until the Finnish independence, the forest industry companies had an important social role in the mill regions, because they were providing many social well-being-related issues, such as work, healthcare, accommodation and leisure-time activities, to the employees and their families, as well as the whole mill region. When the Finnish government took over many of these activities, the socially sustainable valuecreation for the sector started to relate only to the provisioning of work opportunities in the rural regions and bringing tax money to the national economy. After the forest industry expanded its operations to the Global South, it faced, and is still facing, new social sustainability-related issues, which have not always been handled decently. However, it seems that the industry has learned its lesson, and currently the MNEs are implementing many social sustainability initiatives, where the local communities and indigenous people are involved, and their perspectives are considered in the decision-making. In Finland, the forestbased sector has long seen forest owners as needing to be advised on how to manage and utilise their forests. However, the findings of the dissertation are challenging this perspective. There are forest-based service companies that aim at creating services that meet the needs of the forest owners, and not only the forest industry, and there seems to be a portion of forest owners that are ready to adopt forest management services based on a new value co-creation logic.

For the forest-based sector, a natural-resource-based, capital-intensive industrial sector, it has made sense to secure the flow of tangible raw materials and the economic sustainability of value creation, because manufacturing products in mills ties up financial and produced capital and requires a great deal of natural capital, resulting in locked-in mechanisms. Similarly, RDI activities from an idea to technological demonstration to large-scale manufacturing with an investment decision, take a long time. In addition, there should be markets and demand for developed products before making large financial investments. Therefore, investments cannot be made within a short time span. Thus, it might seem that the forest-based sector is doing nothing to reconfigure its value creation logic.

The empirical findings suggest that the actors within the forest-based sector have made sense of the needed sustainability adaptations, while acknowledging that their behaviour and action will have impacts on the business environment (Breckler 1984; Ajzen 1991), and thus indicating a readiness to change their behaviour and actions. This can be seen in the MNEs' communication activities and many corporate responsibility initiatives related to increasing

offer forestry services with new collaborative value-creating activities, and the forest owners' readiness to adapt forest management practices according to the changing climate. On the one hand, the findings suggest that the forest-based sector, especially the forest industry, seems to lack the dynamic capabilities needed to sense occurring changes, seize the opportunities related to them and reconfigure operations to meet the changed needs (Teece 2007), because the industry has changed its value creation logic only out of necessity, and the same pattern can be seen currently as only incremental adaptations in the value creation logic have been made. But on the other hand, there are signs that the forest-based service companies do possess dynamic capabilities, due to an open mindset towards new forest-based services, which might affect the whole sector's value co-creation logic and value-creating networks. In previous studies, possessing the right kind of capabilities has been stated to be an important aspect of business transformations (Möller and Svahn 2009; Van Bockhaven and Matthyssens 2017). Nevertheless, the findings indicate only a behavioural intention to act, and thus it remains to be seen what the actions will be in the future. For example, the findings also suggest that the forest-based sector's strategic narrative of already being sustainable and a forerunner in bioeconomy, together with its strong global market position and historically strong role in the Finnish national economy, is hindering, and maybe even preventing, the actions and transformation of the sector and reconfiguration of the value cocreation logic.

Despite the forest-based sector is making adaptations in its value co-creation logic, the focus of sustainable business activities is still on the business case where economic shorterterm goals supersede the holistic longer-term sustainability objectives. Therefore, the theoretical findings of this dissertation suggest that in order to reconfigure the value creation logic to truly common, holistically sustainable, regenerative and cross-sectoral value co-creation logic, the creation of financial value for the company should be considered as contributions to regenerating and preserving the natural environment while enhancing the societal well-being. The change away from the traditional business case towards holistically sustainable and regenerative value co-creation logic has been suggested in previous studies (Dyllick and Muff 2016; Landrum 2018; Hahn and Tampe 2021). Similarly, value co-creation needs to happen in collaboration with all stakeholders (Möller and Rajala 2007; Lacoste 2016; Vargo and Lusch 2016) in a forest-based sector, where forest ecosystems and the resources they provide are also considered as capital and providing many different ecosystem services (Costanza et al. 1997). These issues are crucial for the forest-based sector to transition towards a circular bioeconomy.

### **Theoretical implications**

Due to the theoretical positioning and interdisciplinary nature of this dissertation, it is difficult to provide theoretical implications related to each research tradition separately, because the theories and their concepts are intertwined. Therefore, first, the findings suggest that studying holistically sustainable value co-creation logic, value-creating networks and transition to a sustainable circular bioeconomy require extensions in actors', such as business and political decision-makers, and researchers' perspectives, where investigations are considered on different levels and conceptual frameworks are interdisciplinary. Most theories in the strategic management research stream take only a micro- and company-level perspective, where the company and its resources and capabilities are the focus of the

investigation. The perspective is that the company knows best how it can create value and a competitive advantage. The network management research stream widens the level of investigation to meso level by considering the value-creating networks, where value is co-created by network actors. To a large extent, both research streams neglect the non-business actors and natural ecosystems as someone to whom value is created. The findings suggest that to co-create holistically sustainable value, the level of investigation should be rethought: the sector and its value co-creation logic need to be considered. When all actors within a sector share the value co-creation logic, it creates more possibilities for co-creating value for the common good, for society and the planet, as no single actor would be the focus.

Second, interdisciplinary conceptual frameworks are needed in research. Perspectives from macro- and society-level transition studies are needed to understand how political decision-making, governance and strategy developments (Meyer 2017; Patterson et al. 2017; Markard et al. 2020; Rosenbloom et al. 2020) occurring in the business environment affect sustainable value co-creation logic. Meso- and network-level perspectives from network management studies are needed to understand how network structures, and relationships and interactions between actors (Håkansson and Snehota 1995, 2017; Möller and Svahn 2006; Möller and Rajala 2007) affect value creating-activities within sectors and in companies. Perspectives from strategic management studies are needed to understand how actors', individuals or companies, dynamic (Teece et al. 1997; Teece 2007) and social capabilities (Tate and Bals 2018), together with sustainable technologies (Hart 1995; Hart and Dowell 2011), contribute to co-creating economic, social and environmental value (Evans et al. 2017) and locally and globally competitive advantage (McDougall et al. 2019). In addition, psychological theories on behavioural change provide a micro- and actor-level perspective on individuals' attitudes and control beliefs and how they affect both the intention to act and actual actions and behaviour (Breckler 1984; Ajzen 1991).

Third, the change and extension in the perspectives will result in redefining the conceptualisation of the SET-system layer to also include environmental aspects; thus, it is defined as a socio-economic-technological-environmental (SETE) system layer. The developments within the nested and dynamic business environment, together with change drivers, will affect all four layers of the business environment. From micro-level daily activities at the actor layer to meso-level innovations and governance at the focal ecosystem and business field layers, and to macro-level global institutional arrangements, strategies and initiatives at the SETE-system layer. Because the economy and society are embedded in nature, and different systems are highly intertwined (Folke et al. 2016; Dasgupta 2021), the perspective on sustainable value co-creation should shift towards creating value and benefits for the common good: society, the planet and the economy (Dyllick and Muff 2016). On top of everything else, the utilisation, management and sourcing of natural resources require implementation that considers all sustainability dimensions in the manner that consequences for the natural ecosystems are minimised. This has already been suggested in previous studies relating to forest-based ecosystems and resources (Eyvindson et al. 2018; Pukkala 2021) as well as in other natural ecosystems (Neri et al. 2019; Kastner et al. 2021).

Fourth, for the network management research stream, the findings suggest that in order to investigate holistically sustainable value co-creation and related value-creating networks, all dimensions of sustainability need to be considered. Traditionally, investigations on the sustainability of networks and supply chains consider economic, economic and environmental, or economic and social aspects (Lacoste 2016; Lähtinen et al. 2016; Gliedt et al. 2018; Keränen et al. 2021). In addition, the findings suggest that the ARA-framework (Håkansson and Snehota 1995) and value network analysis (Allee 2008) can offer scientific and practical perspectives for analysing value co-creating activities within value-creating networks. The ARA-framework captures the most important theoretical concepts for analysing real-life business cases, where actors perform resource integrating activities through reciprocal interactions in dynamic networks. Value network analysis helps in mapping and visualising how actors exchange tangible and intangible value and how this value is converted, realised and co-created by actors in value-creating networks. The ARAframework and value network analysis enhanced the creation of new scientific knowledge in forest economics by acknowledging the role of tangible and intangible resources (Vargo et al. 2008; Löbler 2013), relationships and interactions in resource integration (Håkansson and Snehota 1995), and the importance of economic, environmental and social actors (Bondeli et al. 2018) in holistically sustainable value co-creation in the forest-based sector. The notion of intangibles, as a resource and an activity, have an especially essential role in value cocreation and conversion. As a resource, they are the capabilities with what sustainable value is co-created. As an activity, intangibles are the non-contractual extras, with which actors can create ideas, visions and narratives that are needed in constructing common, sustainable and cross-sectoral value co-creation logic.

Fifth, for the strategic management research stream, the findings suggest that extensions to the concept of value are needed to meet the needs of holistic sustainability. According to the findings, the value-in-use and value-in-context (Lusch and Vargo 2014) seem to be neglecting the temporal dimension of value co-creation related to operations in the forestbased sector, especially in forest-based services, where it is typical to deal with longer-time horizons than merely living in the present. Services related to forest management especially need a re-conceptualisation of value co-creation to consider the immediate value and benefits as well as the perceived and promised value of the future. In addition, the forest-based sector should extend the perception of value to a sustainable (Hart and Milstein 2003; Evans et al. 2017) and a system value (Dyllick and Muff 2016; Elkington 2020), where business activities are tools to achieve financial value and societal well-being, while preserving, protecting and regenerating natural ecosystems. This notion acknowledges that the value offered by and derived from natural ecosystems is only potential, and thus it is realised and/or destroyed by actors in their value-co-creating and resource-integrating processes, creating a positive or negative value-in-impact in the form of trade-offs (Matthies et al. 2016). Therefore, in the circular bioeconomy, the complexities and positive and negative trade-offs related to sustainability, and operating with natural ecosystems and resources, should be addressed more thoroughly, as it has been suggested in a previous study (Viaggi et al. 2021). Natural resources are different from tangible produced and intangible human resources. Although they are renewable, they are limited, and utilising them depletes ecosystems and affects them in good (e.g., increased financial and human well-being) and bad (e.g., biodiversity loss, carbon emissions) ways. Thus, to reach holistic sustainability, a balance should be found, where human activities are within the planetary boundaries and limits of ecosystems.

Sixth, for the strategic management research stream, the findings suggest that extensions and re-conceptualisations on how resources, assets and capabilities are comprehended within the resource-based view (Barney 1991), the natural resource-based view (Hart 1995; Hart and Dowell 2011; McDougall et al. 2019), and the social resource-based view (Tate and Bals 2018) of the firm, as well as in the dynamic capabilities framework (Teece et al. 1997; Teece 2007), are needed when transitioning to a sustainable circular bioeconomy. Theoretical findings suggest that to reach holistic sustainability, extra-financial capital, assets and resources, and the value derived from them, need to be acknowledged and captured in financial accounting. Nature should especially be considered, not only as a resource base but

as a capital and offering means for co-creating value for the common good, as has been pointed out by ecological economists (Costanza et al. 1997, 2017; Daily 1997). Ecological economics note that different capitals are nested, because the built (or produced) and human capital, that is the economy, are embedded within the social capital, that is the society; both are embedded in the natural capital, that is the biotic and abiotic nature (Costanza et al. 1997). The interaction between these capitals, together with the help of ecosystem services, creates human well-being (Costanza et al. 2017). Therefore, ecosystem services should be considered as assets and resources creating flows of ecosystem services providing value and benefits (MA 2005; Haines-Young and Potschin 2018) to the SETE-system, business sectors and companies to be utilised in their sustainable, value-creating activities. Sectors and companies operating with natural resources, such as the forest-based sector, are especially in a central role in sustainability transitions, and thus adopting this perspective can create many sustainable business opportunities in the future. In addition, social and human capital deserve more attention in the sustainable, value-creating activities. They are also intangible assets and resources (e.g., knowledge and competence) of an actor, and the actor's capability to exchange and convert tangible and intangible value flows is an essential part of value creation, as has been stated by Allee (Allee 2003, 2008). For example, in the forest-based sector, if a company is capable of utilising its knowledge in combining and considering the differing needs of forest owners (the provider of the biomass), the forest industry (the upgrader of the biomass) and customers (the utiliser of the biomass) in service provisioning, competitive advantage and sustainable value can be co-created. This implication is in line with a previous study pointing out that intangible and human-related resources are an important factor in the forest sector's transition to a circular bioeconomy (Näyhä 2020).

Seventh, for the psychological theories on behavioural change, the findings suggest that the theory of planned behaviour and tripartite model of attitudes could also be utilised when investigating the attitudes and behaviour of a whole sector, not only an individual. In the context of the forest sector, the attitudes and behaviour of individual actors has been studied related to, e.g., forest owners' forest management related decision-making (Belin et al. 2005; Nordlund and Westin 2011; Thompson and Hansen 2013; Karppinen and Berghäll 2015), public actors perceptions towards using wood in construction (Franzini et al. 2023) and young people's participation in forest policy development (Hujala et al. 2021). However, to achieve a sustainability transition a more systemic approach is needed where many different actors and relationships and interactions between them are considered. Investigating only the attitudes and behaviour of individual actors at the micro level might not be enough. The meso and business field level attitudes and behaviour should be considered to understand what kind of attitudes and control beliefs a larger group of actors have on reconfiguring activities. Therefore, the findings suggest that the forest-based sector could be considered as an actor possessing attitudes on the transition to circular bioeconomy and sustainable value cocreation logic as well as having certain control beliefs over the business environment.

#### Managerial and political implications

The findings of this dissertation provide managerial and political implications for the traditional forest sector on how to meet the requirements of the changing business environment, adapt to the changes in the utilisation of forest ecosystems and forest-based resources, and seize the opportunities arising from the emerging sustainable circular bioeconomy and new sustainable products, services and solutions. First, the conception of

the forest sector needs to be reconfigured. To start with, it should be a forest-based sector that also includes companies and other actors that interface with or utilise raw materials and side streams from the forest sector, as it has been suggested by Näyhä (Näyhä 2019). This allows for a more comprehensive perspective on everything forest ecosystems have to offer to the whole of creation, being it humankind, plant kingdom or animal kingdom. The offering is not only provision of biomass for producing materials, energy or nutrition, but also the maintenance and regulation of water flows, ecosystems and climate, and even providing social and cultural values in the forms of recreation, health and mental wellbeing. Thus, it should be considered as a sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy comprising of traditional forest industry (pulp, paper and wood processing industries), energy and chemical industries as well as unconventional industries and sectors, such as natural product, food, tourism and medical industries and other sectors offering solutions based on forest-based tangible and intangible resources. Similarly, the wider and more comprehensive perspective of the forest sector creates conditions for a cross-sectoral mindset and collaboration between actors.

Second, continuing from the first implication, managers and political decision-makers need to consider the whole forest ecosystem as capital and a resource base from where value and benefits for the common good are co-created. The traditional approach to forests where the amount of wood-based biomass is maximised and the forest owners are seen merely as biomass producers might not be enough in the sustainable circular bioeconomy. Therefore, adopting an ecosystem services approach can advance social and environmental well-being and help the forest-based sector and companies in co-creating sustainable and resilient business activities. Thinking business and political activities through the three service flows of provisioning (e.g., nutrition, materials and energy), regulating and maintenance (e.g., of climate, biodiversity and water flow) and cultural (e.g., experimental, intellectual and spiritual interactions with forests) services make it possible to systematically investigate different values and benefits obtained from forest ecosystems. In practice, this could mean, for example, that different uses of forests are integrated into the same forest management plan through, e.g., wood production, recreation and nature and biodiversity protection. Each actor experiences the value and benefits created differently and from a different perspective. Forest owners benefit from wood production and personal recreation, the forest industry benefits from wood production, the general public benefit from the recreation, and society and the planet benefit from the nature and biodiversity protection. From a policy and strategy point of view, it seems that the ecosystem services approach is acknowledged (EC 2018, 2021; Palahí et al. 2020; Winkel et al. 2022), and thus the forest-based sector should also adopt it.

Third, if the forest-based sector wants to truly co-create holistically sustainable value in a circular forest-based bioeconomy, it needs to acknowledge and take into account the perspectives of all actors at different levels. According to the findings, the perspectives of forest owners, forest-based service providers, and the forest industry should especially be considered. Similarly, their readiness to change and adopt new ideas will be of crucial importance when reconfiguring the sector's value co-creation logic. For the forest industry and forest-based service companies, the sustainable circular forest-based bioeconomy offers many versatile collaborative and cross-sectoral business opportunities related to different forest ecosystem services. However, the biggest change in the mindset of the forest-based sector is probably required on the perspective of how forest owners are seen. Forest owners should be seen as active actors taking part in sustainability transitions, because they are the ones making decisions related to how forest ecosystems are managed and utilised in the continuously changing business environment. Similarly, they are not a homogenous group of actors having similar ideas and perspectives, and thus it is important to consider the different attitudes related to sustainability transitions and the readiness to be involved in it. Political and business activities need to therefore be correctly targeted to the suitable attitudinal position of a forest owner, as has been suggested in this study and in many others (Pynnönen et al. 2018; Karppinen et al. 2020; Koskela and Karppinen 2021; Takala et al. 2022), to make sure that a forest owner feels that one's objectives are met. In addition, it is important to remember that forest owners have a considerable trust in forestry professionals and experts and on their advice as to how forest ecosystems should be managed; therefore, it is crucial to also include the forestry professionals and experts in the discussions and decision-making processes related to the forest-based sector's holistically sustainable value co-creation logic.

Fourth, to successfully reconfigure the value co-creation logic, managers and political decision-makers should acknowledge the importance of operating as a part of a valuecreating network, where actors co-create value by performing resource-integrating activities. If the decision-makers understand who the key actors are, what kind of resources they possess and what kind of value-creating activities they perform, they can help the forest-based sector, the companies as well as the political actors, to co-create holistically sustainable value for society, the planet and the economy. Here, the value network analysis (Allee 2008) and the ARA-framework (Håkansson and Snehota 1995) can offer tools for actors to map, visualise and analyse value co-creation and conversion in the value-creating networks. In addition, collaborating with other actors within and outside their own sector, for example in RDI activities, can enable the creation and sharing of knowledge and competence. Involving and considering a broader range of stakeholders in business activities would help companies in supporting the construction of a sustainable value co-creation logic that produces holistically sustainable and radical innovations. Suppliers, customers and end-users should all be involved in the sustainable value co-creating activities, as suggested before by Lacoste (Lacoste 2016), to ensure the holistic sustainability of the whole supply chain. Similarly, it is important to understand the wider network and external environment and what kind of sustainability and responsibility-related expectations markets and society put on the forestbased sector, as has been pointed out in previous studies (Ranacher et al. 2017; Näyhä 2020). Equally important is to acknowledge that addressing sustainability issues in business activities can create tensions within the value-creating networks and between actors. In a previous study, it was noticed that this is especially applicable when the network is complex and actors have differing values and goals (Tura et al. 2019). Therefore, especially in purposeful strategic value networks actors should be aware of the objectives and goals of the network. This is also applicable in the more extensive value-creating networks, where a common understanding of holistic sustainability aspects should be created with an even wider group of versatile actors, because a single actor cannot determine sustainability alone. Creating a common understanding can help in avoiding conflicts, gain better societal acceptance, and increase the long-term resilience of business and political activities.

Fifth, it could be beneficial for the forest-based sector actors and political decision-makers to practise strategic foresight (Heger and Rohrbeck 2012; Vecchiato 2012) to actively prepare for changes in the business environment. Strategic foresight can help actors to create understandings and perceptions of different types of futures, the opportunities they provide and to be prepared for those opportunities and the needs of future society. Similarly, strategic foresight can be considered as a company's or sector's dynamic capability (Teece 2007; Fergnani 2022). When strategic foresight is considered as a dynamic capability, changes in the business environment are actively interpreted, possible futures based on these changes

are outlined and evaluated, and most importantly, the information from these futures for creating competitive advantage is utilised (Fergnani 2022). Being open to the change signals and opportunities originating from the business environment can help companies and sectors to alter their business activities in advance and thus be the "future-fittest" (Hansen et al. 2020).

#### Evaluation of the scientific quality and suggestions for future research

Following a qualitative research design brings about challenges related to evaluating the quality of the conducted research. Evaluating the quality of research has two general characteristics: first, how strong the links between the empirical and theoretical domains are, and second, how well the creation of these links, resulting from the interplay between the chosen theoretical, empirical and methodological approaches, are described and reflected (Dubois and Gibbert 2010; Dubois and Gadde 2014). The research processes of the individual studies have been described in detail in the corresponding articles. Considering the dissertation, the qualitative research approach worked well with the chosen research framework, as the purpose was to create understandings of and interpret the phenomena altering the forest sector's value creation logic in the changing business environment. The case study research strategy, with abductive and retroductive reasoning logic, allowed the creation of new knowledge and different perspectives to investigate the forest sector from different levels. In this dissertation, the case, the reconfiguring value creation logic in the Finnish forest sector, acted as an empirical real-life subject that was investigated in its own context through theoretical and conceptual frameworks (Siggelkow 2007; Piekkari et al. 2009; Thomas and Myers 2015). Due to the non-linear, iterative and long-term research process, the abductive (Dubois and Gadde 2002) and retroductive (Fletcher 2017) reasoning logics were suitable. The conceptual framework of the dissertation evolved along the empirical observations, resulting in modifying and rejecting theory-based observations due to conflicting empirical observations (Dubois and Gadde 2002; Dubois and Gibbert 2010). Similarly, in the dissertation, social relations and structures causing events to happen in the business environment were identified (Fletcher 2017), resulting in re-conceptualising the new theoretical knowledge (Vincent and O'Mahoney 2018). The chosen research design was especially suitable because the philosophical position of critical realism acknowledges that knowledge production is theory-laden or -dependent, but theories can be fallible, and thus our knowledge of reality can be false (Fletcher 2017; Piekkari and Welch 2018).

The data for the individual articles were collected with two kinds of methods, document selection and interviews, and the data analysis methods followed the ideas from qualitative theory-driven content analysis. The collected data and applied analysis methods both enabled creating theoretical and empirical understandings of and knowledge on the forest sector's reconfiguring value creation logic. Context-specific documents allowed the identification of past (Article I) and current (Article II) developments within the sector's meso-level value creation logic. The scientific quality and validity were ensured by conducting triangulations of data, where the selected secondary data consisted of many different types of documents (Article I), investigators, where authors discussed and cross-checked the interpretations and reflections derived from the data (Article I and II), and theories, where theories from different research streams were utilised in explaining and interpreting the case (Article II) (Stake 1995; Eriksson and Kovalainen 2016). Interviews enabled gaining in-depth knowledge and micro-level actor perspectives on the possible future value creation logic in forest-based services

(Article III) and the forest owner's attitudes and readiness to respond to these possible changes (Article IV). The number of interviewees in Article III (12) and Article IV (20) was relatively small but comparable with qualitative studies in general; thus, the findings of both articles should be considered as examples rather than representative results. However, as the purpose of this qualitative dissertation is to gain understandings of the investigated phenomena, the results do not need to be statistically representative (Eriksson and Kovalainen 2016). The theory-driven content analysis methods applied in all individual articles contributed to theoretically and conceptually framing the empirical findings of the reconfiguring value creation logic (Article I, II and III) and the forest owners' understandings and attitudes towards climate change (Article IV) in the context of the forest sector.

Some suggestions for future research can be made. First, it would be worthwhile to study the value capture-related aspects, that is the financial and revenue aspects, when companies' value co-creation logic is based on holistic sustainability: how a company can contribute to preserving and regenerating the natural environment and enhancing societal well-being while creating financial value. Second, it would be interesting to investigate holistically sustainable business activities based on forest ecosystem services and how to enhance the well-being of the ecosystem, the planet and society through business activities. Especially interesting would be not to only acknowledge the obvious provisioning of forest-based biomass for material, nutrition and energy but also to investigate how value can be created and captured with regulating and maintenance services as well as cultural services.

Third, as the leasing service has been introduced to the Finnish market by two companies at present, it would be interesting to examine whether their business model and value creation logic follows the one identified in Article III. If so, does the collaborative value creation logic work in real life and are the value network's roles and value exchanges similar to those identified in the study? In addition, extending the leasing service to other ecosystem services would be worthwhile to study. Fourth, it would be intriguing to conduct a follow-up study, with the forest owners interviewed in Article IV. It has been nearly ten years since the interviews, and climate change, biodiversity loss and other sustainability issues have gained increasingly more attention in policy, business and public since then. Would the attitudes and readiness to change be the same? Would the forest owners have noticed some changes in the forests? Would the attitudinal positions be the same? Fifth, related to all the previous points, it would be important to investigate the provisioning and offering of forest-based services following a holistically sustainable value co-creation logic to forest owners, because especially in Finland, the forest owners have a crucial role in deciding how forest ecosystems will be managed now and in the future.

### CONCLUSIONS: THE FOREST-BASED SECTOR'S HOLISTICALLY SUSTAINABLE WAY FORWARD

To meet the demands of the even more dynamic, complex and volatile global business environment where critical events, sometimes sudden and unexpected, have unpredictable impacts on companies, sectors and whole SETE-systems, the forest-based sector should be more flexible, agile and ready to alter its networks and value co-creation logic. The global climate emergency, together with accelerating biodiversity loss, are examples of critical events that require urgent actions in the global SETE-system. The IPCC's report (IPCC 2022) recognises the interdependencies between climate, ecosystems and human societies, meaning that changes in one will have impacts on the other; thus, measures taken to adapt to climate change require interdisciplinarity, where natural, ecological, social and economic sciences and perspectives are integrated. In addition, the UN's Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), as well as the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), are both calling for immediate actions to conserve and restore biodiversity and different ecosystems with activities that understand the diverse values of nature, while also ensuring the equity, social inclusion and well-being of people and societies (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity 2020; CBD 2022; IPBES 2022). Similar developments are also seen to be evolving at the European level (Palahí et al. 2020) and in Finland (Pouta et al. 2023). It is also very likely that there will be even more unexpected events, such as the Covid-19 pandemic or the war between Russia and Ukraine, and the following financial sanctions by the EU and USA and the energy crisis, that will continue to affect the whole world where some business sectors, nations and regions will be losers and some winners.

To really make just and sustainable transitions and reconfigure value creation logic towards truly common, holistically sustainable, regenerative and cross-sectoral value cocreation logic, the concept and perception of sustainability needs redefining. The traditional sustainability framework of the triple bottom line, where the aim is to balance the three dimensions and the focus of value-creating activities, is on the business case leading to weak sustainability needs to be changed to holistic sustainability, where the three dimensions are nested, and the focus of value-creating activities is on creating common good leading to holistic sustainability (Dyllick and Muff 2016; Landrum 2018). Thus, it is suggested to adopt a system view on business sustainability, where instead of only looking at the business case and one company, the perspective is on the whole sector and how it could enhance holistic business sustainability at a system level; thus, value co-creation logic is more like a system logic leading to regenerative business strategies (Hahn and Tampe 2021), where the viability and resilience of natural ecosystems comes first. In addition, the perspectives on and order of sustainability strategies (Grunwald 2020) need to be reconsidered. First, the satisfaction of needs should be achieved by consuming and producing less, thus following the sufficiency strategy. Here, continuous quantitative growth and material prosperity are replaced with qualitative growth and development objectives and post-material values of solidarity, community and functional ecosystems. Second, renewable bio-based materials should be used according to the principles of circular economy, thus following the eco-effectiveness or consistency strategy. Here, ecologically harmful material flows are replaced with more environmentally friendly material flows and resource use to make quantitative reductions on, e.g., pollution, while reaching also qualitative improvements. Lastly, the materials that are taken into use should be used as efficiently as possible, thus following the eco-efficiency

strategy. Here the aim is to utilise the lowest possible amounts and losses of materials and energy in producing products and services with the help of new or improved technologies and processes while continuing quantitative growth.

Therefore, to meet the growing global demand for holistically sustainable and just solutions, the forest-based sector and its companies need to alter and abandon their overconsumptive and destructive value creation logic and enter a holistically sustainable circular bioeconomy, a development that has been suggested for many sectors in previous studies (Fritsche and Rösch 2020; Bocken and Short 2021). They need to develop radically new cross-sectoral innovations that respect the environmental boundaries and consider the social impacts of the business activities. The solutions need to tackle the global challenges on a large-scale but consider the local environmental and social context and ensure local security of supply. In addition, the global and local value-creating networks and supply chains should be transparent and beneficial to all actors. All of this should be done on a rather short timescale.

The possible future developments and reconfigurations on the forest-based sector's value co-creation logic and value-creating networks might follow the historical developments and pathways, as I have concluded in Article I. Will the reconfigurations result in an emergence of a new forest-based business sector with innovative outsider entrepreneurs (first phase)? Will the reconfigurations be incremental, where new raw materials and products substitute old fossil-based raw materials and products (second phase)? Will there be more collaboration with other business sectors by creating new value-creating networks (third phase)? Will the sector's established large companies go through structural changes and rearrange their operations (fourth phase)? I would like to conclude my dissertation by stating that whether or not the reconfigurations in the forest-based sector's value co-creation logic and networks will result in something that has been previously seen or something totally new, the reconfigured common, holistically sustainable, regenerative and cross-sectoral value co-creation logic should consider value-creating business activities as a means to achieve societal well-being while preserving, protecting and regenerating natural ecosystems.
## REFERENCES

- Aarikka-Stenroos L, Jaakkola E, Harrison D, Mäkitalo-Keinonen T (2017) How to manage innovation processes in extensive networks: A longitudinal study. Ind Mark Manag 67: 88–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.09.014.
- Abrahamsen MH, Håkansson H (2012) Networks in transition. The IMP Journal 6: 194–209.
- Ajzen I (1991) The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 50: 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T.
- Ajzen I (2011) The theory of planned behaviour: Reactions and reflections. Psychol Health 26: 1113–1127. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2011.613995.
- Ajzen I, Joyce N, Sheikh S, Cote NG (2011) Knowledge and the Prediction of Behavior: The Role of Information Accuracy in the Theory of Planned Behavior. Basic Appl Soc Psych 33: 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2011.568834.
- Akaka MA, Vargo SL, Lusch RF (2012) An Exploration of Networks in Value Cocreation: A Service-Ecosystems View. In: Vargo SL, Lusch RF (eds) Review of Marketing Research. Vol. 9. Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp 13–50. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1548-6435(2012)0000009006.
- Allee V (2003) Value Networks and Evolving Business Models for the Knowledge Economy. In: Holsapple CW (ed) Handbook on Knowledge Management: Knowledge Directions. Vol. 1. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 605–621. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-24748-7\_29.
- Allee V (2008) Value network analysis and value conversion of tangible and intangible assets. J Intellect Cap 9: 5–24. https://doi.org/10.1108/14691930810845777.
- Allee V (2009) Value-creating networks: organizational issues and challenges. Learn Organ 16: 427–442. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696470910993918.
- Allee V, Schwabe O (2015) Value networks and the true nature of collaboration. Meghan-Kiffer Press, Tampa, FL.
- Andersen AD, Marìn A, Simensen EO (2018) Innovation in natural resource-based industries: a pathway to development? Introduction to special issue. Innov Dev 8: 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/2157930X.2018.1439293.
- Andersson E, Keskitalo ECH (2019) Service logics and strategies of Swedish forestry in the structural shifts of forest ownership: challenging the "old" and shaping the "new." Scand J For Res 34: 508–520. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2019.1604990.
- André K, Baird J, Gerger Swartling Å, Vulturius G, Plummer R (2017) Analysis of Swedish Forest Owners' Information and Knowledge-Sharing Networks for Decision-Making: Insights for Climate Change Communication and Adaptation. Environ Manage 59: 885–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-017-0844-1.
- Ayres R, van den Bergh J, Gowdy J (2001) Strong versus Weak Sustainability: Economics, Natural Sciences, and "Consilience." Environ Ethics 23: 155–168. https://doi.org/10.5840/enviroethics200123225.
- Barney J (1991) Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage. J Manage 17: 99– 120. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700108.
- Belin DL, Kittredge DB, Stevens TH, Dennis DC, Schweik CM, Morzuch BJ (2005) Assessing Private Forest Owner Attitudes Toward Ecosystem-Based Management. J For 103: 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1093/jof/103.1.28.

- Bengston DN, Asah ST, Butler BJ (2011) The Diverse Values and Motivations of Family Forest Owners in the United States: An Analysis of an Open-ended Question in the National Woodland Owner Survey. Small-Scale For 10: 339–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-010-9152-9.
- Bengtsson M, Raza-Ullah T (2016) A systematic review of research on coopetition: Toward a multilevel understanding. Ind Mark Manag 57: 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.05.003.
- Bhaskar R (2011) Reclaiming reality: A Critical Introduction to Contemporary Philosophy. Routledge, London.
- Biem A, Caswell N (2008) A Value Network Model for Strategic Analysis. Proceedings of the 41st Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS 2008). 361–361. https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2008.43.
- Bissonnette J-F, Dupras J, Doyon F, Chion C, Tardif J (2017) Perceptions of Small Private Forest Owner's Vulnerability and Adaptive Capacity to Environmental Disturbances and Climate Change: Views from a Heterogeneous Population in Southern Quebec, Canada. Small-Scale For 16: 367–393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-016-9361-y.
- Blennow K (2012) Adaptation of forest management to climate change among private individual forest owners in Sweden. For Policy Econ 24: 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2011.04.005.
- Blennow K, Persson J (2009) Climate change: Motivation for taking measure to adapt. Glob Environ Change 19: 100–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.003.
- Bocken NMP, Ritala P, Albareda L, Verburg R (2019) Introduction: Innovation for Sustainability. In: Bocken NMP, Ritala P, Albareda L, Verburg R (eds) Innovation for Sustainability: Business Transformations Towards a Better World. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham, Switzerland, pp 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97385-2\_1.
- Bocken NMP, Short SW (2021) Unsustainable business models Recognising and resolving institutionalised social and environmental harm. J Clean Prod 312: 127828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127828.
- Bocken NMP, Short SW, Rana P, Evans S (2014) A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. J Clean Prod 65: 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.039.
- Bondeli JV, Havenvid MI, Solli-Sæther H (2018) Placing social capital in business networks: conceptualisation and research agenda. J Bus Ind Mark 33: 1100–1113. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-12-2017-0324.
- Borgatti SP, Everett MG, Johnson JC (2013) Analyzing Social Networks. Sage Publications Ltd, London.
- Boswijk A (2017) Transforming Business Value through Digitalized Networks: A Case Study on the Value Drivers of Airbnb. J Creating Value 3: 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/2394964317697736.
- Bowen GA (2009) Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. Qual Res J 9: 27–40. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027.
- Breckler SJ (1984) Empirical validation of affect, behavior, and cognition as distinct components of attitude. J Pers Soc Psychol 47: 1191–1205. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.47.6.1191.

CBD (2022) Governments advance negotiations on ambitious global biodiversity framework but require more time. https://www.cbd.int/article/GenevaMeetings2022-PressRelease-29March2022.

Accessed November 7, 2022.

- Choi Y, Hara Y (2018) The performance effect of inter-firm adaptation in channel relationships: The roles of relationship-specific resources and tailored activities. Ind Mark Manag 70: 46–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.05.007.
- Coase RH (1937) The Nature of the Firm. Economica 4: 386–405. https://doi.org/10.2307/2626876.
- Costanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, Hannon B, Limburg K, Naeem S, O'Neill RV, Paruelo J, Raskin RG, Sutton P, van den Belt M (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387: 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0.
- Costanza R, de Groot R, Braat L, Kubiszewski I, Fioramonti L, Sutton P, Farber S, Grasso M (2017) Twenty years of ecosystem services: How far have we come and how far do we still need to go? Ecosyst Serv 28: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.09.008.
- Czarniawska B (2004) Narratives in social science research. Sage Publications, London.
- D'Adamo I, Falcone PM, Morone P (2020) A New Socio-economic Indicator to Measure the Performance of Bioeconomy Sectors in Europe. Ecol Econ 176: 106724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106724.
- Daily GC (1997) Nature's services: societal dependence on natural ecosystems. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- D'Amato D, Veijonaho S, Toppinen A (2020) Towards sustainability? Forest-based circular bioeconomy business models in Finnish SMEs. For Policy Econ 110: 101848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.12.004.
- Dasgupta P (2021) The Economics of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta Review. HM Treasury, London.
- Degnet MB, Hansson H, Hoogstra-Klein MA, Roos A (2022) The role of personal values and personality traits in environmental concern of non-industrial private forest owners in Sweden. For Policy Econ 141: 102767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2022.102767.
- Denzin NK, Lincoln YS (2000) Introduction: The Discipline and Practice of Qualitative Research. In: Denzin NK, Lincoln YS Handbook of Qualitative Research. (2nd edition) SAGE Publications, Inc., Thousand Oaks, California, pp 1–28.
- Dhanaraj C, Parkhe A (2006) Orchestrating Innovation Networks. Acad Manage Rev 31: 659–669. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.2006.21318923.
- Diesen M (2007) Papermaking science and technology. 1, Economics of the pulp and paper industry. (2<sup>nd</sup> edition) Paperi ja Puu, Helsinki.
- Dubois A, Gadde L-E (2002) Systematic combining: an abductive approach to case research. J Bus Res 55: 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(00)00195-8.
- Dubois A, Gadde L-E (2014) "Systematic combining"—A decade later. J Bus Res 67: 1277–1284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.03.036.
- Dubois A, Gibbert M (2010) From complexity to transparency: managing the interplay between theory, method and empirical phenomena in IMM case studies. Ind Mark Manag 39: 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2009.08.003.

- Dyllick T, Muff K (2016) Clarifying the Meaning of Sustainable Business: Introducing a Typology From Business-as-Usual to True Business Sustainability. Organ Environ 29: 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615575176.
- Eagly AH, Chaiken S (1993) The psychology of attitudes. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College, Fort Worth.
- Easton G (2010) Critical realism in case study research. Ind Mark Manag 39: 118–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2008.06.004.
- EC (2018) A sustainable bioeconomy for Europe: Strengthening the connection between economy, society and the environment: updated bioeconomy strategy. European Commission DG Research and Innovation, Brussels. https://doi.org/10.2777/792130.

EC (2021) New EU Forest Strategy for 2030. European Commission, Brussels.

- Eden C (1988) Cognitive mapping. Eur J Oper Res 36: 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-2217(88)90002-1.
- Eisenhardt KM, Martin JA (2000) Dynamic Capabilities: What Are They? Strateg Manag J 21: 1105–1121.
- Elkington J (2018) 25 Years Ago I Coined the Phrase "Triple Bottom Line." Here's Why It's Time to Rethink It. Harvard Business Review.
- Elkington J (2020) Green Swans: The coming boom in regenerative capitalism. Fast company Press.
- Eriksson L (2014) Risk Perception and Responses Among Private Forest Owners in Sweden. Small-Scale For 13: 483–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-014-9266-6.
- Eriksson P, Kovalainen A (2016) Qualitative methods in business research. (2nd edition) Sage Publications, London.
- Evans S, Vladimirova D, Holgado M, Van Fossen K, Yang M, Silva EA, Barlow CY (2017) Business model innovation for sustainability: Towards a unified perspective for creation of sustainable business models. Bus Strategy Environ 26: 597–608. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1939.
- Eyvindson K, Repo A, Mönkkönen M (2018) Mitigating forest biodiversity and ecosystem service losses in the era of bio-based economy. For Policy Econ 92: 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.04.009.
- Fergnani A (2022) Corporate Foresight: A New Frontier for Strategy and Management. Acad Manag Perspect 36: 820–844. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2018.0178.
- Fletcher AJ (2017) Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. Int J Soc Res Methodol 20: 181–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401.
- Folke C, Biggs R, Norström AV, Reyers B, Rockström J (2016) Social-ecological resilience and biosphere-based sustainability science. Ecol 21: 41. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08748-210341.
- Fontoura P, Coelho A (2022) How to boost green innovation and performance through collaboration in the supply chain: Insights into a more sustainable economy. J Clean Prod 359: 132005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.132005.
- Franzini F, Berghäll S, Toppinen A, Toivonen R (2023) Planning for wooden multistorey construction – insights from Finland's municipal civil servants. Eur Plan Stud 31: 168–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2022.2116271.
- Friedman M (1970) A Friedman doctrine The Social Responsibility of Business Is to Increase Its Profits. The New York Times.

https://www.nytimes.com/1970/09/13/archives/a-friedman-doctrine-the-social-responsibility-of-business-is-to.html. Accessed February 14, 2023.

- Fritsche U, Rösch C (2020) The Conditions of a Sustainable Bioeconomy. In: Pietzsch J, Meyer S, Zettlmeier W, Schurr U (eds) Bioeconomy for Beginners. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 177–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-60390-1\_9.
- Fullerton RA (1987) Historicism: What It Is, and What It Means for Consumer Research. Adv Consum Res 14: 431–434.
- Gawel E, Pannicke N, Hagemann N (2019) A Path Transition Towards a Bioeconomy— The Crucial Role of Sustainability. Sustainability 11: 3005. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11113005.
- Gawer A, Cusumano MA (2014) Industry Platforms and Ecosystem Innovation. J Prod Innov Manage 31: 417–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12105.
- Geels FW (2002) Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multi-level perspective and a case-study. Res Policy 31: 1257–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00062-8.
- Geels FW (2011) The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms. Environ Innov Soc Transit 1: 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002.
- Giddings B, Hopwood B, O'Brien G (2002) Environment, economy and society: fitting them together into sustainable development. Sustain Dev 10: 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.199.
- Gliedt T, Hoicka CE, Jackson N (2018) Innovation intermediaries accelerating environmental sustainability transitions. J Clean Prod 174: 1247–1261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11.054.
- Gonzalez-Porras L, Heikkinen A, Kujala J (2021) Understanding stakeholder influence: lessons from a controversial megaproject. Int J Hum Resour Dev Manag 21: 191– 213. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHRDM.2021.116923.
- Gorski PS (2013) "What is Critical Realism? And Why Should You Care?" Contemp Sociol 42: 658–670. https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306113499533.
- Green B (2004) Personal construct psychology and content analysis. Personal Construct Theory & Practice 1: 82–91.
- Grunwald A (2020) Bioeconomy: Key to Unlimited Economic and Consumption Growth? In: Pietzsch J (ed) Bioeconomy for Beginners. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-60390-1\_10.
- Guerrero JE, Hansen E (2018) Cross-sector collaboration in the forest products industry: a review of the literature. Can J For Res 48: 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0032.
- Guerrero JE, Hansen E (2021) Company-level cross-sector collaborations in transition to the bioeconomy: A multi-case study. For Policy Econ 123: 102355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2020.102355.
- Håbesland DE, Kilgore MA, Becker DR, Snyder SA, Solberg B, Sjølie HK, Lindstad BH (2016) Norwegian family forest owners' willingness to participate in carbon offset programs. For Policy Econ 70: 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.05.017.
- Hadley Kershaw E, Hartley S, McLeod C, Polson P (2021) The Sustainable Path to a Circular Bioeconomy. Trends Biotechnol 39: 542–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2020.10.015.

- Hahn T, Tampe M (2021) Strategies for regenerative business. Strateg Organ 19: 456–477. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127020979228.
- Haines-Young R, Potschin M (2018) Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) V5.1 and Guidance on the Application of the Revised Structure. Fabis Consulting Ltd., Nottingham: UK. https://cices.eu/content/uploads/sites/8/2018/01/Guidance-V51-01012018.pdf. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Håkansson H, Ford D (2002) How should companies interact in business networks? J Bus Res 55: 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(00)00148-X.
- Håkansson H, Johanson J (1992) A Model of Industrial Networks. In: Axelsson B, Easton G (eds) Industrial Networks: A New View of Reality. Routledge, London, pp 28–34.
- Håkansson H, Snehota I (1995) Developing relationships in business networks. Routledge, London.
- Håkansson H, Snehota I (2017) The Significance of Business Relationships. In: Håkansson H, Snehota I (eds) No Business is an Island: Making sense of the interactive business world. Emerald Publishing Limited, Bingley, UK, pp 1–25.
- Halinen A, Salmi A, Havila V (1999) From Dyadic Change to Changing Business Networks: An Analytical Framework. J Manag Stud 36: 779–794. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6486.00158.
- Hamunen K, Jahkonen M, Kurttila M (2022) Yhteistyömallit metsäpalvelu- ja luonnontuotealan yrityksissä. [Cooperation models in forest service and natural product companies]. Metsätieteen Aikakauskirja 2022, article id 10615. https://doi.org/10.14214/ma.10615.
- Hansen E, Juslin H (2018) Strategic Marketing in the Global Forest Industries. (3<sup>rd</sup> edition) Oregon State University. https://openlibraryrepo.ecampusontario.ca/jspui/handle/123456789/829. Accessed.
- Hansen E, Juslin H, Knowles C (2007) Innovativeness in the global forest products industry: exploring new insights. Can J For Res 37: 1324–1335. https://doi.org/10.1139/X06-323.
- Hansen E, Kangas J, Hujala T (2020) Synthesis towards Future-Fittest for mature forest sector multinationals. Can J For Res 51: 871–878. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2020-0418.
- Harrinkari T, Katila P, Karppinen H (2016) Stakeholder coalitions in forest politics: revision of Finnish Forest Act. For Policy Econ 67: 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.02.006.
- Harris C, Arenson LU, Christiansen HH, Etzelmüller B, Frauenfelder R, Gruber S, Haeberli W, Hauck C, Hölzle M, Humlum O, Isaksen K, Kääb A, Kern-Lütschg MA, Lehning M, Matsuoka N, Murton JB, Nötzli J, Phillips M, Ross N, ... Vonder Mühll D (2009) Permafrost and climate in Europe: Monitoring and modelling thermal, geomorphological and geotechnical responses. Earth Sci Rev 92: 117– 171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2008.12.002.
- Hart SL (1995) A Natural-Resource-Based View of the Firm. Acad Manage Rev 20: 986– 1014. https://doi.org/10.2307/258963.
- Hart SL (1997) Beyond Greening: Strategies for a Sustainable World. Harvard Business Review 75: 66–77.

- Hart SL, Dowell G (2011) Invited Editorial: A Natural-Resource-Based View of the Firm: Fifteen Years After. J Manage 37: 1464–1479. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310390219.
- Hart SL, Milstein MB (2003) Creating sustainable value. Acad Manag Perspect 17: 56–67. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.2003.10025194.
- Häyrinen L, Mattila O, Berghäll S, Närhi M, Toppinen A (2017) Exploring the future use of forests: perceptions from non-industrial private forest owners in Finland. Scand J For Res 32: 327–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2016.1227472.
- Hedvall K, Jagstedt S, Dubois A (2019) Solutions in business networks: Implications of an interorganizational perspective. J Bus Res 104: 411–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.02.035.
- Heger T, Rohrbeck R (2012) Strategic foresight for collaborative exploration of new business fields. Technol Forecast Soc Change 79: 819–831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2011.11.003.
- Hetemäki L, Hanewinkel M, Muys B, Ollikainen M, Palahí M, Trasobares A (2017) Leading the way to a European circular bioeconomy strategy. From Science to Policy 5. European Forest Institute, Joensuu.
- Hetemäki L, Hurmekoski E (2016) Forest Products Markets under Change: Review and Research Implications. Current Forestry Reports 2: 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-016-0042-z.
- Hietala J, Huovari J (2017) Economic Impacts and Outlook of the Finnish Wood-based Bioeconomy. PTT Working Papers 184. Pellervo Economic Research PTT, Helsinki.
- Holmgren S, D'Amato D, Giurca A (2020) Bioeconomy imaginaries: A review of forestrelated social science literature. Ambio 49: 1860–1877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01398-6.
- Hopkins J, Sutherland L-A, Ehlers M-H, Matthews K, Barnes A, Toma L (2017) Scottish farmers' intentions to afforest land in the context of farm diversification. For Policy Econ 78: 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.01.014.
- Hsieh S-F, Shannon SE (2005) Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 15: 1277–1288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687.
- Hujala T, Junttila S, Tokola N (2021) Youth Inclusion in Forest Policy Dialogue: Contemplating Human–Forest Relationships through Arts-Based Methods. Rural Landscapes: Society, Environment, History 8: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.16993/rl.69.
- Hujala T, Kurttila M, Karppinen H (2013) Customer Segments Among Family Forest Owners: Combining Ownership Objectives and Decision-Making Styles. Small-Scale For 12: 335–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-012-9215-1.
- Hujala T, Pykäläinen J, Tikkanen J (2007) Decision making among Finnish non-industrial private forest owners: The role of professional opinion and desire to learn. Scand J For Res 22: 454–463. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580701395434.
- Hujala T, Tikkanen J (2008) Boosters of and barriers to smooth communication in family forest owners' decision making. Scand J For Res 23: 466–477. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580802334209.
- Hujala T, Tikkanen J, Hänninen H, Virkkula O (2009) Family forest owners' perception of decision support. Scand J For Res 24: 448–460. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580903140679.

- Hurmekoski E, Jonsson R, Korhonen J, Jänis J, Mäkinen M, Leskinen P, Hetemäki L (2018) Diversification of the forest industries: role of new wood-based products. Can J For Res 48: 1417–1432. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0116.
- Husa M, Kosenius A-K (2021) Non-industrial private forest owners' willingness to manage for climate change and biodiversity. Scand J For Res 36: 614–625. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2021.1981433.
- IPBES (2022) Summary for policymakers of the Methodological Assessment of the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. IPBES Plenary at Its Ninth Session (IPBES 9). IPBES secretariat, Bonn Germany. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6522392.
- IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.
- Jarillo JC (1988) On strategic networks. Strategic Manage J 9: 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250090104.
- Jarosch L, Zeug W, Bezama A, Finkbeiner M, Thrän D (2020) A Regional Socio-Economic Life Cycle Assessment of a Bioeconomy Value Chain. Sustainability 12: 1259. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031259.
- Jones P, Bunce G, Evans J, Gibbs H, Hein JR (2008) Exploring Space and Place with Walking Interviews. J Res Pract 4.
- Kaplan R, Kaplan S (1989) The experience of nature: a psychological perspective. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Karppinen H, Berghäll S (2015) Forest owners' stand improvement decisions: Applying the Theory of Planned Behavior. For Policy Econ 50: 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2014.09.009.
- Karppinen H, Hänninen H, Horne P (2020) Suomalainen metsänomistaja 2020. [Finnish forest owner 2020]. Luonnonvara- ja biotalouden tutkimus 30/2020. Luonnonvarakeskus, p 73. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-326-961-3. Accessed December 21, 2022.
- Karppinen H, Horne P, Hujala T, Leppänen J, Matilainen A, Talkkari A (2015) Forest Land Ownership Change in Finland. COST Action FP1201 FACESMAP Country Report. European Forest Institute Central-East and South-East European Regional Office, Vienna, p 48.
- Karvonen J, Halder P, Kangas J, Leskinen P (2017) Indicators and tools for assessing sustainability impacts of the forest bioeconomy. For Ecosyst 4: 103–122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-017-0089-8.
- Kasanen E, Lukka K, Siitonen A (1993) The constructive approach in management accounting research. J Manag Account Res 5: 243.
- Kastner T, Chaudhary A, Gingrich S, Marques A, Persson UM, Bidoglio G, Le Provost G, Schwarzmüller F (2021) Global agricultural trade and land system sustainability: Implications for ecosystem carbon storage, biodiversity, and human nutrition. One Earth 4: 1425–1443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.09.006.
- Kearney AR, Kaplan S (1997) Toward a Methodology for the Measurement of Knowledge Structures of Ordinary People: The Conceptual Content Cognitive Map (3CM). Environ Behav 29: 579–617. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916597295001.

- Kekäle J, Puusa A (2020) Tiedesodat. Realistinen ja konstruktionistinen maailmankäsitys. [Science wars. Realistic and constructionist worldview]. In: Puusa A, Juuti P (eds) Laadullisen tutkimuksen näkökulmat ja menetelmät. [Qualitative research perspectives and methods]. Gaudeamus Oy, Tallinna, pp 41–55.
- Keränen O, Komulainen H, Lehtimäki T, Ulkuniemi P (2021) Restructuring existing value networks to diffuse sustainable innovations in food packaging. Ind Mark Manag 93: 509–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.10.011.
- Khanal PN, Grebner DL, Munn IA, Grado SC, Grala RK, Henderson JE (2017) Evaluating non-industrial private forest landowner willingness to manage for forest carbon sequestration in the southern United States. For Policy Econ 75: 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.07.004.
- Köhler J, Geels FW, Kern F, Markard J, Onsongo E, Wieczorek A, Alkemade F, Avelino F, Bergek A, Boons F, Fünfschilling L, Hess D, Holtz G, Hyysalo S, Jenkins K, Kivimaa P, Martiskainen M, McMeekin A, Mühlemeier MS, ... Wells P (2019) An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. Environ Innov Soc 31: 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.004.
- Korhonen J, Hurmekoski E, Hansen E, Toppinen A (2018) Firm-level competitiveness in the forest industries: review and research implications in the context of bioeconomy strategies. Can J For Res 48: 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2017-0219.
- Korhonen J, Miettinen J, Kylkilahti E, Tuppura A, Autio M, Lähtinen K, Pätäri S, Pekkanen T-L, Luhas J, Mikkilä M, Linnanen L, Ollikainen M, Toppinen A (2021) Development of a forest-based bioeconomy in Finland: Insights on three value networks through expert views. J Clean Prod 299: 126867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126867.
- Koskela T, Karppinen H (2021) Forest Owners' Willingness to Implement Measures to Safeguard Biodiversity: Values, Attitudes, Ecological Worldview and Forest Ownership Objectives. Small-Scale For 20: 11–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-020-09454-5.
- Koskela-Huotari K, Edvardsson B, Jonas JM, Sörhammar D, Witell L (2016) Innovation in service ecosystems—Breaking, making, and maintaining institutionalized rules of resource integration. J Bus Res 69: 2964–2971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.02.029.
- Kothandaraman P, Wilson DT (2001) The Future of Competition: Value-Creating Networks. Ind Mark Manag 30: 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(00)00152-8.
- Kotilainen J, Rytteri T (2011) Transformation of forest policy regimes in Finland since the 19th century. J Hist Georg 37: 429–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhg.2011.04.003.
- Kuisma M (2006) Metsäteollisuuden maa. 1, Metsäteollisuuden maa: Suomi, metsät ja kansainvälinen järjestelmä 1620-1920. [Finland, forests and world economy 1620-1920]. (2<sup>nd</sup> corrected edition) Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, Helsinki.
- Laakkonen A, Hujala T, Pykäläinen J (2019) Integrating intangible resources enables creating new types of forest services - developing forest leasing value network in Finland. For Policy Econ 99: 157–168.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.07.003.
- Laakkonen A, Hujala T, Pykäläinen J (2022) Defining the systemic development of the Finnish pulp and paper industry's business network. Silva Fenn 56, article id 10599. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10599.

- Laakkonen A, Rusanen K, Hujala T, Gabrielsson M, Pykäläinen J (2023) Implications of the sustainability transition on the industry value creation logic case of Finnish pulp and paper industry. Manuscript.
- Laakkonen A, Zimmerer R, Kähkönen T, Hujala T, Takala T, Tikkanen J (2018) Forest owners' attitudes toward pro-climate and climate-responsive forest management. For Policy Econ 87: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.11.001.
- Lacoste S (2016) Sustainable value co-creation in business networks. Ind Mark Manag 52: 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.05.018.
- Lähtinen K, Guan Y, Li N, Toppinen A (2016) Biodiversity and ecosystem services in supply chain management in the global forest industry. Ecosyst Serv 21: 130–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2016.07.006.
- Lamberg J-A, Laurila J, Nokelainen T (2017) Institutional Path Dependence in Competitive Dynamics: The Case of Paper Industries in Finland and the USA: Institutional Path Dependence in Competitive Dynamics. Manage Decis Econ 38: 971–991. https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.2839.
- Lamberg J-A, Ojala J, Peltoniemi M, Särkkä T (2012) Research on Evolution and the Global History of Pulp and Paper Industry: An Introduction. In: Lamberg J-A, Ojala J, Peltoniemi M, Särkkä T (eds) The Evolution of Global Paper Industry 1800–2050: A Comparative Analysis. Vol. 17. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5431-7\_1.
- Landrum NE (2018) Stages of Corporate Sustainability: Integrating the Strong Sustainability Worldview. Organ Environ 31: 287–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026617717456.
- Latta GS, Adams DM, Bell KP, Kline JD (2016) Evaluating land-use and private forest management responses to a potential forest carbon offset sales program in western Oregon (USA). For Policy Econ 65: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.01.004.
- Lawrence A (2017) Adapting through practice: Silviculture, innovation and forest governance for the age of extreme uncertainty. For Policy Econ 79: 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.07.011.
- Lehtimäki H, Kujala J, Heikkinen A (2011) Corporate Responsibility in Communication: Empirical Analysis of Press Releases in a Conflict. Bus Commun Q 74: 432–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/1080569911424203.
- Lehtonen O, Okkonen L (2013) Regional socio-economic impacts of decentralised bioeconomy: a case of Suutela wooden village, Finland. Environ Dev Sustain 15: 245–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-012-9372-6.
- Lehtoviita J, Mäki P, Tenhola T (2016) Metsäbiotalouden arvoketjut -loppuraportti. [Value chains of forest bioeconomy final report]. Tapion Raportteja Nro 9.
- Leturcq P (2020) GHG displacement factors of harvested wood products: the myth of substitution. Sci Rep 10: 20752. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77527-8.
- Löbler H (2013) Service-dominant networks: An evolution from the service-dominant logic perspective. J Serv Manag 24: 420–434. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-01-2013-0019.
- Loorbach D, Rotmans J (2010) The practice of transition management: Examples and lessons from four distinct cases. Futures 42: 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2009.11.009.

- Loorbach D, Wijsman K (2013) Business transition management: exploring a new role for business in sustainability transitions. J Clean Prod 45: 20–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.11.002.
- Luhas J, Mikkilä M, Kylkilahti E, Miettinen J, Malkamäki A, Pätäri S, Korhonen J, Pekkanen T-L, Tuppura A, Lähtinen K, Autio M, Linnanen L, Ollikainen M, Toppinen A (2021) Pathways to a forest-based bioeconomy in 2060 within policy targets on climate change mitigation and biodiversity protection. For Policy Econ 131: 102551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2021.102551.
- Luhas J, Mikkilä M, Uusitalo V, Linnanen L (2019) Product Diversification in Sustainability Transition: The Forest-Based Bioeconomy in Finland. Sustainability 11: 3293. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123293.
- Lundberg H, Andresen E, Törnroos J-Å (2016) Understanding network emergence after turbulent industrial relocation: A Swedish biorefinery initiative. Eur Manag J 34: 475–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.03.001.
- Lunnan A, Nybakk E, Vennesland B (2006) Entrepreneurial attitudes and probability for start-ups—an investigation of Norwegian non-industrial private forest owners. For Policy Econ 8: 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2005.06.016.
- Lusch RF, Vargo SL (2014) Service-dominant logic: premises, perspectives, possibilities. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MA (2005) Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, DC. https://www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.356.aspx.pdf. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Markard J, Geels FW, Raven R (2020) Challenges in the acceleration of sustainability transitions. Environ Res Lett 15: 081001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab9468.
- Material Economics (2021) EU Biomass Use in a Net-Zero Economy A Course Correction for EU Biomass. Material Economics, Stockholm, Sweden, p 102. https://media.sitra.fi/2021/06/28151630/material-economics-eu-biomass-use-in-anet-zero-economy.pdf. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Matthies BD, D'Amato D, Berghäll S, Ekholm T, Hoen HF, Holopainen J, Korhonen JE, Lähtinen K, Mattila O, Toppinen A, Valsta L, Wang L, Yousefpour R (2016) An ecosystem service-dominant logic? – Integrating the ecosystem service approach and the service-dominant logic. J Clean Prod 124: 51–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.02.109.
- Matthyssens P, Vandenbempt K, Van Bockhaven W (2013) Structural antecedents of institutional entrepreneurship in industrial networks: A critical realist explanation. Ind Mark Manag 42: 405–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.02.008.
- Mattila O, Roos A (2014) Service logics of providers in the forestry services sector: Evidence from Finland and Sweden. For Policy Econ 43: 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2014.03.003.
- Mattila O, Toppinen A, Berghäll S (2013) Non-industrial Private Forestry Service Markets in a Flux: Results from a Qualitative Analysis on Finland. Small-Scale For 12: 559–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-012-9231-1.
- McDougall N, Wagner B, MacBryde J (2019) An empirical explanation of the naturalresource-based view of the firm. Prod Plan 30: 1366–1382. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2019.1620361.

- Medlin CJ, Törnroos J-Å (2014) Interest, sensemaking and adaptive processes in emerging business networks — An Australian biofuel case. Ind Mark Manag 43: 1096– 1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.05.023.
- Metsä Group (2022) Metsä Group Annual Review 2021.
- Meyer R (2017) Bioeconomy strategies: Contexts, visions, guiding implementation principles and resulting debates. Sustainability 9: 1031. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9061031.
- MMM (2022) Kansallinen metsästrategia 2035 National Forest Strategy 2035. Maa- ja metsätalousministeriö Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry.
- Möller K (2010) Sense-making and agenda construction in emerging business networks How to direct radical innovation. Ind Mark Manag 39: 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2009.03.014.
- Möller K (2013) Theory map of business marketing: Relationships and networks perspectives. Ind Mark Manag 42: 324–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.02.009.
- Möller K, Halinen A (2017) Managing business and innovation networks—From strategic nets to business fields and ecosystems. Ind Mark Manag 67: 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.09.018.
- Möller K, Nenonen S, Storbacka K (2020) Networks, ecosystems, fields, market systems? Making sense of the business environment. Ind Mark Manag 90: 380–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.07.013.
- Möller K, Rajala A (2007) Rise of strategic nets New modes of value creation. Ind Mark Manag 36: 895–908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2007.05.016.
- Möller K, Rajala A, Svahn S (2005) Strategic business nets—their type and management. J Bus Res 58: 1274–1284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2003.05.002.
- Möller K, Svahn S (2006) Role of Knowledge in Value Creation in Business Nets. J Manag Stud 43: 985–1007. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00626.x.
- Möller K, Svahn S (2009) How to influence the birth of new business fields Network perspective. Ind Mark Manag 38: 450–458.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2008.02.009.
- Morandín-Ahuerma I, Contreras-Hernández A, Ayala-Ortiz DA, Pérez-Maqueo O (2019) Socio–Ecosystemic Sustainability. Sustainability 11: 3354. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123354.
- Mouzas S, Ford D (2012) Leveraging knowledge-based resources: The role of contracts. J Bus Res 65: 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.05.015.
- Mustalahti I (2018) The responsive bioeconomy: The need for inclusion of citizens and environmental capability in the forest based bioeconomy. J Clean Prod 172: 3781–3790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.06.132.
- Myllylä S, Takala T (2011) Leaking legitimacies: the Finnish forest sector's entanglement in the land conflicts of Atlantic coastal Brazil. Soc Responsib J 7: 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1108/17471111111114530.
- Näsi J, Lamberg J-A, Ojala J, Sajasalo P (2001) Metsäteollisuusyritysten strategiset kehityspolut: kilpailu, keskittyminen ja kasvu pitkällä aikavälillä [Forest industry companies' strategic development: competition, consolidation and growth in the long run]. Tekes, Helsinki.
- National Land Survey of Finland (2022) Metsätilakauppojen määrä kasvoi ennätysmäärään – eniten rahaa hankintaan käyttivät instituutiosijoittajat [The number of trade in forest holdings grew to record number - the most money on acquisition was spent

by institutional investors] Maanmittauslaitos.

http://www.maanmittauslaitos.fi/ajankohtaista/metsatilakauppojen-maara-kasvoiennatysmaaraan-eniten-rahaa-hankintaan-kayttivat. Accessed December 19, 2022.

- Näyhä A (2019) Transition in the Finnish forest-based sector: Company perspectives on the bioeconomy, circular economy and sustainability. J Clean Prod 209: 1294–1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.10.260.
- Näyhä A (2020) Finnish forest-based companies in transition to the circular bioeconomy drivers, organizational resources and innovations. For Policy Econ 110: 101936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2019.05.022.
- Näyhä A (2021) Backcasting for desirable futures in Finnish forest-based firms. Foresight 23: 50–72. https://doi.org/10.1108/FS-01-2020-0005.
- Nelson GC, Bennett E, Berhe AA, Cassman K, DeFries R, Dietz T, Dobermann A, Dobson A, Janetos A, Levy M, Marco D, Nakicenovic N, O'Neill B, Norgaard R, Petschel-Held G, Ojima D, Pingali P, Watson R, Zurek M (2006) Anthropogenic Drivers of Ecosystem Change: an Overview. Ecol 11: 29. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-01826-110229.
- Neri M, Jameli D, Bernard E, Melo FPL (2019) Green versus green? Adverting potential conflicts between wind power generation and biodiversity conservation in Brazil. Perspect Ecol Conserv 17: 131–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecon.2019.08.004.
- Newton Consulting Partners (2022) 100 Top Companies in the Global Pulp & Paper Market. https://www.newtonconsultingpartners.com/post/100-top-companies-inthe-global-pulp-paper-market. Accessed February 15, 2022.
- Nidumolu R, Prahalad CK, Rangaswami MR (2009) Why sustainability is now the key driver of innovation. Harv Bus Rev 87: 56–64.
- Niemimaa M, Järveläinen J, Heikkilä M, Heikkilä J (2019) Business continuity of business models: Evaluating the resilience of business models for contingencies. Int J Inf Manage 49: 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.04.010.
- Nordlund A, Westin K (2011) Forest Values and Forest Management Attitudes among Private Forest Owners in Sweden. Forests 2: 30–50. https://doi.org/10.3390/f2010030.
- Normann R, Ramírez R (1993) From value chain to value constellation: designing interactive strategy. Harv Bus Rev 71: 65.
- North DC (1990) Institutions, institutional change, and economic performance. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Nybakk E, Crespell P, Hansen E, Lunnan A (2009) Antecedents to forest owner innovativeness: An investigation of the non-timber forest products and services sector. For Ecol Manag 257: 608–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.09.040.
- Ojala J, Eloranta J, Jalava J, Asplund R (2006) The road to prosperity: an economic history of Finland. Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, Helsinki.
- Ojansivu I, Hermes J, Laari-Salmela S (2020) Business relationships in the industrial network literature: Three approaches and their underlying assumptions. Ind Mark Manag 87: 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.11.016.
- Okkonen L, Suhonen N (2010) Business models of heat entrepreneurship in Finland. Energy Policy 38: 3443–3452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.02.018.
- Pajarinen M, Rouvinen P, Ylä-Anttila P (2013) Services: A New Source of Value. ETLA Brief No 11. ETLA The Research Institute of the Finnish Economy. http://pub.etla.fi/ETLA-Muistio-Brief-11.pdf. Accessed March 2, 2017.

- Palahí M, Pantsar M, Costanza R, Kubiszewski I, Potočnik J, Stuchtey M, Nasi R, Lovins H, Giovannini E, Fioramonti L, Dixson-Declève S, McGlade J, Pickett K, Wilkinson R, Holmgren J, Trebeck K, Wallis S, Ramage M, Berndes G, ... Bas L (2020) Investing in Nature as the true engine of our economy: A 10-point Action Plan for a Circular Bioeconomy of Wellbeing. European Forest Institute, Joensuu, p 58. https://doi.org/10.36333/k2a02.
- Pätäri S, Tuppura A, Toppinen A, Korhonen J (2016) Global sustainability megaforces in shaping the future of the European pulp and paper industry towards a bioeconomy. For Policy Econ 66: 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2015.10.009.
- Patterson J, Schulz K, Vervoort J, van der Hel S, Widerberg O, Adler C, Hurlbert M, Anderton K, Sethi M, Barau A (2017) Exploring the governance and politics of transformations towards sustainability. Environ Innov Soc 24: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2016.09.001.
- Pelkonen P (2017) Suomen metsäkeskusta, metsänhoitoyhdistyksiä ja metsätietojärjestelmää koskevien lainsäädäntöuudistusten vaikutukset ja tavoitteiden toteutuminen [Impacts of legislative reforms on Finnish Forest Centre, Forest management associations and forest information systems and implementation of objectives]. The Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Finland, p 60. https://mmm.fi/documents/1410837/150/4826/171102\_Pelkosen\_raportti.pdf

```
https://mmm.fi/documents/1410837/1504826/171102_Pelkosen_raportti.pdf. Accessed February 22, 2023.
```

- Pelli P, Haapala A, Pykäläinen J (2017) Services in the forest-based bioeconomy analysis of European strategies. Scand J For Res 32: 559–567. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2017.1288826.
- Pelli P, Lähtinen K (2020) Servitization and bioeconomy transitions: Insights on prefabricated wooden elements supply networks. J Clean Prod 244: 118711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118711.
- Peters LD, Pressey AD, Vanharanta M, Johnston WJ (2013) Constructivism and critical realism as alternative approaches to the study of business networks: Convergences and divergences in theory and in research practice. Ind Mark Manag 42: 336–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.02.003.
- Pfau SF, Hagens JE, Dankbaar B, Smits AJM (2014) Visions of Sustainability in Bioeconomy Research. Sustainability 6: 1222–1249. https://doi.org/10.3390/su6031222.
- Piekkari R, Welch C (2018) The Case Study in Management Research: Beyond the Positivist Legacy of Eisenhardt and Yin? In: Cassell C, Cunliffe AL, Grandy G (eds) The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Business and Management Research Methods: History and Traditions. SAGE Publications Ltd, London, pp 345–358.
- Piekkari R, Welch C, Paavilainen E (2009) The Case Study as Disciplinary Convention: Evidence from International Business Journals. Organ Res Methods 12: 567–589. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428108319905.
- Pietzsch J, Schurr U (2020) Introduction. In: Pietzsch J (ed) Bioeconomy for Beginners. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-60390-1\_1.
- Porter ME (1985) Competitive advantage: creating and sustaining superior performance. Free Press, New York.
- Porter ME, Kramer MR (2011) Creating shared value: how to reinvent capitalism and unleash a wave of innovation and growth. Harv Bus Rev 89: 62.

- Pouta E, Hiedanpää J, Iho A, Kniivilä M, El Geneidy S, Kujala H, Kyllönen S, Laukkanen M, Mykrä N, Nyyssölä M, Pakarinen J, Silvola H, Tynkkynen N, Vinnari M (2023) Assessing the economics of biodiversity in Finland: National implications of the Dasgupta Review. Publications of the Ministry of the Environment 2023:4. Ministry of the Environment, p 160. https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-361-227-3. Accessed February 14, 2023.
- Prahalad CK, Bettis RA (1986) The dominant logic: A new linkage between diversity and performance. Strateg Manag J 7: 485–501. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250070602.
- Pukkala T (2021) Measuring the social performance of forest management. J For Res 32: 1803–1818. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-021-01321-z.
- Pynnönen S, Paloniemi R, Hujala T (2018) Recognizing the Interest of Forest Owners to Combine Nature-Oriented and Economic Uses of Forests. Small-Scale For 17: 443–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-018-9397-2.
- Ramcilovic-Suominen S, Pülzl H (2018) Sustainable development A 'selling point' of the emerging EU bioeconomy policy framework? J Clean Prod 172: 4170–4180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.157.
- Ranacher L, Lähtinen K, Järvinen E, Toppinen A (2017) Perceptions of the general public on forest sector responsibility: A survey related to ecosystem services and forest sector business impacts in four European countries. For Policy Econ 78: 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.01.016.
- Ratajczak-Mrozek M, Herbeć M (2013) Actors-resources-activities analysis as a basis for Polish furniture network research. Drewno: Prace Naukowe, Doniesienia, Komunikaty 56: 115–137. https://doi.org/10.12841/wood.1644-3985.057.08.
- Rockström J, Steffen W, Noone K, Persson Å, Chapin FS, Lambin E, Lenton TM, Scheffer M, Folke C, Schellnhuber HJ, Nykvist B, de Wit C A, Hughes T, van der Leeuw S, Rodhe H, Sörlin S, Snyder PK, Costanza R, Svedin U, ... Foley J (2009)
  Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. Ecol 14: 32. https://doi.org/10.5751/es-03180-140232.
- Rosenberg MJ, Hovland CI (1960) Cognitive, affective, and behavioral components of attitudes. In: Rosenberg MJ, Hovland CI (eds) Attitude Organization and Change: An Analysis of Consistency among Attitude Components. Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Rosenbloom D, Markard J, Geels FW, Fuenfschilling L (2020) Why carbon pricing is not sufficient to mitigate climate change—and how "sustainability transition policy" can help. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117: 8664–8668. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2004093117.
- Sachs JD, Warner AM (2001) The curse of natural resources. Eur Econ Rev 45: 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2921(01)00125-8.
- Sajasalo P (2002) Internationalization of a Key Industry: Implications for a Business and Society Relationship's Development - Case Finland. Journal of International Business Research 1: 45–62.
- Sayer RA (2000) Realism and Social Science. SAGE Publications Ltd, London.
- Schwarz GM, Stensaker IG (2016) Showcasing phenomenon-driven research on organizational change. J Chang Manag 16: 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2016.1230931.

- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2020) Global Biodiversity Outlook 5. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal.
  - www.cbd.int/GBO5. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Siggelkow N (2007) Persuasion with Case Studies. Acad Manage J 50: 20–24. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2007.24160882.
- Snyder SA, Butler BJ, Markowski-Lindsay M (2019) Small-Area Family Forest Ownerships in the USA. Small-Scale For 18: 127–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-018-9410-9.
- Sohngen B, Tian X (2016) Global climate change impacts on forests and markets. For Policy Econ 72: 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.06.011.
- Stabell CB, Fjeldstad ØD (1998) Configuring value for competitive advantage: on chains, shops, and networks. Strategic Manage J 19: 413–437.
- Stake RE (1995) The art of case study research. SAGE, Thousand Oaks (Calif.).
- Stake RE (2005) Qualitative case studies. In: Denzin NK, Lincoln YS (eds) The Sage handbook of qualitative research. (3<sup>rd</sup> edition) Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks (Calif.), pp 443–466.
- Stora Enso (2022) Stora Enso Annual Report 2021. Stora Enso.
- Takala T, Brockhaus M, Hujala T, Tanskanen M, Lehtinen A, Tikkanen J, Toppinen A (2022) Discursive barriers to voluntary biodiversity conservation: The case of Finnish forest owners. For Policy Econ 136: 102681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2021.102681.
- Takala T, Kähkönen T, Laakkonen A, Tikkanen J (2020) Towards more sustainable bioenergy production – forest owners' readiness for change. Scand J For Res 35: 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2020.1733072.
- Tate WL, Bals L (2018) Achieving Shared Triple Bottom Line (TBL) Value Creation: Toward a Social Resource-Based View (SRBV) of the Firm. J Bus Ethics 152: 803–826. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3344-y.
- Teece DJ (2007) Explicating dynamic capabilities: the nature and microfoundations of (sustainable) enterprise performance. Strateg Manag J 28: 1319–1350. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.640.
- Teece DJ, Pisano G, Shuen A (1997) Dynamic Capabilities and Strategic Management. Strateg Manag J 18: 509–533.
- Temmes A, Peck P (2020) Do forest biorefineries fit with working principles of a circular bioeconomy? A case of Finnish and Swedish initiatives. For Policy Econ 110: 101896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2019.03.013.
- Thomas G, Myers K (2015) The anatomy of the case study. SAGE, Los Angeles.
- Thompson DW, Hansen EN (2013) Carbon Storage on Non-industrial Private Forestland: An Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior. Small-Scale For 12: 631–657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-013-9235-5.
- Timulak L (2009) Meta-analysis of qualitative studies: A tool for reviewing qualitative research findings in psychotherapy. Psychotherapy Research 19: 591–600. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300802477989.
- Todeschini BV, Cortimiglia MN, de Medeiros JF (2020) Collaboration practices in the fashion industry: Environmentally sustainable innovations in the value chain. Environ Sci Policy 106: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.01.003.
- Toppinen A, Pätäri S, Tuppura A, Jantunen A (2017) The European pulp and paper industry in transition to a bio-economy: A Delphi study. Futures 88: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2017.02.002.

- Tura N, Keränen J, Patala S (2019) The darker side of sustainability: Tensions from sustainable business practices in business networks. Ind Mark Manag 77: 221– 231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.09.002.
- UPM (2022) UPM Annual Report 2021.
- Vaahtera E, Niinistö T, Peltola A, Räty M, Sauvula-Seppälä T, Torvelainen J, Uotila E, Kulju I (2021) Metsätilastollinen vuosikirja 2021 - Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry 2021. Luonnonvarakeskus.
- Valatin G, Moseley D, Dandy N (2016) Insights from behavioural economics for forest economics and environmental policy: Potential nudges to encourage woodland creation for climate change mitigation and adaptation? For Policy Econ 72: 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.06.012.
- Valonen M, Haltia E, Horne P, Maidell M, Pynnönen S, Sajeva M, Stenman V, Raivio K, littainen V, Greis K, Laitinen K (2019) Finland's model in utilising forest data -Metsään.fi-website's background, implementation and future prospects. PTT Reports 261. Pellervo Economic Research PTT, Helsinki, p 90. https://www.ptt.fi/julkaisut-ja-hankkeet/kaikki-julkaisut/finlands-model-inutilising-forest-data-metsaan.fi-websites-background-implementation-and-futureprospects.html. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Valtioneuvosto (2022) Suomen biotalousstrategia: Kestävästi kohti korkeampaa arvonlisää [The Finnish Bioeconomy Strategy: Sustainably towards higher value added]. Publications of the Finnish Government 2022:3. Finnish Government, Helsinki, p 51. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-383-547-4. Accessed November 7, 2022.
- Van Bockhaven W, Matthyssens P (2017) Mobilizing a network to develop a field: Enriching the business actor's mobilization analysis toolkit. Ind Mark Manag 67: 70–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.08.001.
- van der Ploeg F (2011) Natural Resources: Curse or Blessing? J Econ Lit 49: 366–420. https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.49.2.366.
- van Gameren V, Zaccai E (2015) Private forest owners facing climate change in Wallonia: Adaptive capacity and practices. Environ Sci Policy 52: 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2015.05.004.
- Vargo SL, Lusch RF (2004) Evolving to a New Dominant Logic for Marketing. J Marketing 68: 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.1.1.24036.
- Vargo SL, Lusch RF (2011) It's all B2B...and beyond: Toward a systems perspective of the market. Ind Mark Manag 40: 181–187.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2010.06.026.
- Vargo SL, Lusch RF (2012) The Nature and Understanding of Value: A Service-Dominant Logic Perspective. In: Vargo SL, Lusch RF (eds) Review of Marketing Research. Vol. 9. Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1548-6435(2012)0000009005.
- Vargo SL, Lusch RF (2016) Institutions and axioms: an extension and update of servicedominant logic. J Acad Mark Sci 44: 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-015-0456-3.
- Vargo SL, Maglio PP, Akaka MA (2008) On value and value co-creation: A service systems and service logic perspective. Eur Manag J 26: 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2008.04.003.
- Vecchiato R (2012) Strategic foresight: matching environmental uncertainty. Technol Anal Strateg Manag 24: 783–796. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2012.715487.

- Viaggi D, Bartolini F, Raggi M (2021) The Bioeconomy in economic literature: looking back, looking ahead. Bio-Based Appl Econ 10: 169–184. https://doi.org/10.36253/bae-10881.
- Viitala E-J, Leppänen J (2014) Yhteismetsien verotusaseman ja sääntelyn kehitys: lainsäädännön muutokset ja niiden ohjausvaikutukset [Development of taxation status and regulation of jointly owned forests: Changes in legislation and their governance effects]. Metsätieteen Aikakauskirja 2014, article id 6651. https://doi.org/10.14214/ma.6651.
- Vincent S, O'Mahoney J (2018) Critical Realism and Qualitative Research: An Introductory Overview. In: Cassell C, Cunliffe AL, Grandy G (eds) The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Business and Management Research Methods: History and Traditions. SAGE Publications Ltd, London, pp 201–216.
- Wagner B, Svensson G (2014) A framework to navigate sustainability in business networks: The transformative business sustainability (TBS) model. Eur Bus Rev 26: 340–367. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-12-2013-0146.
- Watanabe C, Naveed N, Naveed K, Pekka Neittaanmäki (2017) Transformation of the Forest-based Bioeconomy by Embracing Digital Solutions. J Technol Manag Grow Economies 8: 191–214. https://doi.org/10.15415/jtmge.2017.82005.
- Weiss G, Lawrence A, Hujala T, Lidestav G, Nichiforel L, Nybakk E, Quiroga S, Sarvašová Z, Suarez C, Živojinović I (2019) Forest ownership changes in Europe: State of knowledge and conceptual foundations. For Policy Econ 99: 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.03.003.
- Weiss G, Ludvig A, Živojinović I (2020) Four decades of innovation research in forestry and the forest-based industries – A systematic literature review. For Policy Econ 120: 102288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2020.102288.
- Wernerfelt B (1984) A resource-based view of the firm. Strateg Manag J 5: 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250050207.
- Williams A, Kennedy S, Philipp F, Whiteman G (2017) Systems thinking: A review of sustainability management research. J Clean Prod 148: 866–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.002.
- Williamson OE (1981) The Economics of Organization: The Transaction Cost Approach. Am J Sociol 87: 548–577.
- Winkel G (2017a) Introduction. In: Winkel G (ed) Towards a sustainable European forestbased bioeconomy – assessment and the way forward. What Science Can Tell Us 8. European Forest Institute, Joensuu.
- Winkel, G. (Ed.) (2017b) Towards a sustainable European forest-based bioeconomy: assessment and the way forward. What Science Can Tell Us 8. European Forest Institute, Joensuu.
- Winkel G, Lovrić M, Muys B, Katila P, Lundhede T, Pecurul M, Pettenella D, Pipart N, Plieninger T, Prokofieva I, Parra C, Pülzl H, Roitsch D, Roux J-L, Thorsen BJ, Tyrväinen L, Torralba M, Vacik H, Weiss G, Wunder S (2022) Governing Europe's forests for multiple ecosystem services: Opportunities, challenges, and policy options. For Policy Econ 145: 102849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2022.102849.
- Živojinović I, Weiss G, Lidestav G, Feliciano D, Hujala T, Dobšinská Z, Lawrence A, Nybakk E, Quiroga S, Schraml U (2015) Forest Land Ownership Change in Europe. COST Action FP1201 FACESMAP Country Reports, Joint Volume. (EFICEEC-EFISEE Research Report) University of Natural Resources and Life

Sciences, Vienna (BOKU), Vienna, Austria, p 693.

https://facesmap.boku.ac.at/library/FP1201\_Country%20Reports\_Joint%20Volum e.pdf. Accessed.

Zott C, Amit R (2010) Business Model Design: An Activity System Perspective. Long Range Plann 43: 216–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2009.07.004.